Age Differences in Vestibular Processing: Neural and Behavioral Evidence

by

Fatemeh Noohibezanjani

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Kinesiology and Psychology) in the University of Michigan 2018

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Rachael Seidler, Co-Chair Professor Thad Polk, Co-Chair Assistant Professor David Brang Assistant Professor Sean Meehan Associate Professor Kathleen Sienko Associate Professor Daniel Weissman Fatemeh Noohibezanjani <u>fnoohi@umich.edu</u> ORCID iD: 0000-0002-4478-7293 © Fatemeh Noohibezanjani 2018

DEDICATION

To my parents, for teaching me to live a virtuous life.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my primary advisor, Dr. Rachael Seidler, for her constant support and encouragement throughout all these years. I am grateful that she took a chance on me and let me grow and learn in her lab. Her belief in me gave me the wings to fly and become an independent thinker and scientist. She has become a role model to me, in both life and academia. She is the best example of how to be a successful scientist, while being so modest and down to earth. She showed me how to be gentle, yet strong; and how to be a hard worker, while making time for having fun. I am forever grateful for the amazing journey that I took with her, and I look forward to many more collaborations in the future.

I would also like to thank my second advisor, Dr. Thad Polk, for going above and beyond to support me. Joining his lab has been one of the most rewarding experiences of my life. His positive attitude in mentorship and extreme dedication to educating students has inspired me to stay in academia. I'd like to specifically thank him for constantly reminding me to implement critical thinking in my interpretations, and take a step back to ask the big picture questions. I cannot express the depth of my gratitude for all the support and guidance that he has given me.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Kathleen Sienko, Dr. Daniel Weissman, Dr. Sean Meehan, and Dr. David Brang, for taking time to read my work and provide me with strong feedbacks. I'd like to thank Kathleen for accommodating me during her maternity leave, and for her insightful comments on all my PhD papers. I'd like to thank Daniel for always believing in me and my research ideas. His class was one of highlights of my time at University of Michigan, in which I learned the art of scientific discussion and outside of the box thinking. His open mindedness and passion for new ideas has been extremely encouraging, and I do appreciate it. Also, I'd like to thank Sean for his continued support since the first year of my grad school. He has been in my master and doctorate's committee and he has always brought a fresh perspective

to the table. And I'd like to thank David, for being such an amazing teacher, and reassuring me of my passion for studying perception.

I'd like to thank Dr. Cindy Lustig for the opportunity to work in her lab and learn from her. Having the chance to be involved in multiple laboratories was important in my growth as a PhD student. Her diligence and hardworking ethics made me a stronger and better scientist.

Also, I'd like to thank Dr. Bill Gehring for the amazing experience of teaching with him as a graduate student instructor. I learned a great deal from him about the correct method of learning, which will stick with me forever, since I learned it correctly. His kindness and generosity made teaching a wonderful experience for me.

I'd like to thank my friends in both kinesiology and psychology departments; Sara, Vincent, Brian, Kaitlin, Sarah, Tina, Catherine, Katherine, Molly, Dalia, Holly, Pia, and Ziyong, who made my experience of being a PhD student a joyful, memorable one.

I would like to thank my family, maman, baba, Ehsan, Narges, Soodeh, Zahra, and Ali; for their unconditional love and support. I would not be able to complete this work without them by my side. I would also like to thank my extended family in Ann Arbor, Maryam, Parisa, Hedieh, Sara, Parinaz, Payam, Nina, Niusha, Mina, Mehrzad, Hossein, Ebrahim, and Hamidreza, for making the last five years the best years of my life. For being there for me in my ups and downs, for keeping me grounded, and for always reminding me that the good old days are now.

Table of Contents

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABSTRACT	X
Chapter I	1
Introduction <i>i.</i> Vestibular System and its Contribution to Motor and Cognitive Processes <i>ii.</i> Vestibular Interaction with other Sensory Systems <i>iii.</i> Types of Vestibular Stimulation <i>iv.</i> Vestibular Network Imaging <i>v.</i> Aging and Vestibular Function <i>vi.</i> Correlation of neural and behavioral measures of vestibular function <i>vii.</i> Overview of the conducted experiments	1 2
Chapter II	27
Functional Brain Activation in Response to a Clinical Vestibular Test Correlates with Balance <i>i. Abstract</i> <i>ii. Introduction</i>	27 28 31 35 38 55 61 62
Chapter III	78
Deactivation of Somatosensory and Visual Cortices During Vestibular Stimulation is Associated wo Older Age and Poorer Balance <i>i. Abstract</i>	/ith 78 78 79 82 86 90 100
vii. Concusion	102

Chapter IV	120
Functional Connectivity in response to Vestibular Stimulation and its Relationship to Postural Control	ol 120
i. Abstract	120
ii. Introduction	121
iii. Methods	123
iv. Data analysis	125
v. Results	127
vi. Discussion	139
vii. Conclusion	142
viii. References	144
Concluding Remarks	160
Big Picture Findings	160
Limitations	162
Future directions	163
Bibliography	164

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 List of balance tasks that subjects performed on the force platform.	_ 38
Table 2.2 Latency and amplitude of oVEMP response induced by tap and tone.	_ 40
Table 2. 3 Results of activation and deactivation for left and right tap versus rest.	_ 42
Table 2. 4 Results of activation and deactivation for left, right, and both sides tone stimulation	1
versus rest	_ 44
Table 2. 5 Conjunction results for commonly activated regions by tap and tone stimuli.	_ 46
Table 2. 6 Results of correlations between tap-induced brain activity and ellipse area.	_ 48
Table 2. 7 Results of correlations between tone-induced brain activity and ellipse area.	_ 50
Table 2. 8 Results of correlations between tone-induced brain activity and balance time.	_ 51
Table 2.9 Results of comparison between left and right side brain activity elicited by tap and	
tone stimuli	_ 53
Table 3.1 The simple regression results of activated regions with significant negative correlat	ion
with age	_ 94
Table 3. 2 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive	
correlation with age	_ 95
Table 3.3 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive	
correlation with performance	_ 96
Table 3.4 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant negative	
correlation with performance	_ 98
Table 3.5 The multiple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive	
correlation with age and performance.	_ 99
Table 4. 1 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during rest with performance in a) normal	
stance and Romberg (low difficulty tasks) and b) Single Leg Stance and Romberg on Foam (h	iigh
difficulty tasks)	133
Table 4. 2 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during stimulation with performance in a)	
normal stance and Romberg (low difficulty tasks) and b) Single Leg Stance and Romberg on	
Foam (high difficulty tasks).	137
Table 4.3 The difference in association of performance with functional connectivity from rest stimulation. The z values represent the difference in correlation coefficients of rest and	t to
stimulation.	138
~	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2. 1 An example of ellipse area	39
Figure 2. 2 An example of tap-induced (A) and tone-induced (B) oVEMPs for one subject.	41
Figure 2. 3 Map of brain activation and deactivation for left (a: Left tap > rest (yellow); Left ta	ıp
< rest (blue)) and right (b: Right tap > rest (yellow); Right tap < rest (blue)) taps.	43
Figure 2. 4 Map of brain activation and deactivation for left (a: Left tone > rest (yellow); Left	
tone < rest (N.S)), right (b: Right tone > rest (N.S); Right tone < rest (blue)), and both sides (c:	:
Both side tone > rest (yellow); Both side tone < rest (blue)) tone stimulation.	45
Figure 2.5 Map of brain regions commonly activated by left tap and left tone stimuli (a), right	
tap and right tone stimuli (b), left tap and right tone stimuli (c) and right tap and left tone stimu	ıli
(d)	47
Figure 2. 6 Map of correlation between ellipse area and brain activity induced by left tap	49
Figure 2.7 Map of correlation between ellipse area and brain activity induced by left and right	;
tone.	50
Figure 2.8 Map of correlation between balance time and brain activity induced by left tone	
stimulation.	52
Figure 2. 9 Map of comparison between brain activity elicited by right versus left side tone	54
Figure 3 1 Performance of young and older adults in four balance tasks with different degrees	of
difficulty.	91
Figure 3. 2 Performance of young and older adults in series of gait assessment tasks (MDGI).	92
Figure 3. 3 Performance of young and older adults in TUG and TUG-manual tasks.	92
Figure 3. 4 The parietal operculum cortex exhibited a negative association with age in the pool	led
young and older adults group.	94
Figure 3.5 The intracalcarine cortex and temporal pole exhibited a positive association betwee	en
age and deactivation level in the pooled young and older adults group.	95
Figure 3. 6 Regardless of age, greater deactivation of the postcentral gyrus and temporal pole	
was associated with poorer balance.	96
Figure 3.7 The brainstem and cerebellar lobule VI and Crus I exhibited a negative association	
between deactivation levels and balance performance in single leg stance (indicated by area of	•
ellipse)	97
Figure 3.8 The deactivation of postcentral gyrus, intracalcarine cortex, and temporal pole was	
positively correlated with age and balance performance in normal stance (indicated by area of	
ellipse)	99

Figure 4. 1 The resting state functional connectivity of vestibular cortex (no significant main effects of age or ROI)._______128

Figure 4. 2 Functional connectivity of vestibular cortex during vestibular stimulation (no	
significant main effects of age or ROI).	129
Figure 4.3 Functional connectivity of vestibular cortex during rest and tap stimulation, for a)	
young and b) older adults (significant main effects of age, condition, and age by condition by	
ROI interaction).	130
Figure 4. 4 An example of timecourse extracted from vestibular cortex ROI for a) whole run a	ind
b) second half of the run	131
Figure 4. 5. Correlation of vestibular connectivity during rest with performance in a) normal	
stance, b) Romberg, c) Single Leg Stance, and d) Romberg on Foam tasks.	132
Figure 4. 6 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during stimulation with performance in a)	
normal stance, b) Romberg, c) Single Leg Stance, and d) Romberg on Foam tasks.	135

ABSTRACT

The vestibular system is well known for its role in balance, but its mechanisms of action in this role are not well understood. My dissertation aims to provide a better understanding of vestibular brain function, its correlation with postural control, and its alteration with advancing age. This is an important topic considering that falls are the current leading cause of injuries in older adults in the U.S., and they have negative consequences on wellbeing and independence.

In this dissertation, I first review the conventional methods for studying vestibular function in the human brain, and I evaluate a novel MRI-compatible method, which relies on a pneumatic tapper. This approach successfully induces vestibular responses, while preventing the aversive effects of stimulation that are common in other approaches. Next, I assess age differences in brain responses to pneumatic vestibular stimulation, and find that older adults demonstrate less sensitivity to stimulation. Also, those with better postural control exhibit less deactivation of cross-modal sensory regions (e.g. visual and somatosensory cortices). This greater engagement of non-vestibular sensory regions in older adults with better balance could be a mechanism to compensate for inefficient vestibular processing. Consistent with this hypothesis, the relationship between postural control and deactivation of sensory regions was only evident in tasks of low difficulty (i.e. normal stance) in which compensatory neural recruitment might be most effective.

After assessing the brain responses to vestibular stimulation in terms of activation and deactivation, I examine connectivity of the vestibular cortex with other regions. This last experiment demonstrates that vestibular cortex connectivity increases in response to vestibular stimulation, and young adults exhibit greater connectivity relative to older adults. Also, connectivity predicts postural stability in high difficulty tasks for young adults, and in low difficulty tasks for older adults. Better balance in young adults is associated with less vestibular connectivity (i.e. they engaged vestibular cortex more selectively), whereas better balance in

older adults is associated with higher connectivity (i.e. more recruitment of other sensory regions). These findings reinforce the conclusions from the second experiment, and provide more evidence in support of the compensation related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (CRUNCH) of neural processing in older adults.

Chapter I

Introduction

i. Vestibular System and its Contribution to Motor and Cognitive Processes

The vestibular system is best known for its role in postural control and balance. The vestibular organs embedded in the inner ear detect the orientation of the head with respect to a gravitational vector as well as linear and angular head accelerations. Awareness of body position in space is essential for spatial navigation and differentiation between active and passive movements. Detection of head motion and translation of this information into compensatory eye movements is the basis of the vestibulo-ocular reflex, which is necessary for stabilizing visual inputs on the retina during movement (Jay M. Goldberg et al., 2012).

Vestibular system functions are not limited to postural control. As Bolmont et al. (Bolmont, Gangloff, Vouriot, & Perrin, 2002) demonstrated, individuals' balance correlates with their cognitive status. Gurvich et al. (Gurvich, Maller, Lithgow, Haghgooie, & Kulkarni, 2013) and Mast et al. (Mast, Preuss, Hartmann, & Grabherr, 2014) published reviews on the growing body of literature on the role of the vestibular system in cognition, mental imagery, sensation of pain, and mood control. Other studies have also shown the effects of caloric vestibular stimulation (CVS) and galvanic vestibular stimulation (GVS) on body representation and hemineglect (potentially via restoration of egocentric representations) (Cappa et al. 1987, Vallar et al. 1995, Ferrè et al. 2013; Lopez et al. 2012; Ronchi et al. 2012). Studies on patients with vestibular dysfunction have also documented performance declines in tasks of spatial memory, egocentric mental rotation, navigation, visual construction, and motor speed (Smith & Darlington, 2013; Smith & Zheng, 2013). This emerging body of literature suggests that vestibular function is

broader than originally thought. These findings point to several unexplored territories of vestibular function yet to be discovered. Therefore, in this dissertation I attempt to add to our current knowledge of this complex system by assessing the neural correlates of vestibular processing in relation to age and behavior.

ii. Vestibular Interaction with other Sensory Systems

The successful integration of multiple sensory inputs is essential for postural stability. Visual, auditory, tactile and other proprioceptive information integrates with vestibular signals through a dynamic weighting process. In this process, the sensory modalities are thought to be weighted based on their precision. Van Beers et al. (Van Beers & Gon., 1999) showed that the central nervous system (CNS) weighs the more precise input more heavily, through experience and instant evaluation of sensory signals. They further discussed the underlying mechanisms of multisensory integration, stating that the CNS does not perform an actual probability calculation. Rather, it weights sensory inputs to maximize the signal to noise ratio to produce the least amount of error in perception and action. As Vidal et al. (Vidal PP, Berthoz A, 1982) showed, the CNS integrates all available sensory inputs (even if they are unreliable), but through experience the weighting of these inputs becomes more accurate.

Previously it was suggested that multisensory signals integrate in a hierarchical fashion, meaning that single sensory modalities are processed in specific brain regions and multi modal processing occurs in associative cortical regions (Jones, 1970); however, recent evidence from neuroimaging studies suggests that multisensory convergence can occur in regions known to be involved in primary sensory processing (Macaluso, 2006). For example, occipital cortex can be involved in processing of non-visual signals (e.g. tactile orientation recognition), if visual and non-visual stimuli are presented to the same hemisphere.

Although these findings suggest non-specificity of cortical regions involved in multisensory processing, a few main "integration sites" that contribute greatly to multisensory processing have been identified. In particular, evidence suggests that the right temporoparietal junction (TPJ) is an integration site that regulates the coherent sense of body ownership (Tsakiris, Costantini, &

Haggard, 2008). Many studies have provided support that the TPJ, PIVC, intraparietal cortex, and posterior insula form a vestibular processing network (Cullen, 2012; Dieterich and Brandt, 2008; Eickhoff et al., 2010, 2006; Fasold et al., 2002; Guldin and Grüsser, 1998; Karim et al., 2013; Kirsch et al., 2016; Lobel et al., 1998; Lopez et al., 2012; Lopez and Blanke, 2011; Miyamoto et al., 2007; Schlindwein et al., 2008; Suzuki et al., 2001; zu Eulenburg et al., 2012). Also, Ferrè et al. (Ferrè et al., 2013) reported that vestibular inputs selectively regulated the perception of other sensory modalities (e.g. increasing the threshold for touch sensation and vice versa for pain).

In sum, the literature has provided extensive reports on the interaction of different sensory modalities with vestibular signals; however, how these interactions relate to balance is less understood. In this dissertation, I study how vestibular cortex and other sensory regions respond to vestibular stimulation, and whether their connectivity correlates with quantitative behavioral metrics (i.e. body sway).

iii. Types of Vestibular Stimulation

Studies in humans have used different modes of stimulation to evoke vestibular responses. Here, I discuss the five main types of vestibular stimulation commonly used in clinical and basic science research, and explain which one I will use in my experiments:

• Caloric Vestibular Stimulation (CVS): caloric stimulation comprises the irrigation of cold or warm water into the ear that alters the air temperature within the middle ear canal (Marcelli et al., 2009; M. Suzuki et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2008). Vestibular nystagmus is the vestibular ocular response (VOR) to this stimulation, which stabilizes the visual inputs on the retina during the perceived head movement. One limitation of caloric stimulation is that the evoked vestibular *cortical* activity varies based on the side and temperature of the irrigation (i.e. warm water induced bilateral brain activity, whereas cool water induced a contralateral response, (Karim et al. 2013)). Moreover, caloric stimulation is rather unpleasant for subjects.

- Auditory Tone Bursts/ Auditory Clicks: another common method of vestibular stimulation is high decibel auditory tone bursts, which delivers high decibel clicks that stimulate the otolith organs (mainly the saccule) (Colebatch, Halmagyi, & Skuse, 1994; Schlindwein et al., 2008). This method is also commonly used to induce vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (VEMP) (Ferber-Viart, Dubreuil, & Duclaux, 1999) as a test of vestibular function (Brantberg & Fransson, 2001). The tone burst stimulation method can also be irritating and uncomfortable for subjects due to the high decibel sound required to elicit vestibular responses.
- Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS): in this method, electric current is used to stimulate the vestibular nerve via electrodes placed over the mastoid bones (Elie Lobel et al., 1998; Wuehr et al., 2016; Yamamoto, Struzik, Soma, Ohashi, & Kwak, 2005). The amplitude and frequency of the GVS is altered to either increase or decrease the signal to noise ratio (enhance or perturb the vestibular function). GVS activates the vestibular nerve (semicircular canals and otolith), whereas CVS only activates the horizontal semicircular canals (Day, Ramsay, Welgampola, & Fitzpatrick, 2011; M. Dieterich, 2003; Stephan et al., 2005). If used supra-threshold, GVS can induce nausea and motion sickness in subjects.
- Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is another form of electrical stimulation that has been used to modify vestibular cortical excitability, providing another window into vestibular function. Arshad et al. (Arshad et al., 2014) used bilateral tDCS of parietal cortex to modulate the CVS-induced vestibular ocular response, and showed that tDCS interrupts the parietal inter-hemispheric balance, causing asymmetric vestibular responses. Kyriakareli et al. (Kyriakareli, Cousins, Pettorossi, & Bronstein, 2013) also used bilateral tDCS of the temporoparietal junction to lower the threshold for vestibular ocular responses and self-motion perception. Moreover, Inukai et al. (Inukai et al., 2016) showed that cathodal tDCS over the vestibular cerebellum reduced the amount of body sway in healthy young adults. Compared to CVS and auditory tone burst methods, using the electrical current is less irritating for subjects.

Bone Conduction (vibration): bone conduction has been recently introduced as a method of vestibular stimulation (Krister Brantberg, Westin, Löfqvist, Verrecchia, & Tribukait, 2009). The induction of low-level vibration in the skull is transmitted via bone conduction to vestibular receptors in the inner ear, resulting in stimulation of vestibular receptors. Wackym et al. (Wackym et al., 2012) compared the conventional auditory click/tone burst stimuli with a bone conduction striker system for their ability to elicit vestibular responses. They evaluated VEMP responses, and reported that VEMPs elicited by the bone conduction method were faster and more comfortable for healthy subjects. Also, they found more consistent ocular VEMPs (i.e. recorded from the muscle underneath the eye) elicited by bone conduction stimulation compared to the auditory tone bursts. Curthoys et al. (Curthoys et al. 2009) provided a review of animal and human studies in which they showed that the VEMP characteristics (i.e. n10 component of ocular VEMP) in response to bone conduction stimulation reflect otolithic (mainly utricle) function, rather than semicircular canal function. They suggested that even low amplitude bone-conducted vibration triggers the utricular receptors through a shear wave mechanism that transfers the vibration in the skull (Curthoys et al. 2006a). Brantberg et al. (Krister Brantberg et al., 2009) further supported these findings, showing that lateral bone conducted vibrations induced VEMP responses through vibration and translation mechanisms. Compared to other vestibular stimulation methods discussed above, the bone tapping method is the most comfortable from the subjects' perspective.

In the first experiment of this dissertation, I demonstrate the effectiveness of the bone conduction method in an fMRI setting. This is a novel approach since the previously used methods in the fMRI setting mainly elicit saccule responses –auditory short tone bursts (Schlindwein et al., 2008), or the horizontal semicircular canals --CVS (Fasold et al., 2002), or the entire vestibular nerve –GVS (Stephan et al., 2005). Therefore, the vestibular imaging field can benefit from using this method to better understand the *utricle's* contribution to vestibular neural processing. I use the bone tap method of vestibular stimulation in all of the experiments of this dissertation.

iv. Vestibular Network Imaging

A recent meta-analysis by zu Eulenburg et al. (zu Eulenburg et al., 2012) showed that across 28 neuroimaging studies using different modes of vestibular stimulation, the *parietal opercular* area OP2 showed the most overlapping activation. However, many other regions were also found to be involved in vestibular processing, including inferior parietal cortex, superior temporal gyrus, middle frontal lobe, posterior cingulate, thalamus, cerebellum, and other regions. In another meta-analysis, Lopez et al. (Lopez, Blanke, & Mast, 2012) evaluated 16 neuroimaging studies that used CVS, GVS, or auditory tone burst stimulation. Among 352 foci of activation reported in these studies, only the *retroinsular cortex* was commonly activated by all three stimulation modes. They also found parietal operculum, posterior insula, superior temporal gyrus, sylvian fissure, and cingulate cortex as converging sites for vestibular signals elicited by different stimulation types. In addition to PET and fMRI studies, a few studies have used fNIRS to assess vestibular cortex activity during balance and postural control (Karim et al. 2012) and in response to caloric stimulation (Karim et al. 2013). The *temporal-parietal cortex* was also the main activated region in these studies, matching the results obtained with vestibular stimulation when participants were supine.

In this dissertation, I use functional MRI to assess vestibular function, since it has been shown to successfully detect the brain regions involved in vestibular processing.

v. Aging and Vestibular Function

Similar to other sensory modalities, vestibular function exhibits declines with healthy aging. In a longitudinal study of healthy older adults, Baloh et al. (Baloh, Enrietto, Jacobson, & Lin, 2001) found a significant decline in vestibular function (indicated by changes in VOR) over five years. However, this decline was not associated with changes in balance or postural stability. Peripheral sensation (i.e. proprioception) and in particular the sensation of vibration in the legs has been shown to have a strong correlation with body sway in older adults (Brocklehurst, Robertson, & James-Groom, 1982), and among other age groups (Lord & Ward, 1994). After age 65, reliance on visual inputs for postural control declines and efficient peripheral sensation becomes the most important contributing factor to balance control (Lord & Ward, 1994). However, in a challenging situation with poor visual and peripheral sensation (i.e. standing on an uneven surface in a dark

room) vestibular function serves as the main source of equilibrium (Lord & Ward, 1994). Other studies have reported that healthy older adults and patients with vestibular loss exhibit similar reliance on visual inputs and difficulties with sensory reweighting (Barrett et al., 2013; Jeka, Allison, & Kiemel, 2010). Cousins et al. (Cousins et al., 2014) showed that patients with vestibular neuritis rely heavily on visual inputs, which leads to poor behavioral outcomes.

Age-related vestibular declines have also been studied in patient populations: following cochlear implant surgery, older adults are at higher risk of loss of caloric responses (22% chance) compared to young adults (3% chance), which can indicate poorer vestibular plasticity in post-operative recovery (Enticott, Tari, Koh, Dowell, & Leary, 2006). Despite general declines with aging, Allison et al. (Allison, Kiemel, & Jeka, 2006) showed that the multisensory integration and reweighting dynamics of visual and tactile stimuli in older adults with sufficient peripheral sensation are similar to those of young adults (possibly due to higher reliance on somatosensory cues).

The literature seems to be mixed on whether there are age differences in vestibular function and its relative weight compared to other sensory inputs in healthy aging. According to the compensation-related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (CRUNCH) (Patricia A. Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008), one would predict that age-related declines in vestibular function and deterioration of vestibular anatomical structures result in patterns of over and under activation, which can be interpreted according to behavior. In particular, CRUNCH predicts that for relatively easy tasks, older adults compensate for their impaired postural stability by recruiting more brain regions and overactivating the regions they recruit. But as task difficulty increases, the ceiling for neural compensation is reached and patterns of under-activation and poor balance become more evident. To the best of my knowledge, CRUNCH has not been tested in relation to vestibular processing and balance control.

In this dissertation, I compare vestibular brain activity and connectivity in young and older adults, to determine the extent to which vestibular neural responses change with age, and how these changes correlate with behavioral metrics of vestibular function. I use a battery of balance assessments to compare the performance when different sensory inputs are compromised (i.e. different levels of difficulty in balance control).

vi. Correlation of neural and behavioral measures of vestibular function

Many studies in healthy individuals and patient populations have documented correlations between neural and behavioral measures of vestibular function. For example, galvanic vestibular stimulation has been used to modulate the activity of vestibular cortex to either enhance or perturb postural stability (Bent, McFadyen, & Inglis, 2002; Mulavara et al., 2015; Pal, ..., & 2009, n.d.; Peterka, 2012; Scinicariello, Eaton, Inglis, & Collins, 2001; Yamamoto et al., 2005). Reduced postural stability and increased fall risk among older adults has been associated with more body sway (Bird, Pittaway, Cuisick, Rattray, & Ahuja, 2013; Melzer, Benjuya, & Kaplanski, 2004), less muscle strength (Moreland, Richardson, Goldsmith, & Clase, 2004; Wolfson, Judge, Whipple, & King, 1995), and inefficient muscle recruitment strategies (i.e. excessive co-contraction) (Benjuya, Melzer, & Kaplanski, 2004; Nelson-Wong et al., 2012), but the neural mechanisms involved in such abnormal behavioral patterns are not well understood. The muscle co-contraction in patient population has been linked to atypical recruitment of different brain regions (i.e. patterns of over and under activation relative to healthy individuals) (Ceballos-Baumann et al., 1995; Pujol et al., 2000). Therefore, one might speculate that inefficient neural processing, and in particular dedifferentiation of neural recruitment in older adults (J. a Bernard & Seidler, 2012; Carp, Park, Hebrank, Park, & Polk, 2011) may associate with poorer specificity of muscle recruitment. On the other hand, the co- contraction of ankle muscles has also shown to work as a strategy to increase stability via increased stiffness (Seidler-Dobrin, He, & Stelmach, 1998). The compensation-related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (CRUNCH) (Patricia A. Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008) could potentially explain the neural mechanisms underlying these compensatory muscle activations in elderly.

In this dissertation I investigate age differences in brain responses to vestibular stimulation to identify regions that older adults over- or underactivate, compared to young adults. This could identify targets for non-invasive brain stimulation to enhance balance control. Using a battery of balance assessments that have been shown to be reliable and sensitive predictors of falls (Bloem,

Grimbergen, Cramer, Willemsen, & Zwinderman, 2001; Franchignoni, Tesio, Martino, & Ricupero, 1998; Mancini & Horak, 2010), I assess brain-behavior correlations for vestibular processing with respect to age. This is of special importance for older adults who cannot benefit from conventional balance training methods to improve muscle strength and postural sway.

vii. Overview of the conducted experiments

In this dissertation, I conducted three experiments to examine vestibular brain responses, differences with age, and associations with postural control:

In experiment one, I validated a new method for stimulating the vestibular cortex inside the MRI scanner. The conventional approaches do not successfully stimulate the utricle, and induce aversive responses due to subjects' discomfort. I also investigated the correlation between postural control and vestibular brain function. My hypothesis was that the pneumatic bone conduction method would activate the canonical vestibular cortex, as it has been successful in inducing the behavioral VEMP response in previous studies. Also, I hypothesized that higher activation of vestibular cortex would reflect greater sensitivity to the stimulus, and would correlate with better postural control.

In my second experiment, I investigated age differences in vestibular brain function, and how they correlate with postural control. Using the vestibular stimulation method of experiment one, I compared neural activation in young vs. older adults. A correlation analysis between measures of postural control and vestibular brain responses sheds light on the extent to which older adults rely on vestibular activation. Based on previous reports in the literature, I hypothesized that young adults would exhibit greater response in canonical vestibular cortex relative to older adults, and the pattern of this activity would be less distinctive in older adults. I expected dedifferentiation of neural patterns, and more recruitment of non-vestibular regions in older adults. Also, I expected that better postural control would be correlated with greater magnitude and more distinctive patterns of vestibular cortex activity, regardless of age. In the final experiment, I examined age differences in resting state and task-based functional connectivity of the brain regions identified in the second experiment. Moreover, in this experiment I examined the correlation between balance control and vestibular network connectivity strength. I calculated connectivity based on the correlation of average time series between two regions. I hypothesized that young adults would exhibit greater vestibular connectivity relative to older adults, due to being more sensitive to the vestibular stimulation. I also predicted that vestibular connectivity would decrease from resting state to stimulation since vestibular cortex would respond differently to the stimulation than other regions (i.e. less synchronous time series during stimulation). Further, I expected better postural control to be correlated with connectivity patterns, with higher connectivity during rest and lower connectivity during stimulation predicting better balance. Such findings would be consistent with the hypothesis that greater neural specificity in response to stimulation correlates with better balance, especially in balance tasks with the highest reliance on vestibular inputs.

The findings of these three experiments provide neural and behavioral evidence to further expand our knowledge of the aging vestibular system.

viii. References

- Akin, F. W., Murnane, O. D., & Proffitt, T. M. (2003). The Effects of Click and Tone-Burst Stimulus Parameters on the Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potential (VEMP). *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 14(9), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.14.9.5
- Allen, D., Ribeiro, L., Arshad, Q., & Seemungal, B. M. (2016). Age-Related Vestibular Loss: Current Understanding and Future Research Directions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00231
- Allison, L. K., Kiemel, T., & Jeka, J. J. (2006). Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 342– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0559-7
- Angelaki, D. E., & Perachio, A. A. (1993). Contribution of irregular semicircular canal afferents to the horizontal vestibuloocular response during constant velocity rotation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3).
- Anson, E., Bigelow, R. T., Swenor, B., Deshpande, N., Studenski, S., Jeka, J. J., & Agrawal, Y. (2017). Loss of Peripheral Sensory Function Explains Much of the Increase in Postural Sway in Healthy Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 202. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00202
- Arshad, Q., Nigmatullina, Y., Roberts, R. E., Bhrugubanda, V., Asavarut, P., & Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Left cathodal trans-cranial direct current stimulation of the parietal cortex leads to an asymmetrical modulation of the vestibular-ocular reflex. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.002
- Baloh, R. W., Enrietto, J., Jacobson, K. M., & Lin, A. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Vestibular Function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Bao, T., Carender, W. J., Kinnaird, C., Barone, V. J., Peethambaran, G., Whitney, S. L., ... Sienko, K. H. (2018). Effects of long-term balance training with vibrotactile sensory augmentation among community-dwelling healthy older adults: a randomized preliminary study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 15(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-017-0339-6
- Barrett, M. M., Kenny, R. A., Maguinness, C., Setti, A., Doheny, E. P., Foran, T. G., & Newell, F. N. (2013). Reduced Vision Selectively Impairs Spatial Updating in Fall-prone Older Adults. *Multisensory Research*, 26(1–2), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1163/22134808-00002412
- Benjuya, N., Melzer, I., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(2), 166–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14999032
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (n.d.). Multisensory Cortical Signal Increases and Decreases During Vestibular Galvanic Stimulation (fMRI). Retrieved from https://www.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.2001.85.2.886
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2001). Multisensory cortical signal increases and decreases during vestibular galvanic stimulation (fMRI). J *Neurophysiol*, 85(2), 886–899. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160520

Bent, L. R., McFadyen, B. J., & Inglis, J. T. (2002). Visual-vestibular interactions in postural

control during the execution of a dynamic task. *Experimental Brain Research*, *146*(4), 490–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1204-8

- Bernard, J. A., Peltier, S. J., Wiggins, J. L., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Fling, B. W., ... Seidler, R. D. (2013). Disrupted cortico-cerebellar connectivity in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 83, 103–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.042
- Bernard, J. a, & Seidler, R. D. (2012). Evidence for motor cortex dedifferentiation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1890–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.021
- Bigelow, R. T., & Agrawal, Y. (2015, June 2). Vestibular involvement in cognition: Visuospatial ability, attention, executive function, and memory. *Journal of Vestibular Research*. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150544
- Bird, M.-L., Pittaway, J. K., Cuisick, I., Rattray, M., & Ahuja, K. D. K. (2013). Age-related changes in physical fall risk factors: results from a 3 year follow-up of community dwelling older adults in Tasmania, Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5989–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115989
- Bloem, B. R., Grimbergen, Y. A. M., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2001). Prospective assessment of falls in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(11), 950– 958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170047
- Bolmont, B., Gangloff, P., Vouriot, A., & Perrin, P. P. (2002). Mood states and anxiety influence abilities to maintain balance control in healthy human subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00578-5
- Bottini, G., Karnath, H. O., Vallar, G., Sterzi, R., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Paulesu, E. (2001). Cerebral representations for egocentric space: Functional-anatomical evidence from caloric vestibular stimulation and neck vibration. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *124*(Pt 6), 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.6.1182
- Brandt, T., Bartenstein, P., Janek, A., & Dieterich, M. (1998). Reciprocal inhibitory visualvestibular interaction. Visual motion stimulation deactivates the parieto-insular vestibular cortex. *Brain*, 121(9), 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1749
- Brandt, T., Schautzer, F., Hamilton, D. A., Brüning, R., Markowitsch, H. J., Kalla, R., ... Strupp, M. (2005). Vestibular loss causes hippocampal atrophy and impaired spatial memory in humans. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *128*(Pt 11), 2732–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh617
- Brantberg, K., & Fransson, P. a. (2001). Symmetry measures of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials using objective detection criteria. *Scandinavian Audiology*, *30*(3), 189–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/010503901316914566
- Brantberg, K., & Tribukait, A. (2002). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to laterally directed skull taps. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 12(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12515890
- Brantberg, K., Westin, M., Löfqvist, L., Verrecchia, L., & Tribukait, A. (2009). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to lateral skull taps are dependent on two different mechanisms. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(5), 974–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.03.008
- Brocklehurst, J. C., Robertson, D., & James-Groom, P. (1982). Clinical correlates of sway in old age-sensory modalities. *Age and Ageing*, 1–10.
- Brooks, J. X., Carriot, J., & Cullen, K. E. (2015). Learning to expect the unexpected: rapid updating in primate cerebellum during voluntary self-motion. *Nat Neurosci*, *18*(9), 1310–

1317. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.4077

- BSPMVIEW | bspmview. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://www.bobspunt.com/bspmview/
- Bürki, C. N., Bridenbaugh, S. A., Reinhardt, J., Stippich, C., Kressig, R. W., & Blatow, M. (2017). Imaging gait analysis: An fMRI dual task study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.724
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1394–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414279
- Cai, J., Lee, S., Ba, F., Garg, S., Kim, L. J., Liu, A., ... McKeown, M. J. (2018). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS) Augments Deficient Pedunculopontine Nucleus (PPN) Connectivity in Mild Parkinson's Disease: fMRI Effects of Different Stimuli. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00101
- Callan, D. E., Falcone, B., Wada, A., & Parasuraman, R. (2016). Simultaneous tDCS-fMRI Identifies Resting State Networks Correlated with Visual Search Enhancement. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00072
- Capps, M. J., Preciado, M. C., Paparella, M. M., & Hoppe, W. E. (1973). Capps_et_al-1973-The_Laryngoscope (1).pdf. *The Laryngoscope*.
- Carp, J., Gmeindl, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2010). Age differences in the neural representation of working memory revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(217), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00217
- Carp, J., Park, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2011). Age-related neural dedifferentiation in the motor system. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029411
- Carp, J., Park, J., Polk, T. A., & Park, D. C. (2011). Age differences in neural distinctiveness revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, *56*(2), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.267
- Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Passingham, R. E., Warner, T., Playford, E. D., Marsden, C. D., & Brooks, D. J. (1995). Overactive prefrontal and underactive motor cortical areas in idiopathic dystonia. *Annals of Neurology*, *37*(3), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410370313
- Center for Didease Control & Prevention. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html
- Chen, G., Taylor, P. A., & Cox, R. W. (2016). Is the Statistic Value All We Should Care about in Neuroimaging? *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/064212
- Chihara, Y., Iwasaki, S., Ushio, M., Fujimoto, C., Kashio, A., Kondo, K., ... Murofushi, T. (2009). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (oVEMPs) require extraocular muscles but not facial or cochlear nerve activity. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(3), 581–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.12.030
- Chun-Ju Chang, C.-J., Yu-Shin Chang, Y.-S., & Sai-Wei Yang, S.-W. (2013). Using single leg standing time to predict the fall risk in elderly. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (Vol. 2013, pp. 7456–7458). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6611282
- Colebatch, J. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Skuse, N. F. (1994). Myogenic potentials generated by a click-evoked vestibulocollic reflex. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*,

190-197.

- Cornell, E. D., Burgess, A. M., MacDougall, H. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2009). Vertical and horizontal eye movement responses to unilateral and bilateral bone conducted vibration to the mastoid. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, *19*(1,2), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-2009-0338
- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are Older Adults Less Embodied? A Review of Age Effects through the Lens of Embodied Cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cousins, S., Cutfield, N. J., Kaski, D., Palla, A., Seemungal, B. M., Golding, J. F., ... Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Visual dependency and dizziness after vestibular neuritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105426
- Cullen, K. E. (2012). The vestibular system: Multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *35*(3), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.12.001
- Cummiford, C. M., Nascimento, T. D., Foerster, B. R., Clauw, D. J., Zubieta, J.-K., Harris, R. E., & DaSilva, A. F. (2016). Changes in resting state functional connectivity after repetitive transcranial direct current stimulation applied to motor cortex in fibromyalgia patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, *18*(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0934-0
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006a). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, *175*(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006b). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, *175*(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Manzari, L., Smulders, Y. E., & Burgess, A. M. (2009). A review of the scientific basis and practical application of a new test of utricular function--ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials to bone-conducted vibration. Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale, 29(4), 179–86. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2816364&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., Burgess, A. M., Cornell, E. D., Mezey, L. E., Macdougall, H. G., ... Mcgarvie, L. A. (2011). The basis for using bone-conducted vibration or air-conducted sound to test otolithic function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1233(1), 231– 241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06147.x
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., & Manzari, L. (2012). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) to test utricular function: neural and oculomotor evidence. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 32(1), 41–5. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC3324959/?report=abstract
- Cyran, C. A. M., Boegle, R., Stephan, T., Dieterich, M., & Glasauer, S. (2016). Age-related decline in functional connectivity of the vestibular cortical network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1443–1463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0983-6
- Day, B. L., Ramsay, E., Welgampola, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, R. C. (2011). The human semicircular canal model of galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3–4), 561–568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2565-7

- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002a). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002b). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030

Diedrichsen, J. (2006). A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, 33(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056

- Diedrichsen, J., Balsters, J. H., Flavell, J., Cussans, E., & Ramnani, N. (2009). A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, *46*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045
- Diedrichsen, J., Maderwald, S., Küper, M., Thürling, M., Rabe, K., Gizewski, E. R., ... Timmann, D. (2011). Imaging the deep cerebellar nuclei: a probabilistic atlas and normalization procedure. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1786–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.035
- Diedrichsen, J., & Zotow, E. (2015). Surface-Based Display of Volume-Averaged Cerebellar Imaging Data. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Diener, H.-C., & Dichgans, J. (1988). Vestibulospinal Control of Posture and Locomotion. Progress in Brain Research (Vol. 76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)64512-4
- Dieterich, M. (2003). Dominance for Vestibular Cortical Function in the Non-dominant Hemisphere. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.9.994
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. *Brain*, *131*(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *J Neurosci*, 30(18), 6409–6421. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R., & Zilles, K. (2006). Identifying human parieto-insular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27(7), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20205
- Eldaief, M. C., Halko, M. A., Buckner, R. L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Transcranial magnetic stimulation modulates the brain's intrinsic activity in a frequency-dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(52), 21229–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113103109
- Emri, M., Kisely, M., Lengyel, Z., Balkay, L., Márián, T., Mikó, L., ... Tóth, A. (2003). Cortical projection of peripheral vestibular signaling. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(5), 2639– 2646. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00599.2002
- Enticott, J. C., Tari, S., Koh, S. M., Dowell, R. C., & Leary, S. J. O. (2006). Cochlear Implant and Vestibular Function, (3), 824–830.
- Ertl, M., Kirsch, V., Gerb, J., Boegle, R., Krafczyk, S., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Appraisal of the signal-to-noise-ratio of uni- and bipolar recordings of ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 25(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150545
- Eyler, L. T., Sherzai, A., Kaup, A. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2011). A review of functional brain imaging correlates of successful cognitive aging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(2), 115–122.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.032

- Fasold, O., von Brevern, M., Kuhberg, M., Ploner, C. J., Villringer, A., Lempert, T., & Wenzel, R. (2002). Human Vestibular Cortex as Identified with Caloric Stimulation in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 17(3), 1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1241
- Ferber-Viart, C., Dubreuil, C., & Duclaux, R. (1999). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in humans: a review. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*.
- Ferrè, E. R., Day, B. L., Bottini, G., & Haggard, P. (2013). How the vestibular system interacts with somatosensory perception: A sham-controlled study with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 550, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.06.046
- Fife, T. D., Tusa, R. J., Furman, J. M., Zee, D. S., Frohman, E., Baloh, R. W., ... Eviatar, L. (2000). Assessment: Vestibular testing techniques in adults and children. *Neurology*, 55, 1431–1441.
- Franchignoni, F., Tesio, L., Martino, M. T., & Ricupero, C. (1998). Reliability of four simple, quantitative tests of balance and mobility in healthy elderly females. *Aging (Milan, Italy)*, 10(1), 26–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9589748
- Frank, S. M., & Greenlee, M. W. (2014). An MRI-compatible caloric stimulation device for the investigation of human vestibular cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 235, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.07.008
- FreeSurferMethodsCitation Free Surfer Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/fswiki/FreeSurferMethodsCitation
- Friston, K. J., Ashburner, J., Frith, C. D., Poline, J.-B., Heather, J. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (1995). Spatial registration and normalization of images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 3(3), 165– 189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460030303
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Price, C. J., Büchel, C., & Worsley, K. J. (1999). Multisubject fMRI studies and conjunction analyses. *NeuroImage*, 10(4), 385–96. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0484
- Furman, J. M., & Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of aging on the otolith-ocular reflex. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Gentine, A., Eichhorn, J.-L., Kopp, C., & Conraux, C. (1990). Modelling the action of caloric stimulation of the vestibule: *I. The Hydrostatic Model. Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *110*(5–6), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489009107451
- Glover, G. H., Li, T. Q., & Ress, D. (2000). Image-based method for retrospective correction of physiological motion effects in fMRI: RETROICOR. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(1), 162–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893535
- Goble, D. J., Coxon, J. P., Van Impe, a., Geurts, M., Doumas, M., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2011). Brain Activity during Ankle Proprioceptive Stimulation Predicts Balance Performance in Young and Older Adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(45), 16344–16352. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4159-11.2011
- Goldberg, J. M., Smith, C. E., & Fernandez, C. (1984). Relation between discharge regularity and responses to externally applied galvanic currents in vestibular nerve afferents of the squirrel monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *51*(6).
- Goldberg, J. M., Wilson, V. J., Cullen, K. E., Angelaki, D. E., Broussard, D. M., Buttner-Ennever, J., ... Minor, L. B. (2012). *The Vestibular System: A Sixth Sense*. Oxford University Press.
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Wang, L. E., Dafotakis, M., Eickhoff, S. B., & Fink, G. R. (2010).

Modulating cortical connectivity in stroke patients by rTMS assessed with fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.029

- Guidetti, G. (2013). The role of cognitive processes in vestibular disorders. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, 11(S1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.3109/21695717.2013.765085
- Guldin, W. O., & Grüsser, O. J. (1998). Is there a vestibular cortex? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(6), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01211-3
- Gurvich, C., Maller, J. J., Lithgow, B., Haghgooie, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2013). Vestibular insights into cognition and psychiatry. *Brain Research*, *1537*, 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.058
- Haxby, J. V, Gobbini, M. I., Furey, M. L., Ishai, A., Schouten, J. L., & Pietrini, P. (2001). Distributed and Overlapping Representations of Faces and Objects in Ventral Temporal Cortex. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7549/e383e527ebcebb131edd57fcb08874d5d77a.pdf

- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., & Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron*, 68(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Hesselmann, V., Zaro Weber, O., Wedekind, C., Krings, T., Schulte, O., Kugel, H., ... Lackner, K. J. (2001). Age related signal decrease in functional magnetic resonance imaging during motor stimulation in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 308(3), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01920-6
- Heuninckx, S., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2008). Systems Neuroplasticity in the Aging Brain: Recruiting Additional Neural Resources for Successful Motor Performance in Elderly Persons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3300-07.2008
- Hitier, M., Besnard, S., & Smith, P. F. (2014). Vestibular pathways involved in cognition. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, *8*, 59. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00059
- Holmeslet, B., Westin, M., & Brantberg, K. (2011). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: skull taps can cause a stimulus direction dependent double-peak. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(2), 391–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.06.020
- Horacek, J., Brunovsky, M., Novak, T., Skrdlantova, L., Klirova, M., Bubenikova-Valesova, V.,
 … Höschl, C. (2007). Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology*, 55(3–4), 132–42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106055
- Huang, S.-L., Hsieh, C.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Lu, W.-S. (2011). Minimal Detectable Change of the Timed "Up & amp; Go" Test and the Dynamic Gait Index in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090126
- Huppert, T., Schmidt, B., Beluk, N., Furman, J., & Sparto, P. (2013). Measurement of brain activation during an upright stepping reaction task using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(11), 2817–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22106
- Impe, A. Van, Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Doumas, M., & Swinnen, S. P. (2012). White matter fractional anisotropy predicts balance performance in older adults. NBA, 33(9), 1900–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.013
- Indovina, I. (2005). Representation of Visual Gravitational Motion in the Human Vestibular

Cortex. Science, 308(5720), 416-419. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107961

- Inukai, Y., Saito, K., Sasaki, R., Kotan, S., Nakagawa, M., & Onishi, H. (2016). Influence of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to the Cerebellum on Standing Posture Control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00325
- Israel, I., Bronstein, A. M., Kanayama, R., Faldon, M., & Gresty, M. A. (1996). Visual and vestibular factors influencing vestibular ?navigation? *Experimental Brain Research*, 112(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00227947
- Iwasaki, S., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Burgess, A. M., Kim, J., Colebatch, J. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2007). Head taps evoke a crossed vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neurology*, 68(15), 1227–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000259064.80564.21
- Iwasaki, S., Smulders, Y. E., Burgess, A. M., McGarvie, L. A., Macdougall, H. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Curthoys, I. S. (2008). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to bone conducted vibration of the midline forehead at Fz in healthy subjects. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 119(9), 2135–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.05.028
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008a). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008b). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Jayakaran, P., Johnson, G. M., & Sullivan, S. J. (2013). Concurrent validity of the Sensory Organization Test measures in unilateral transibial amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, *37*(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309364612448391
- Jeka, J. J., Allison, L. K., & Kiemel, T. (2010). The Dynamics of Visual Reweighting in Healthy and Fall-Prone Older Adults. *Journal of Motor Behavior*.
- Jones, P. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. *Brain*.
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Motes, M. A., Rypma, B., & Biswal, B. B. (2010). Neural and vascular variability and the fMRI-BOLD response in normal aging. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 28(4), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2009.12.007
- Karim, H., Fuhrman, S. I., Sparto, P., Furman, J., & Huppert, T. (2013). Functional brain imaging of multi-sensory vestibular processing during computerized dynamic posturography using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 74, 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.010
- Karim, H., Schmidt, B., Dart, D., Beluk, N., & Huppert, T. (2012). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) of brain function during active balancing using a video game system. *Gait & Posture*, 35(3), 367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.10.007
- Karim, H. T., Fuhrman, S. I., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2013). Neuroimaging to detect cortical projection of vestibular response to caloric stimulation in young and older adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). *NeuroImage*, 76, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.061
- Karim, H. T., Sparto, P. J., Aizenstein, H. J., Furman, J. M., Huppert, T. J., Erickson, K. I., & Loughlin, P. J. (2014). Functional MR imaging of a simulated balance task. *Brain Research*,

1555, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.033

- Keeser, D., Meindl, T., Bor, J., Palm, U., Pogarell, O., Mulert, C., ... Padberg, F. (2011). Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Changes Connectivity of Resting-State Networks during fMRI. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(43), 15284–15293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2016). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kong, J., Gollub, R. L., Webb, J. M., Kong, J. T., Vangel, M. G., & Kwong, K. (2007). Testretest study of fMRI signal change evoked by electroacupuncture stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 34(3), 1171–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.019
- Kunze, T., Hunold, A., Haueisen, J., Jirsa, V., & Spiegler, A. (2016). Transcranial direct current stimulation changes resting state functional connectivity: A large-scale brain network modeling study. *NeuroImage*, *140*, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.015
- Kyriakareli, A., Cousins, S., Pettorossi, V. E., & Bronstein, A. M. (2013). Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on vestibular-ocular and vestibulo-perceptual thresholds. *Neuroreport*, 24(14), 808–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283646e65
- L. Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, *38*(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001
- Langan, J., Peltier, S. J., Bo, J., Fling, B. W., Welsh, R. C., & Seidler, R. D. (2010). Functional implications of age differences in motor system connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00017
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002a). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002b). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Lee, B.-C., Kim, J., Chen, S., & Sienko, K. H. (2012). Cell phone based balance trainer. *Journal* of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 9, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-10
- Li, H. J., Hou, X. H., Liu, H. H., Yue, C. L., Lu, G. M., & Zuo, X. N. (2015). Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 57(16), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013
- Lin, C.-C., Barker, J. W., Sparto, P. J., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2017). Functional nearinfrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8
- Lobel, E., Bihan, D. Le, Berthoz, A., & Cnrs, C. D. F. (1996). Searching for the vestibular cortex with functional M R I, (2).

Lobel, E., Kleine, J. F., Bihan, D. Le, Leroy-Willig, A., & Berthoz, A. (1998). Functional MRI of Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, 80(5), 2699–2709. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/80/5/2699.short

Lopez, C., & Blanke, O. (2011). The thalamocortical vestibular system in animals and humans. *Brain Research Reviews*, 67(1–2), 119–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.12.002

Lopez, C., Blanke, O., & Mast, F. W. (2012). The human vestibular cortex revealed by coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*, 212, 159–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.028

Lopez, C., Schreyer, H. M., Preuss, N., & Mast, F. W. (2012). Vestibular stimulation modifies the body schema. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1830–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.008

Lopez, I., Honrubia, V., & Baloh, R. W. (1997). Aging and the Human Vestibular Nucleus. Journal of Vestibular Research.

- Lord, S. R., & Ward, J. a. (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing*, 23(6), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/23.6.452
- Macaluso, E. (2006). Multisensory processing in sensory-specific cortical areas. The Neuroscientist : A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 12(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287908
- Maki, B. E., Holliday, P. J., & Topper, A. K. (1994). A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(2), M72-84. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126355
- Mancini, M., & Horak, F. B. (2010). The relevance of clinical balance assessment tools to differentiate balance deficits. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(2), 239–48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485226
- Marcelli, V., Esposito, F., Aragri, A., Furia, T., Riccardi, P., Tosetti, M., ... Di Salle, F. (2009). Spatio-temporal pattern of vestibular information processing after brief caloric stimulation. *European Journal of Radiology*, 70(2), 312–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.01.042
- Mast, F. W., Preuss, N., Hartmann, M., & Grabherr, L. (2014). Spatial cognition, body representation and affective processes: the role of vestibular information beyond ocular reflexes and control of posture. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 8(July), 44. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00044
- Matheson, A. J., Darlington, C. L., & Smith, P. F. (1999). Dizziness in the Elderly and Agerelated Degeneration of the Vestibular System. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*.
- Matsuda, P. N., Taylor, C. S., & Shumway-Cook, A. (2014). Evidence for the Validity of the Modified Dynamic Gait Index Across Diagnostic Groups. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 996– 1004. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130294
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: a comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218
- Miyamoto, T., Fukushima, K., Takada, T., de Waele, C., & Vidal, P.-P. (2007). Saccular stimulation of the human cortex: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 423(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.036
- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle Weakness

and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x

- Mowinckel, A. M., Espeseth, T., & Westlye, L. T. (2012). Network-specific effects of age and in-scanner subject motion: A resting-state fMRI study of 238 healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 63(3), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2012.08.004
- Mulavara, A. P., Kofman, I. S., De Dios, Y. E., Miller, C., Peters, B. T., Goel, R., ... Bloomberg, J. J. (2015). Using low levels of stochastic vestibular stimulation to improve locomotor stability. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00117
- Murofushi, T., Ochiai, A., Ozeki, H., & Iwasaki, S. (2004). Laterality of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *International Journal of Audiology*, *43*(2), 66–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15035558
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695– 699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson-Wong, E., Appell, R., McKay, M., Nawaz, H., Roth, J., Sigler, R., ... Walker, M. (2012). Increased fall risk is associated with elevated co-contraction about the ankle during static balance challenges in older adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(4), 1379– 1389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2094-x
- Nguyen, K. D., Welgampola, M. S., & Carey, J. P. (2010). Test-retest reliability and age-related characteristics of the ocular and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential tests. *Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 31*(5), 793– 802. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e3181e3d60e
- Nichols, T. E., & Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, *15*(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11747097
- NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from https://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/
- Noohi, F., Kinnaird, C., DeDios, Y., Kofman, I. S., Wood, S., Bloomberg, J., ... Seidler, R. (2017). Functional brain activation in response to a clinical vestibular test correlates with balance. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00011
- Oechslin, M. S., Meyer, M., & Jäncke, L. (2010). Absolute pitch-functional evidence of speechrelevant auditory acuity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp113
- Pal, S., ... S. R.-J. of V., & 2009, undefined. (n.d.). Stochastic galvanic vestibular stimulation produces a small reduction in sway in Parkinson's disease. *Content.iospress.com*. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibular-research/ves00360
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 13091–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405148101
- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–96.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656

- Park, J., Carp, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2010). Neural specificity predicts fluid processing ability in older adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(27), 9253–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0853-10.2010
- Pasma, J. H., Engelhart, D., Maier, A. B., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & Meskers, C. G. M. (2015). Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 3220–33. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Paus, T., Castro-Alamancos, M. A., & Petrides, M. (2001). Cortico-cortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 1405–1411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01757.x
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Wingfield, A., & Grossman, M. (2010). Neural processing during older adults' comprehension of spoken sentences: age differences in resource allocation and connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 20(4), 773–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp142
- Peterka, R. J. (2012). Use of galvanic vestibular feedback for a balance prosthesis. Conference Proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual Conference, 2012, 6137–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2012.6347394
- Pleger, B., Blankenburg, F., Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Wiech, K., Stephan, K. E., ... Dolan, R. J. (2006). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced changes in sensorimotor coupling parallel improvements of somatosensation in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 1945–52. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4097-05.2006
- Podsiadlo, D., & Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39(2), 142–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1991946
- Polanía, R., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2012). Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(10), 2499–2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21380
- Proctor, L. R. (1988). Clinical experience with a short-acting, adjustable caloric stimulation. Vestibular Disorders Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago.
- Pujol, J., Roset-Llobet, J., Rosinés-Cubells, D., Deus, J., Narberhaus, B., Valls-Solé, J., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Brain Cortical Activation during Guitar-Induced Hand Dystonia Studied by Functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 12(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1006/NIMG.2000.0615
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive Aging and the Compensation Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2010). Human Neuroscience and the Aging Mind: A New Look at Old Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq035
- Roberta Ronchi, Gilles Rode, Francois Cottond, Alessandro Farne, Y. R. and S. J.-C. (2012). Remission of anosognosia for right hemiplegia and neglect after caloric vestibular

stimulation, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-120236

- Roski, C., Caspers, S., Langner, R., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). Adult age-dependent differences in resting-state connectivity within and between visualattention and sensorimotor networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 5, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00067
- Ruffieux, J., Mouthon, A., Keller, M., Mouthon, M., Annoni, J.-M., & Taube, W. (2018).
 Balance Training Reduces Brain Activity during Motor Simulation of a Challenging
 Balance Task in Older Adults: An fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00010
- Ruhe, A., Fejer, R., & Walker, B. (2010). The test-retest reliability of centre of pressure measures in bipedal static task conditions - A systematic review of the literature. *Gait and Posture*, 32(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.012
- Schlindwein, P., Mueller, M., Bauermann, T., Brandt, T., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008). Cortical representation of saccular vestibular stimulation: VEMPs in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 39(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.016
- Scinicariello, A. P., Eaton, K., Inglis, J. T., & Collins, J. J. (2001). Enhancing human balance control with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 84(6), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007991
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler-Dobrin, R. D., He, J., & Stelmach, G. E. (1998). Coactivation to reduce variability in the elderly. *Motor Control*, 2(4), 314–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9758884
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. a, Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., ... Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(5), 721–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.005
- Seidler, R., Erdeniz, B., Koppelmans, V., Hirsiger, S., Mérillat, S., & Jäncke, L. (2015). Associations between age, motor function, and resting state sensorimotor network connectivity in healthy older adults. *NeuroImage*, 108, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.023
- Shimazu, H., & Precht, W. (1966). Inhibition of central vestibular neurons from the contralateral labyrinth and its mediating pathway. *J Neurophysiol*, 29(3), 467–492. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/29/3/467
- Shumway-Cook, A., Brauer, S., & Woollacott, M. (2000). Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & amp; Go Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80(9), 896–903. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960937
- Shumway-Cook, A., Taylor, C. S., Matsuda, P. N., Studer, M. T., & Whetten, B. K. (2013). Expanding the Scoring System for the Dynamic Gait Index. *Physical Therapy*, 93(11), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130035
- Sienko, K. H., Balkwill, M. D., Oddsson, L. I. E., & Wall, C. (2008). Journal of vestibular research: Equilibrium and orientation. Journal of Vestibular Research (Vol. 18). Elsevier Science. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibularresearch/ves00335
- Smith, P. F., & Darlington, C. L. (2013). Personality changes in patients with vestibular

dysfunction. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00678

- Smith, P. F., Darlington, C. L., & Zheng, Y. (2010). Move it or lose it--is stimulation of the vestibular system necessary for normal spatial memory? *Hippocampus*, 20(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20588
- Smith, P. F., & Zheng, Y. (2013). From ear to uncertainty: vestibular contributions to cognitive function. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7(November), 84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00084
- Stephan, T., Deutschländer, A., Nolte, A., Schneider, E., Wiesmann, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2005). Functional MRI of galvanic vestibular stimulation with alternating currents at different frequencies. *NeuroImage*, 26(3), 721–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.049
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1560–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Sullivan, E. V, Rose, J., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2009). Postural sway reduction in aging men and women: relation to brain structure, cognitive status, and stabilizing factors. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.021
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Todd, N. P. M. (2010). The origin of the ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (OVEMP). Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 121(6), 978–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.026
- Todd, N. P. M., Rosengren, S. M., Aw, S. T., & Colebatch, J. G. (2007). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (OVEMPs) produced by air- and bone-conducted sound. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(2), 381–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.025
- Tsakiris, M., Costantini, M., & Haggard, P. (2008). The role of the right temporo-parietal junction in maintaining a coherent sense of one's body. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.06.004
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., ... Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Uludağ, K., Dubowitz, D. J., Yoder, E. J., Restom, K., Liu, T. T., & Buxton, R. B. (2004). Coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption during physiological activation and deactivation measured with fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 23(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2004.05.013
- Uludağ, K., Müller-Bierl, B., & Uğurbil, K. (2009). An integrative model for neuronal activity-
induced signal changes for gradient and spin echo functional imaging. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.051

- Van Beers, R., J., A. C. S., & Gon., J. J. D. van der. (1999). Integration of Proprioceptive and Visual Position-Information: An Experimentally Supported Model, 1355–1364.
- Van Essen, D. C., Drury, H. A., Dickson, J., Harwell, J., Hanlon, D., & Anderson, C. H. (2001). An integrated software suite for surface-based analyses of cerebral cortex. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 8(5), 443–59. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=131042&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Vercammen, A., Knegtering, H., Bruggeman, R., Westenbroek, H. M., Jenner, J. A., Slooff, C. J., ... Aleman, A. (2009). Effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on treatment resistant auditory-verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Research*, 114(1–3), 172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.013
- Vidal PP, Berthoz A, M. M. (1982). Difference between eye closure and visual stabilization in the control of posture in man. *Aviat Space Environ Med*.
- Wackym, P. A., Ratigan, J. A., Birck, J. D., Johnson, S. H., Doornink, J., Bottlang, M., ... Black, F. O. (2012). Rapid cVEMP and oVEMP responses elicited by a novel head striker and recording device. Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 33(8), 1392–400. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e318268d234
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Gong, X., Huang, W., Xu, L., & Zhou, C. (2008). Why cold water delays the onset of vestibular vertigo-An functional MRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 67(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.08.021
- Welgampola, M. S., & Colebatch, J. G. (2005). Characteristics and clinical applications of vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials. *Neurology*, 64(10), 1682–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000161876.20552.AA
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Nieto-Castanon, A. (2014). CONN fMRI functional connectivity toolbox BATCH processing manual, 81. Retrieved from http://www.nitrc.org/projects/conn
- Whitney, S. L., Roche, J. L., Marchetti, G. F., Lin, C.-C., Steed, D. P., Furman, G. R., ... Redfern, M. S. (2011). A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: A measure of balance. *Gait & Posture*, 33(4), 594–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.01.015
- Wiesmeier, I. K., Dalin, D., Wehrle, A., Granacher, U., Muehlbauer, T., Dietterle, J., ... Maurer, C. (2017). Balance Training Enhances Vestibular Function and Reduces Overactive Proprioceptive Feedback in Elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00273
- Wilke, M., & Lidzba, K. (2007). LI-tool: A new toolbox to assess lateralization in functional MR-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2007.01.026
- Wilke, M., & Schmithorst, V. J. (2006). A combined bootstrap/histogram analysis approach for computing a lateralization index from neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage*, 33(2), 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2006.07.010
- Wolfson, L., Judge, J., Whipple, R., & King, M. (1995). Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 50 Spec No, 64–7. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7493221

- Wuehr, M., Nusser, E., Krafczyk, S., Straube, A., Brandt, T., Jahn, K., & Schniepp, R. (2016). Noise-Enhanced Vestibular Input Improves Dynamic Walking Stability in Healthy Subjects. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.017
- Yamamoto, Y., Struzik, Z. R., Soma, R., Ohashi, K., & Kwak, S. (2005). Noisy vestibular stimulation improves autonomic and motor responsiveness in central neurodegenerative disorders. *Annals of Neurology*, 58(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20574
- Yang, Z., Chang, C., Xu, T., Jiang, L., Handwerker, D. A., Castellanos, F. X., ... Zuo, X.-N. (2014). Connectivity trajectory across lifespan differentiates the precuneus from the default network. *NeuroImage*, 89, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2013.10.039
- Yuan, J., Blumen, H. M., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). Functional connectivity associated with gait velocity during walking and walking-while-talking in aging: A resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(4), 1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22717
- Zalewski, C. K. (2015). Aging of the Human Vestibular System Balance Function and The Role of The Vestibular System Epidemiology of Dizziness.
- zu Eulenburg, P., Caspers, S., Roski, C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Meta-analytical definition and functional connectivity of the human vestibular cortex. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.032

Chapter II

Functional Brain Activation in Response to a Clinical Vestibular Test Correlates with Balance

i. Abstract

The current study characterizes brain fMRI activation in response to two modes of vestibular stimulation: skull tap and auditory tone burst. The auditory tone burst has been used in previous studies to elicit either a vestibulo-spinal reflex (saccular-mediated colic Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials (cVEMP)), or an ocular muscle response (utricle-mediated ocular VEMP (oVEMP)). Research suggests that the skull tap elicits both saccular and utricle-mediated VEMPs, while being faster and less irritating for subjects than the high decibel tones required to elicit VEMPs. However, it is not clear whether the skull tap and auditory tone burst elicit the same pattern of brain activity. Previous imaging studies have documented activity in the anterior and posterior insula, superior temporal gyrus, inferior parietal lobule, inferior frontal gyrus, and the anterior cingulate cortex in response to different modes of vestibular stimulation. Here we hypothesized that pneumatically powered skull taps would elicit a similar pattern of brain activity as shown in previous studies. Our results provide the first evidence that using pneumatically powered skull taps can elicit vestibular activity inside the MRI scanner. A conjunction analysis revealed that skull taps elicit overlapping activation with auditory tone bursts in the canonical vestibular cortical regions. Further, our postural control assessments revealed that greater amplitude of brain activation in response to vestibular stimulation was associated with better balance control for both techniques. Additionally, we found that skull taps elicit more robust vestibular activity compared to auditory tone bursts, with less reported aversive effects, highlighting the utility of this approach for future clinical and basic science research.¹

ii. Introduction

Recent studies have shown that a vestibular brain network is engaged when participants perform various motor and cognitive processes including sense of balance, postural control, navigation, spatial learning and memory, and autonomic responses to stress (Bigelow & Agrawal, 2015; Thomas Brandt et al., 2005; Diener & Dichgans, 1988; Guidetti, 2013; Hitier, Besnard, & Smith, 2014; Israel, Bronstein, Kanayama, Faldon, & Gresty, 1996; Smith, Darlington, & Zheng, 2010). The imaging of human vestibular cortex has opened a new window to our understanding of the underlying neural mechanisms of these motor and cognitive processes (Fasold et al., 2002; Elie Lobel et al., 1998; Stephan et al., 2005). Neuroimaging meta-analyses have indicated the superior temporal gyrus (STG), retroinsular cortex, and inferior parietal lobule (IPL) as the common cortical regions involved in the vestibular network (C Lopez et al., 2012; zu Eulenburg et al., 2012). Previous neuroimaging studies have used different methods to activate the vestibular cortex in the scanner, including caloric vestibular stimulation (CVS) (Bottini et al., 2001; M. Dieterich, 2003; Emri et al., 2003; Indovina, 2005; Marcelli et al., 2009; M. Suzuki et al., 2001), galvanic vestibular stimulation (GVS) (S Bense, Stephan, Yousry, Brandt, & Dieterich, 2001; Simon B. Eickhoff et al., 2006; Elie Lobel et al., 1998; Stephan et al., 2005), and auditory clicks/short tone bursts (Janzen et al., 2008a; Miyamoto et al., 2007; Schlindwein et al., 2008). In a recent meta-analysis, Lopez et al. (2012) showed that the regions that are commonly activated across these modes of stimulation include insular cortex, parietal operculum, and retroinsular cortex (C Lopez et al., 2012).

Administration of CVS (i.e. irrigation of water into the ear canal) inside an MRI scanner is somewhat challenging, since the vestibular sensation takes up to 15 minutes to disappear (Proctor, 1988), and controlling for susceptibility artifacts between air and water is difficult (E Lobel, Bihan, Berthoz, & Cnrs, 1996). Additionally, the evoked vestibular cortical activity by caloric stimulation varies based on the side and temperature of the irrigation (i.e. warm water

¹ This work has been published as Noohi et al. 2017, Functional Brain Activation in Response to a Clinical Vestibular Test Correlates with Balance, in Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience (Noohi et al., 2017).

induces bilateral brain activity, whereas cool water induces a contralateral response (Karim et al., 2013), and it shows high inter-individual variability (Fife et al., 2000). Moreover, caloric stimulation is rather unpleasant for subjects (Capps, Preciado, Paparella, & Hoppe, 1973).

Galvanic vestibular stimulation is another common method in which electric current is used to stimulate the vestibular nerve via electrodes placed over the mastoid bones (Elie Lobel et al., 1998; Wuehr et al., 2016; Yamamoto et al., 2005). GVS activates the entire vestibular nerve and thus activates pathways associated with both the semicircular canals and the otoliths, whereas CVS mainly activates the horizontal semicircular canals (Day et al., 2011; M. Dieterich, 2003; Stephan et al., 2005). Although GVS and CVS have been recently implemented as standard methods for imaging vestibular function, neither allows for evaluation of specifically otolithic vestibular processing (i.e. independent from semicircular canals).

Here, we evaluated a novel bone conduction device to elicit vestibular activation inside the MRI scanner (manufactured by Engineering Acoustics, Incorporated) (Iwasaki et al., 2008; Wackym et al., 2012). Curthoys et al. provided a review of animal and human studies in which they showed that the vestibular evoked myogenic potential (VEMP) characteristics in response to bone conduction stimulation reflects the otolith responses (utricles and saccules) independently of canal function (Curthoys et al., 2009). Brantberg et al. further supported these findings, showing that lateral bone conducted-vibrations induce VEMP responses through vibration and translation mechanisms (Krister Brantberg et al., 2009).

Wackym et al. (2102) used bone conduction stimulation to elicit VEMPs, and then compared the response characteristics to those elicited by high decibel auditory tone bursts (Wackym et al., 2012). They showed the effectiveness of this novel device in eliciting typical vestibular responses. In the present study, we investigated whether the bone conduction method activates brain regions characterized in previous studies as playing a role in vestibular processing, and whether this activity correlates with vestibularly mediated balance control.

As Wackym et al. (2012) pointed out, the bone conduction method is more comfortable for subjects and results in more reliable oVEMP responses compared to auditory tone bursts

(Wackym et al., 2012). In addition to subjects' comfort, this novel approach can provide new insights into vestibular utricular function (Curthoys et al., 2009, Manzari et al. 2010), since the previously used methods in neuroimaging studies have mainly indicated otolith responses with short auditory tone bursts (Schlindwein et al., 2008), semicircular canal responses with CVS (Fasold et al., 2002; Gentine, Eichhorn, Kopp, & Conraux, 1990; Elie Lobel et al., 1998), or combined otolith & canal responses with GVS (Angelaki & Perachio, 1993; J. M. Goldberg, Smith, & Fernandez, 1984; Stephan et al., 2005). Similar to GVS studies, a potential drawback of using the bone conduction method is tactile perception and potential co-activation of somatosensory regions (Simon B. Eickhoff et al., 2006).

To replicate the results of Wackym et al. (2012), we used a similar design to compare vestibular activation elicited by skull taps (bone conduction) and auditory tone bursts both outside and inside the MRI scanner, hypothesizing that both stimulation methods would result in similar brain activation patterns. We also hypothesized that acoustic effects of the auditory tone burst stimulation could be differentiated from the vestibular components as previously done by Schlindwein and colleagues (Schlindwein et al., 2008).

To validate the vestibular evoked activation inside the scanner, we also recorded vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (VEMPs) elicited by the skull tap device and auditory tone bursts outside the scanner. The ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) has been measured in previous studies as an index of vestibular function (Akin et al., 2003). Therefore, we considered the brain activity as reflecting vestibular system activation relative to typical oVEMP characteristics (Nguyen, Welgampola, & Carey, 2010; Welgampola & Colebatch, 2005) in response to the same stimulation outside of the scanner.

Further, we assessed individual differences in balance control ability to examine whether greater activation of vestibular network measured in the scanner is associated with better postural control measured outside of the scanner. Goble et al. (2011) showed that brain activity in response to proprioceptive stimulation of ankle joint muscles inside the scanner is correlated with individual differences in balance performance (Goble et al., 2011). Similarly, here we hypothesized that the magnitude of vestibular brain activity is associated with the ability to

maintain balance, and that this association would be similar for both modes of stimulation. Using behavioral assessments we were able to fortify our interpretation of vestibular cortex function and to examine whether brain activation elicited by pneumatic skull tap and auditory tone burst associates differentially with behavioral metrics. Inline with our hypothesis, we found that the performance in balance control tasks (with degraded proprioceptive inputs and absence of vision) correlates with vestibular activity in right and left vestibular nuclei.

This study provides the first evidence of using an MR compatible pneumatic skull tap device to elicit vestibular brain activation inside the scanner. The results of this study indicate the extent to which pneumatic skull tap could be implemented in clinical and basic science research as a reliable method of vestibular otolith stimulation inside the scanner. Moreover, this study shows that vestibular brain activity elicited by pneumatic skull tap can be used as an index of individual differences in balance control and susceptibility to fall.

iii. Methods

Participants

We recruited 16 healthy, right-handed young adults (mean age 20.87 \pm 2.55, 7 females) from the University of Michigan student population. The study was approved by the University of Michigan Medical Institutional Review Board; all participants signed a consent form prior to participation. Exclusion criteria comprised history of neurological disorder, vestibular or auditory impairments, or any other major health issues. All participants were right hand dominant. Two participants were excluded from analyses because of incomplete MRI scan coverage of the brain. From the remaining 14 participants who were included in the fMRI analysis, only 10 were included in the balance analyses due to technical errors in the force plate data collection.

Balance Assessments

To assess whether individual differences in balance control are associated with vestibular brain activity, subjects performed 4 different tasks (Romberg, tandem, normal, and single leg stance) in 4 different levels of difficulty (eyes closed/open, yaw/pitch/no head movement, arms crossed/free, & on firm/compliant surface), leading to a total of 22 different tasks. These tests were conducted on a force platform (AMTI Inc, USA) and subjects' movements were captured with a Vicon motion capture system (Nexus, Vicon Inc). We selected two balance tasks for the brain-behavior correlation analyses: Romberg stance (feet together) with eyes closed and sinusoidal head movements (roughly $\pm 20^{\circ}$, 0.6 Hz); and Tandem Romberg stance (heel to toe) on surface (high density viscoelastic foam; length=45cm, width=45cm, а compliant thickness=18cm; Natus Inc.), with eyes open and sinusoidal head movements (roughly $\pm 20^{\circ}$, 0.6 Hz). The tasks were performed once with yaw and once with pitch head movements. We instructed subjects to match their head movements to the beat of a metronome (0.6 Hz) to keep the frequency of movement consistent throughout the trials and across subjects. Subjects maintained a comfortable amplitude with head turns of approximately 20 degrees, however this amplitude was not strictly controlled. The order of tasks was counterbalanced across subjects.

Subjects were instructed to maintain their balance for the whole duration of trial (i.e. 30 seconds) for each task. The experimenter demonstrated the correct performance prior to each trial; however, to capture the individuals' true postural ability and control for the learning effects, they were not given any practice trials. So subjects performed each task for one trial (i.e. 30 seconds), as Whitney and colleagues showed that single trial (as opposed to average of multiple trials) is sufficient for balance assessment (Whitney et al., 2011). The total amount of movement was calculated as the area of an ellipse fit to the 95th percentile confidence interval of center of pressure motion in the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral directions (Sienko, Balkwill, Oddsson, & Wall, 2008). Smaller ellipse areas reflect smaller body sway and better performance. Ellipse areas and balance maintenance times were tested for correlation with vestibular brain activity by entering scores as covariates in a single sample t-test analysis of vestibular activity, using spm8 software (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK. (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995)).

Ocular Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials (oVEMP)

Prior to the MRI scan, we measured vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in ocular muscles in response to both auditory tone bursts and head taps applied outside of the MRI scanner (cf. (Iwasaki et al., 2008; Todd, Rosengren, Aw, & Colebatch, 2007)). First, we performed routine skin preparation using alcohol wipes and Nuprep skin preparation gel. Next, EMG electrodes were placed symmetrically on the skin over the medial inferior oblique muscles, slightly lateral to the pupil directly beneath both eyes (Chihara et al., 2009). We collected ocular EMG data at 1KHz using a Delsys 8-channel Bagnoli EMG system. Subjects were in a supine position, maintaining an approximately 30° upward gaze during the stimulation trials by staring at a fixation point placed on the ceiling. They were instructed to avoid blinking for the duration of each stimulation trial (tap stimulation trials lasted 29 seconds, while tone stimulation trials lasted 20 seconds; first 5 seconds in both trials were baseline when no stimulation applied), and to relax their eyes in between trials. Subjects received auditory tone bursts (~3Hz) via headphones (MR compatible SereneSound auditory system, Resonance technology Inc.) and skull taps (1Hz) via the pneumatic tactile pulse system (MR compatible Pneumatic Tactile Pulse System (PnTPS), Engineering Acoustics Inc.; see supplementary materials for the picture) placed over the lateral cheekbones. The lateral direction of the force of the skull tap served to maximize the shear along the utricular macula, and therefore optimize the oVEMP response that is attributed to utricularocular reflex pathway (I S Curthoys, Vulovic, & Manzari, 2012). A self-adhering elastic bandage wrap (Coban, 3M Inc) was used over the subject's head to secure the stimulation devices. We collected five trials of each stimulation type for each subject and visually inspected the data after each trial and adjusted the tapper/headphones as necessary.

Each subject received auditory tone burst stimulation at 130 dB SPL on the left side (5 trials) and right side (5 trials) separately. A pneumatically powered skull tapper was used to deliver low force taps to the left (5 trials) and right (5 trials) cheekbones (Engineering Acoustics Inc). We applied unilateral stimulation since Cornell et al. (2009) reported that bilateral bone conduction vibration activates deeper muscles and eliminates the horizontal eye response (Cornell, Burgess, MacDougall, & Curthoys, 2009). The skull tapper uses compressed air (50 – 55 psi) to power a

small piston that delivers an average force of 19.6 N for each tap to the cheekbones. Each tapping trial consisted of 24 taps, delivered at 1 Hz. Each auditory tone burst trial consisted of 45 tone bursts applied at 3.003 Hz. The order of stimulation modes was counterbalanced across subjects. The resting period between trials varied based on the subject's preference, ranging between 10-15 seconds. Stimulation routines were programmed using LabView (National Instruments Inc.).

Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)

fMRI data were acquired using a 3.0 T MRI scanner (General Electric Medical Systems, DISCOVERY MR750). Using a self-adhering elastic bandage wrap, the experimenter fixed the position of the pneumatic tappers and auditory headphones before the subject entered the scanner. To keep consistent placement of devices, we conducted the oVEMP measurements prior to the scan and did not change the device arrangement (i.e. placement of tappers on the cheekbones) as we proceeded with the scan. Head movement was minimized via a Velcro strap over the forehead and padding placed around the sides of the head. Subjects' physiological responses were collected via pulse oximeter placed on the index finger, and a respirometer wrapped around the subjects' abdomen, and later regressed out of the blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) signal.

The scan protocol comprised five sections: a high resolution T1 scan, a resting state functional connectivity scan, vestibular stimulation runs (with auditory and tapper trials counterbalanced across subjects), another resting state functional connectivity scan, and a diffusion tensor scan (DTI). The resting state and DTI scan results are not presented here. Before each section began, the MRI technician notified the subject about the upcoming condition. This way we minimized the potential artifacts of surprise (e.g. involuntary responses to the start of the stimulation) and kept the subject alert.

The structural imaging was conducted using a T1-weighted interleaved echo-planar imaging (EPI) sequence (TR = 12.2 s, TE =5.1 ms, FA= 15° , matrix size= 256×256 , FOV= 260×260

mm, slice thickness = 1 mm) covering the whole brain and the cerebellum. The functional images were acquired with gradient-echo spiral-pulse sequence (FOV=220 mm, TR=2 s, TE= 30 ms, number of slices=43, voxel size =3.4375x3.4375mm).

The skull tap and auditory tone burst stimulations were applied using the same protocol as was used for oVEMP testing outside of the scanner, with two exceptions: 1) following the auditory tone burst stimulation (130 dB SPL) on the left and right sides separately, there was an additional condition in which subjects received 90 dB SPL auditory tone burst stimulation on both sides simultaneously. By including the 90 dB SPL stimulation we were able to compare and dissociate the neural correlates of acoustic and vestibular processing (Schlindwein et al., 2008); 2) Unlike in the oVEMP testing, there was no subject-determined rest period between stimulation trials. Rather, to identify stimulation-evoked changes in the BOLD signal we implemented a block design in which each functional run comprised five alternating periods of rest (20 seconds) and stimulation (24 seconds). Each run was four minutes, and subjects were asked to keep their eyes closed during each run. The sound of the piston delivering taps to the cheekbones was not detectable over the noise of the scanner, and there was no head motion induced by the taps. All subjects reported feeling a tactile perception of the pneumatic skull taps over the skin.

iv. Data Analysis

Balance analysis

Force plate data were collected at 100 Hz and center of pressure (COP) values were measured analyzed using Vicon software (Nexus, Vicon Inc). The COP signals were low pass filtered with a 2nd order recursive Butterworth filter with a cutoff of 10 Hz (Lee, Kim, Chen, & Sienko, 2012) using Matlab. Subsequently, 95% confidence interval ellipses were fit to the 2 dimensional medial-lateral and anterior-posterior center of pressure trajectories across each 30s balance task. The ellipse area measure was selected due to previous reports showing the reliability of this measure for predicting susceptibility to fall (Bird et al., 2013; Melzer et al., 2004).

In case of a step out, the trial was stopped prematurely, and the balance maintenance time was used as a second representative of subjects' balance ability in addition to the measures of body sway.

oVEMP analysis

We identified the oVEMP EMG response according to the typical waveform described in previous studies (Nguyen et al., 2010; Welgampola & Colebatch, 2005). We parsed the data into responses for each individual tap (from tap-to-tap), and the oVEMPs were averaged on the contralateral stimulation sides. We identified the amplitude and timing of the first peak, followed by the first trough, followed by the second peak of the VEMPs. We used a 2nd order butterworth notch filter to remove 60 Hz noise (59-61 Hz) and the detrend function in Matlab to remove the mean value from the vector. We did all of the above for the auditory tone burst induced oVEMPs as well, but added some additional notch filters for harmonics of electrical noise (harmonics of 60 Hz): 60 Hz, 120 Hz, 240 Hz, 360Hz.

FMRI analyses

The fMRI preprocessing analyses were conducted using spm8 software (Welcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995)). The first 10 volumes in each run were discarded to ensure steady state of the MR signal at the beginning of the runs. Functional data were corrected for the physiological responses (i.e. cardiac and respiration data) using the RETROICOR algorithm (Glover, Li, & Ress, 2000). Since the skull vibration induced by the pneumatic taps could be a potential source of motion artifacts during EPI acquisition, the raw data were carefully examined for excessive motion. Head motion correction was implemented; the cut off for trial exclusion was >3mm translation or >5° rotation. The functional images were realigned to the first functional image and the anatomical image. Next, both functional and anatomical images were normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995). We normalized the cerebellum to the Spatially Unbiased Atlas Template (SUIT, Diedrichsen and Zotow, 2015; Diedrichsen, 2006; Diedrichsen et al., 2011, 2009). Caret software (Van Essen et al., 2001) was used for hand corrected isolation of the

cerebellum and brainstem from the brain. These isolated cerebellar images were subsequently analyzed and are presented separately from the whole brain results. The normalized functional images were spatially smoothed with a Gaussian kernel function (8,8,8 mm). The smoothed functional images were used to design the first level analysis, in which we compared brain activity in each condition to rest.

Next, we used the contrast images (created at the single subject level) for whole group analyses. We applied one-sample t-tests to measure brain activation and deactivation in stimulation trials compared to rest across all subjects. Further, we applied paired t-tests to compare brain activity between different stimulation conditions across all subjects. We applied a threshold of $P \le 0.001$ (unc.) with a minimum cluster size of 10 voxels (voxel size= 2x2x2 mm) for all contrasts. To find the common brain regions activated by both auditory tone bursts and pneumatic taps, we conducted a conjunction analysis across these two conditions. The threshold for conjunction analyses was determined based on $p^{1/n}$, where p is the individual threshold and n is the number of contrasts in the conjunction (K J Friston, Holmes, Price, Büchel, & Worsley, 1999).

We assessed the correlation between brain activity and balance control using the balance performance parameters (i.e. area of the ellipse & balance maintenance time) as covariates in our group analyses, with a threshold of p<.001 (unc.). The correlation analyses were limited to the identified brain regions in the previous step.

We used the MNI atlas (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995) to localize the significant coordinates resulting from our analyses. The cerebellar coordinates were localized according to the SUIT atlas (Jörn Diedrichsen et al., 2009) using MRIcron. We also applied Automated Anatomical Labeling (AAL, Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002) with a gray matter inclusive mask to filter out activity in the white matter. A small volume correction was also applied to examine activity in regions previously identified as the vestibular nuclei (x = -16/16, y = -36, z = -32) (Kirsch et al., 2015). Deep cerebellar nuclei were identified using the SUIT probabilistic atlas for deep cerebellar nuclei (J Diedrichsen et al., 2011).

Finally, to provide an estimate of the effect size, we used the SPM MarsBaR toolbox to extract the beta values for each significant cluster. We did not report the percent signal change since previous studies showed that MR acquisition parameters (e.g. field strength, scanner sequence, echo time, etc.) could influence this metric (Chen, Taylor, & Cox, 2016; Uludağ, Müller-Bierl, & Uğurbil, 2009). Thus, we reported the beta values for each significant cluster. First, we defined the region of interest (ROI) as a 5mm sphere around the coordinates at the peak value. Next, we reported the mean beta values averaged across the voxels within each ROI (Hein, Silani, Preuschoff, Batson, & Singer, 2010; Kong et al., 2007; Oechslin, Meyer, & Jäncke, 2010).

v. Results

Balance performance results

As shown in table 2.1, all subjects were able to maintain their balance for 30 seconds when performing the Romberg stance with eyes closed and making yaw or pitch head movements. The tandem stance on a compliant surface with eyes open and yaw/pitch head movements was found to be more difficult, as the average balance time in this task did not reach the 30 s cap. In addition, the average amount of body sway was greater in tandem conditions compared to Romberg (see table 1 for details). An example of body sway trajectories (captured in an ellipse) is presented in figure 2.1.

Table 2.1 List of balance tasks that subjects performed on the force platform.

Mean and standard deviation (in parenthesis) of balance maintenance times and ellipse areas are shown for each task.							
Balance Tasks	Time Seconds	Ellipse Area ² _{cm}					
Romberg stance, eyes closed, firm surface, yaw head movement	30 (0)	8.36 (4.14)					
Romberg stance, eyes closed, firm surface, pitch head movement	30 (0)	12.84 (9.39)					
Tandem stance, eyes open, compliant surface, yaw head movements	20.05 (12.0)	39.60 (32.53)					
Tandem stance, eyes open, compliant surface, pitch head movements	28.11 (3.95)	29.23 (20.25)					



Figure 2.1 An example of ellipse area.

This example shows the ellipse area calculated based on the center of pressure (CoP) motion in the anterior-posterior (A/P) and medial-lateral (M/L) trajectories in Romberg stance on firm stance, with eyes closed and yaw head movement.

To assess the correlation between balance and vestibularly mediated brain activity, we used the ellipse area measurements of "Romberg stance on firm surface, with eyes closed and yaw/pitch head movements", because the time factor in performing this task was equal for all subjects. Only 10 subjects were included in this analysis due to substandard quality of force plate data for the remaining four subjects. In addition, we used the time measurements of "tandem stance on a compliant surface with eyes open and yaw/pitch head movements", because not all subjects were able to maintain their balance for 30 seconds when performing this task.

oVEMP results

As shown in table 2.2, the overall oVEMP characteristics of our data fit the typical oVEMP response (Iwasaki et al., 2008; Todd, 2010; Wackym et al., 2012), which validates the observed

vestibular-evoked activation inside the scanner. There was no significant effect of side/mode of the stimulation on the elicited oVEMP characteristics (Figure 2.2).

Table 2. 2 Latency and amplitude of oVEMP response induced by tap and tone.

Table shows the mean and standard error (in parenthesis) of oVEMPs. The left and right refer to the side of the stimulation, and oVEMPS are the averaged response on the contralateral side (i.e. left tap column represents the right infraorbital eye muscle's response to left side tap stimulation). The latencies of tap-induced responses are corrected for hardware delay. The latencies are presented in milliseconds and amplitudes are in millivolts. Peak to peak amplitude1= change between the amplitude at first peak to the first trough; peak to peak amplitude2= change between the amplitude at first trough to the second peak.

	Tap-induc	ap-induced response Tone-induced response		
oVEMP characteristics	Left tap	Right tap	Left tone	Right tone
Peak 1 latency ms	13.43(2.04)	14.95(2.01)	9.82(2.36)	12.1(2.65)
Trough 1 latency ms	17.63(2.10)	19.83(2.14)	15.19(2.76)	16.77(2.79)
Peak 2 latency ms	23.34(2.06)	25.01(2.34)	24.89(3.40)	23.3(2.87)
Peak to Peak Amplitude I_{mv}	3.91 (0.55)	4.36 (1.08)	3.27 (0.72)	2.65(0.59)
Peak to Peak Amplitude 2_{mv}	5.39 (1.05)	5.59 (1.35)	3.26 (0.99)	2.86(0.41)



Figure 2.2 An example of tap-induced (A) and tone-induced (B) oVEMPs for one subject.

The left and right refer to the left and right sides of stimulation; the oVEMPs represent the averaged response on the contralateral side of stimulus delivery. The shaded areas represent the standard error of the mean (SEM). Time 0 indicates the stimulus onset time.

FMRI results

Tap Stimulation versus rest

The results for tap-induced alterations in brain function are presented in table 2.3.

Left side tap stimulation increased the activation of right superior temporal gyrus (STG) and bilateral posterior insula (figure 2.3.a), both portions of the canonical vestibular cortex (zu Eulenburg et al., 2012). Multiple regions exhibited deactivation in response to the left tap,

including bilateral cerebellum lobule VI, left cerebellum lobule VIIIA, bilateral brainstem (pons), bilateral precuneus, bilateral fusiform gyrus, and bilateral frontal regions including superior, middle and inferior frontal gyri (figure 2.3.a).

Right side tap stimulation activated the bilateral posterior insula, left postcentral gyrus, and right STG (figure 2.3.b). Similar to the left tap deactivation pattern, the right tap deactivated multiple regions including left cerebellum lobule VI and Crus I, left vestibular nucleus, right cerebellum lobule VIIIA, left temporal lobe sub gyral, left cingulate gyrus, right paracentral lobule, and the right thalamus (figure 2.3.b).

Table 2. 3 Results of activation and deactivation for left and right tap versus rest.

*significant at FWE. P<.05. Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates x,y,z	Cluster size	t-value	P-value	β (CI)
Left tap versus rest						
activation	Pight Superior Temporal Gyrus	58 30 14	1118	5 70	0.0002*	$65(\pm 23)$
	L oft Doctorion Inculo	50, 22, 20	222	5.19	0.0002*	$.03(\pm .23)$
	Dight Destarion Insula	-30, -32, 20	12	2.50	0.0000*	$.37(\pm .14)$
	Right Posterior Insula	56, -12, 10	12	5.01	0.0008	$.14(\pm .07)$
deactivation						
	Left Fusiform Gyrus	-30, -40, -18	189	4.55	0.0004	$15(\pm.05)$
	Right Cerebellar Lobule VI	30, -44, -35	152	5.21	0.0001	$09(\pm.04)$
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VI	-32, -46, -31	37	4.40	0.0001	$12(\pm.05)$
	Left Precuneus	-22, -84, 44	125	4.56	0.0002	$20(\pm.07)$
	Right Precuneus	8, -52, 60	93	3.57	0.0004	15(±.07)
	Left Middle Frontal Gyrus	-36, 42, 34	39	3.71	0.0004	$17(\pm.08)$
	Right Inferior Temporal Gyrus	56, -8, -14	21	3.75	0.0004	$17(\pm.09)$
	Right Inferior Frontal Gyrus	28, 30, -4	21	3.08	0.0008	$09(\pm.04)$
	Right Fusiform Gyrus	34, -36, -16	16	3.43	0.0008	$06(\pm.03)$
	Right Middle Frontal Gyrus	22, -12, 58	12	3.12	0.0008	$08(\pm.04)$
	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus	-20, 52, -4	10	3.43	0.0008	11(±.06)
	Right Brainstem, Pons	6, -26, -15	189	4.75	0.0001	$08(\pm.05)$
	Left Brainstem, Pons	-6, -28, -9	189	6.15	0.0001	13(±.07)
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VIIIA	-2, -60, -31	29	4.29	0.0001	05(.04)
Right tap versus rest activation						
	Left Posterior Insula	-52, -34, 18	682	5.91	0.0002	.41(±.13)
	Left Postcentral Gyrus	-54, -12, 14	682	4.38	0.0002	.25(±.12)
	Right Superior Temporal Gyrus	60, -32, 16	296	5.13	0.0004	.42(±.16)
	Right Posterior Insula	50, -36, 20	296	4.57	0.0002	.36(±.17)
deactivation						
acaentanon	Left Cerebellar Crus I	-36 -54 -35	640	7.63	0.0001*	-09(+03)
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VI	-10, -64, -27	144	5.11	0.0001	06(+.04)
	Right Cerebellar Lobule VIIIA	46633	144	3.99	0.0010	$03(\pm.03)$
	0	.,,				(======)

Left Temporal Lobe, Sub-Gyral	-42, -46, -6	96	6.21	0.0002	$09(\pm.02)$
Left Cingulate Gyrus	-16, -2, 48	50	5.28	0.0004	$08(\pm.03)$
Right Thalamus	4,-6,2	30	5.63	0.0006	$10(\pm.04)$
Right Paracentral Lobule	16, -40, 50	17	4.93	0.0004	$07(\pm.03)$
Left Vestibular Nucleus	-22, -44, -31	17	4.89	0.0001*	04(±.04)



Figure 2.3 Map of brain activation and deactivation for left (a: Left tap > rest (yellow); Left tap < rest (blue)) and right (b: Right tap > rest (yellow); Right tap < rest (blue)) taps.

The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. Note: the cerebellum is depicted separately due to extraction and normalization to the SUIT template. N.S= Non Significant. MFG=Middle Frontal Gyrus.

Auditory Tone Burst Stimulation versus rest

The results for tone-induced alterations in brain function are presented in table 2.4. Left side tone stimulation (130 dB SPL) mainly activated the right STG. Additionally, it resulted in activation of ipsilateral regions including the left middle frontal and precentral gyrus, left superior and middle temporal gyrus, and left caudate (figure 2.4.a). Left tone stimulation did not result in significant deactivation.

Right side tone stimulation (130 dB SPL) did not result in a significant increase in brain activity compared to rest. However, it deactivated multiple regions including right cuneus, right posterior cingulate, right precuneus, and left insula (figure 2.4.b).

Both sides tone stimulation (90 dB SPL) resulted in activation of multiple regions predominantly in the left hemisphere including the middle temporal gyrus, middle and superior frontal gyri, left inferior parietal lobule, and bilateral activation of the insula (figure 2.4.c). There was a unilateral pattern of deactivation including left parahippocampal gyrus and left temporal lobe sub-gyral (figure 2.4.c).

Table 2. 4 Results of activation and deactivation for left, right, and both sides tone stimulation versus rest.

^{*}significant at FWE. P<.05. Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates x,y,z	Cluster size	t-value	P-value	β (CI)
Left tone (130 dB) versus rest						
activation	Dight Superior Temporal Curue	59 29 12	614	5 10	0.0002	51(+20)
	L aft Middle Frontel Curre	<i>14</i> 26 16	102	5.19	0.0002	$.51(\pm .20)$
	Left Middle Frontal Gyrus	-44, 20, 10	198	4.82	0.0002	$.11(\pm .03)$ 07(± 03)
	Left Superior Temporal Curue	-30, 12, 30	170	4.02	0.0002	$.07(\pm .03)$ 25(+ 11)
	Left Middle Temporal Gyrus	-44, -20, 8	132	4.45 5.70	0.0000	$16(\pm 05)$
	Left Superior Temporal Cyrus	-08, -40, -8	127	1.06	0.0000	$.10(\pm .03)$
	Left Due en utuel Course	-04, -24, 8	44	4.00	0.0008	$.30(\pm .27)$
	Left Precentral Gyrus	-54, -4, 54	17	4.50	0.0008	$.21(\pm .11)$
	Lett Caudate	-18, 16, 12	13	5.54	0.0002	$.06(\pm .02)$
deactivation	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
Right tone (130 dB) versus rest						
activation	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
deactivation						
ucucirrunon	Right Cuneus	4 -68 30	82	5.89	0.0002	13(+.04)
	Right Posterior Cingulate	4 -48 18	40	8 38	0.0002	-07(+01)
	Left Insula	-38 -2 20	19	4 19	0.0002	-05(+02)
	Right Precuneus	16, -48, 42	18	4.18	0.0004	$05(\pm.02)$
	-					
Both sides tone $(90 \ dR)$ versus rest						
activation						
ucini unoni	Left Middle Temporal Gyrus	-70 -14 -18	315	7.67	0.0002*	14(+.05)
	Left Middle Frontal Gyrus	-30 24 58	236	7.14	0.0002*	$15(\pm .04)$
	Left Inferior Parietal Lobule	-52 -52 54	163	6.03	0.0002	$20(\pm 10)$
	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus	-4 28 60	51	6.24	0.0002	$18(\pm 06)$
	Left Insula	-36 8 20	17	5.83	0.0004	04(+01)
	Left Superior Frontal Gyrus	-14 46 30	15	4 74	0.0004	$10(\pm 04)$
	Right insula	36, 10, 20	27	4.47	0.0001	$.09(\pm .04)$

deactivation

Left Parahippocampal Gyrus	-40, -44, 2	17	4.47	0.0004	05(±.03)
Left Temporal Lobe, Sub-Gyral	-42, -40, -6	17	3.53	0.0006	$04(\pm.02)$



Figure 2. 4 Map of brain activation and deactivation for left (a: Left tone > rest (yellow); Left tone < rest (N.S)), right (b: Right tone > rest (N.S); Right tone < rest (blue)), and both sides (c: Both side tone > rest (yellow); Both side tone < rest (blue)) tone stimulation.

The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. STG=Superior Temporal Gyrus, MFG=Middle Frontal Gyrus, MTG=Middle Temporal Gyrus, PHG=Parahippocampal Gyrus.

Conjunction Results

Using conjunction analyses we were able to locate common regions activated by tap and tone stimulation modes (table 2.5). The results showed that left side tap and left side tone stimulations commonly activated the right and left STG (figure 2.5.a), whereas right side tap and right side tone stimulations commonly activated the left STG (figure 2.5.b).

Since the primary contrasts between stimulation modes and rest revealed a potential laterality effect, we conducted additional conjunction analyses to locate possible common regions activated by the two stimulation modes delivered to opposite sides: left side tap and right side tone commonly activated the left STG (figure 2.5.c); whereas right side tap and left side tone commonly activated the left STG, and right STG (figure 2.5.d).

Table 2. 5 Conjunction results for commonly activated regions by tap and tone stimuli.

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI	Cluster	t-value	P-value	β (CI)_tap	β (CI)_tone
		coordinates	size				
		x,y,z					
Left tap & left tone							
	Right Superior Temporal Gyrus	58, -38, 12	39	4.97	0.0001	.48(±.18)	.51(±.20)
	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-48, -34, 20	1101	4.33	0.0001	.32(±.12)	.32(±.16)
Right tan & right tone							
	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-50, -32, 14	48	2.78	0.005	.35(±.14)	.19(±.15)
I oft tan & wight tong							
Leji iup & right ione	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-52 -32 14	238	2 92	0.004	34(+18)	20(+15)
	Right Inferior Parietal Lobule	4848. 50	16	2.26	0.016	$.15(\pm .12)$	$.10(\pm .10)$
		,,	10		0.010	()	
Right tap & left tone							
	Left Insula	-50, -36, 18	1525	4.37	0.0001	.31(±.11)	.33(±.15)
	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-62, -22, 12	1525	3.52		.49(±.28)	.58(±.31)
					0.0010		
	Right Superior Temporal Gyrus	58, -36, 14	1139	4.43	0.0001	.43(±.19)	.55(±.23)
	Left Precentral Gyrus	-54, -4, 54	78	3.51		.18(±.15)	.21(±.11)
					0.0010		

Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).



Figure 2.5 Map of brain regions commonly activated by left tap and left tone stimuli (a), right tap and right tone stimuli (b), left tap and right tone stimuli (c) and right tap and left tone stimuli (d).

The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. STG=Superior Temporal Gyrus.

Correlation between brain activity and balance

The results for correlation between tap-induced brain activity and ellipse area are presented in table 2.6. There was a significant correlation between left side tap-induced brain activity and body sway (in Romberg stance on firm surface, with eyes closed and "yaw" head movement). Greater activation of the left inferior parietal lobule and less deactivation of the left vestibular nucleus were correlated with smaller ellipse area (i.e. less body sway) (figure 2.6.a). The scatterplot of correlation between IPL activity and balance is also included for illustration purposes (figure 2.6.b). Left side tap-induced brain activity was also negatively correlated with

body sway in Romberg stance on firm surface, with eyes closed and "pitch" head movement: less deactivation of left cerebellum (lobule VI & VIIIB), and bilateral vestibular nuclei were correlated with smaller ellipse area (figure 2.6.c). This is further illustrated by a scatterplot to illuminate the direction of correlation (figure 2.6.d).

Table 2. 6 Results of correlations between tap-induced brain activity and ellipse area.

*significant at FWE. P<.05. Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates x,y,z	Cluster size	t-value	P-value	β (CI)
left tap & ellipse area						
(Romberg,eyes closed,yaw)						
positive						
	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
negative						
0	Left Inferior Parietal Lobule	-58, -26, 26	16	8.09	0.0001	.25(±.18)
	Left Vestibular Nucleus	-10, -32, -35	28	4.24	0.0010*	02(±.02)
left tap & ellipse area (Romberg,eyes closed,pitch) positive						
	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
negative						
0	Right Vestibular Nucleus	24, -38, -37	93	6.16	0.0001	09(±.05)
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VI	-36, -44, -31	75	6.07	0.0001	15(±.05)
	Left Vestibular Nucleus	-26, -32, -21	56	5.66	0.0001	13(±.07)
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VIIIB	-2, -61, -35	23	5.13	0.0001	07(±.06)



Figure 2.6 Map of correlation between ellipse area and brain activity induced by left tap.

Left tap correlation with ellipse area in Romberg stance on firm surface, eyes closed, yaw head movement (a); the scatter plot illustrates the correlation between ellipse area and activation in IPL, suggesting that greater activation in IPL was correlated with smaller ellipse area (b); left tap correlation with ellipse area in Romberg stance on firm surface, eyes closed, pitch head movement (c); the scatter plot illustrates the direction of correlation between ellipse area and activation in cerebellar lobule VI, suggesting that less deactivation of cerebellar lobule VI is correlated with smaller ellipse area (d). The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. IPL=Inferior Parietal Lobule.

The results for correlation between tone-induced brain activity and ellipse area are shown in table 2.7. The left side tone-induced brain activity was correlated with balance (in Romberg stance on firm surface, with eyes closed and yaw head movement), as greater activation in right middle temporal gyrus was associated with smaller ellipse area and better balance control (figure 2.7.a). Moreover, higher activation in the right cerebellum (lobule VI), right vestibular nucleus, and left cerebellum (lobule V) during the right side tones was associated with smaller ellipse area during Romberg stance on firm surface, with eyes closed and yaw head movements (figure 2.7.b).

Table 2. 7 Results of correlations between tone-induced brain activity and ellipse area.

*significant at FWE. P<.05. Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates	Cluste r size	t- valu	P-value	β (CI)
		х,у,2		e		
left tone & ellipse area (Romberg,eyes closed,yaw) positive						
r	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
negative						
	Right Middle Temporal Gyrus	56, -62, 6	19	9.65	0.0001	05(±.19)
right tone & ellipse area (Romberg,eyes closed,yaw)						
Positive	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
negative	Right Vestibular Nucleus	22, -36, -23	32	4.19	0.0020*	.02(±.06)
	Left Cerebellar Lobule VI	8, -68, -25 -16, -48, -23	37 17	5.19 5.30	0.0001	$01(\pm.05)$ $02(\pm.07)$



Figure 2.7 Map of correlation between ellipse area and brain activity induced by left and right tone.

Left tone correlation with ellipse area in Romberg stance on firm surface, eyes closed, yaw head movement (a); Right tone correlation with ellipse area in Romberg stance on firm surface, eyes closed, yaw head movement (b). The corresponding t-value

is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. MTG=Middle Temporal Gyrus.

Table 2.8 shows the results for correlation between tone-induced brain activity and balance maintenance time (i.e. time to step out). Greater activation in left inferior temporal gyrus and right cerebellum (lobule VIIB) were associated with longer balance maintenance time in tandem stance on compliant surface with "yaw" head movement (figure 2.8.a&b). Also, greater activation in right cerebellum (Crus II) in response to left tone was associated with longer balance maintenance time in tandem stance on compliant surface with stance on compliant surface with "greater activation" activity and movement (figure 2.8.a&b). Also, greater activation in right cerebellum (Crus II) in response to left tone was associated with longer balance maintenance time in tandem stance on compliant surface with "pitch" head movement (figure 2.8.c).

Table 2. 8 Results of correlations between tone-induced brain activity and balance time.

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates	Cluster size	t-value	P-value	β (CI)
		x,y,z				-
left tone & balance time						
(Tandem on foam, yaw)						
positive						
	Left Inferior Temporal Gyrus	-62, -50, -14	20	7.83	0.0001	.15(±.07)
	Right Cerebellar Lobule VIIB	22, -72, -47	73	5.20	0.0001	.08(±.05)
negative						
0	No suprathreshold voxels were found	l				
I aft tong & halange time						
(Tandem on foam, pitch)						
Positive						
	Right Cerebellar Crus II	14, -82, -33	87	5.18	0.0001	$.04(\pm .03)$
negative						
0	No suprathreshold voxels were found					

Mean beta values (β) are represented with %95 confidence interval (CI).



Figure 2.8 Map of correlation between balance time and brain activity induced by left tone stimulation.

Left tone correlation with balance time in Tandem stance on compliant surface, eyes open, yaw head movement (a); the scatter plot illustrates the correlation between balance time and activation in ITG suggesting that greater activation of ITG is correlated with lengthier balance time (b); left tone correlation with balance time in Tandem stance on compliant surface, eyes open, pitch head movement (c). The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. ITG=Inferior Temporal gyrus.

Left tap versus Right tap

No suprathreshold voxels showed a significant difference between left and right side taps (table 2.9).

Left tone versus Right tone

Right tone resulted in greater activation of the right temporal lobe sub-gyral and left postcentral gyrus than left side tone stimulation (table 2.9, figure 2.9.a).

Left tone versus both sides tone

There was greater activation of left STG with tone stimulation delivered to both sides at 90 dB SPL than to the left side at 130 dB SPL (table 2.9, figure 2.9.b).

Right tone versus both sides tone

There was greater activation of bilateral superior temporal gyri, right precuneus, and right anterior cingulate gyrus with tone stimulation delivered to both sides at 90 dB SPL than to the right side at 130 dB SPL (table 2.9, figure 2.9.c).

Table 2.9 Results of comparison between left and right side brain activity elicited by tap and tone stimuli.

*significant at FWI	E. P<.05. Mear	beta values (f	3) are represented	with %95	confidence	interval (CI).
---------------------	----------------	----------------	--------------------	----------	------------	----------------

t-contrast	Brain region	MNI coordinates x,y,z	Cluster size	t- value	P- value	β (CI)
Left tap versus right tap left tap > right tap						
	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
left tap < right tap	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
Left tone versus right tone left tone > right tone	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
left tone < right tone	Left Postcentral Gyrus Right Temporal Lobe, Sub-Gyral	-62, -22, 14 42, -24, 0	33 23	6.56 6.21	0.0001 0.0001	.38(±.28) .18(±.15)
Left tone versus both sides tone left tone > both tone	No suprathreshold voxels were found					
<i>left tone < both tone</i>	Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-42, -40, 10	20	7.52	0.0001	.05(±.06)

Right tone versus both sides tone

right tone >both tone

No suprathreshold voxels were found

right tone< both tone

Right Anterior Cingulate	8, 12, 26	15	7.94	0.0001	.005(±.03)
Right Precuneus	12, -68, 44	23	6.89	0.0001	04(±.10)
Right Superior Temporal Gyrus	64,-18,-0	51	6.30	0.0001	.06(±.12)
Left Superior Temporal Gyrus	-62, -24, 8	41	5.65	0.0001	.20(±.21)



Figure 2.9 Map of comparison between brain activity elicited by right versus left side tone

(a: Left tone > Right tone (N.S); Left tone < Right tone (green)), left versus both sides tone (b: Left tone > Both side tone (N.S); Left tone < Both side tone (green)), and right versus both sides tone (c: Right tone > Both side tone (N.S); Right tone < Both side tone (green)). The corresponding t-value is presented next to each figure. Left and right sides refer to the left and right sides of the brain, respectively. N.S= Non Significant. PCG=Post Central Gyrus, STG=Superior Temporal Gyrus.

Skull tap versus auditory tone burst stimulation: subjects' perceptions

The majority of subjects found the auditory tone bursts loud and unpleasant. One subject withdrew from the study specifically due to the loudness of the auditory tone bursts. Although we provided padding around the ears to help muffle the scanner noise, the fact that subjects did not have the benefit of earplugs while wearing the headphones inside the scanner was an additional source of discomfort for auditory trials. In some cases subjects had a hard time discerning the auditory tone bursts from the scanner noise, whereas every single subject reported feeling the taps. Subjects reported no discomfort with the skull tap stimulation.

vi. Discussion

Here we provide the first evidence of using skull taps to elicit vestibular fMRI activity. Conjunction analyses revealed that skull taps elicit overlapping activation patterns with auditory tone bursts (i.e. superior temporal gyrus), and both modes of stimulation activate previously identified regions of the vestibular network (Kirsch et al., 2015; C Lopez et al., 2012; zu Eulenburg et al., 2012). Additionally, we found that skull taps elicit more robust activity compared to auditory tone bursts, with brain activation from taps frequently surviving family-wise error corrections. The taps were also better tolerated by subjects than the auditory tones, further supporting their potential use in future clinical and basic science research.

We also provided evidence that individual differences in amplitude of activation and deactivation in vestibular regions in response to vestibular stimulation are associated with better balance and postural control. To our knowledge, the correlation of vestibular brain activity with balance has been addressed only in a few recent fNIRS studies (Huppert, Schmidt, Beluk, Furman, & Sparto, 2013; H. Karim et al., 2012). We showed that not only the quality of balance (indicated by the amount of body sway) but also the ability to maintain balance for a longer time (indicated by the balance time) depends on individuals' brain activation levels, particularly in vestibular cortical regions and the vestibular nuclei. Thus, vestibular brain activity could potentially serve as a predictor of individual differences in susceptibility to falling, and could further be used to index neuroplasticity occurring with balance interventions.

Vestibular cortex response elicited by skull taps and auditory tone bursts

Although there were some discrepancies between the activation patterns elicited by the auditory tone burst versus the skull-tap, these weighed in favor of the skull-tap method being a more specific way of stimulating the vestibular network. While skull tap resulted in consistent activation of the right superior temporal gyrus (STG) and the bilateral insula—areas identified in meta analyses of vestibular cortical activity (Lopez et al., 2012; Eulenburg et al., 2012)—the left side auditory tone burst stimulation only activated the right STG. Right side auditory stimulation did not elicit any significant activation. Moreover, the left side auditory tone burst resulted in a less vestibular-specific activity pattern, activating somatosensory cortices, the frontal gyrus and the precentral gyrus. This could be partly related to the noisier processing of auditory tone bursts over the scanner noise. Considering that subjects had to wear the headphones instead of earplugs inside the scanner the tones could have been difficult to detect. Also, the potential aversive effects of high decibel stimulation could be another source of inconsistency in tone-induced responses.

Interestingly, the skull tap predominantly deactivated the cerebellar lobules VI and VIIIA, along with cortical regions involved in somatosensory processing (e.g. frontal and parietal cortices) and subcortical regions such as thalamus, which relays information between vestibular nuclei and cortex. This may reflect a shift in attention towards vestibular processing and away from other sensory modalities. Similar deactivation of somatosensory and visual cortices has also been reported during vestibular stimulation by Schlindwein et al. (Schlindwein et al., 2008). Skull tap also resulted in deactivation of the contralateral vestibular nucleus, which replicates a known inhibitory projection reported in the animal literature (Shimazu & Precht, 1966) and recently documented in human subjects with diffusion tractography MRI (Kirsch et al., 2015). Also, the deactivation of vestibular nuclei has shown to be related to resolving state estimation errors. Brooks et al. (Brooks, Carriot, & Cullen, 2015) have shown that when there is a mismatch between predicted and actual sensory consequences, the fastigial nuclei's projection to vestibular neurons activates reflex pathways to maintain postural control. However, both the fastigial and vestibular nuclei are generally suppressed during voluntary movement in which efference copy is

used to suppress state estimation errors. In our case, we delivered vestibular stimulation in the absence of movement, potentially resulting in sensory conflict. Our finding of less deactivation of vestibular nuclei being correlated with better balance could therefore suggest that a better ability to maintain balance is associated with being better able to resolve prediction errors.

We also found that balance abilities correlated with activation in cerebellar lobules V, VI, and VIII, but only for balance tasks that were performed with eyes closed (i.e. more vestibular reliant). Similar cerebellar regions have also been activated in previous studies using different modes of vestibular stimulation; for instance, auditory short tone burst (Schlindwein et al., 2008) and galvanic vestibular stimulation (Stephan et al., 2005) altered the activation of cerebellar lobules VI, VIIIB, Crus I, Crus II, and the dentate nucleus.

Laterality effects of stimulation modes

We compared the brain activation pattern elicited by left versus right side stimulation for both auditory tone bursts and skull taps. There are some inconsistencies in the literature regarding the laterality of VEMPs. Although these inconsistencies can be partly explained considering the location of VEMP responses (i.e. oVEMPs show the vestibular processing in crossed otolithocular pathways, whereas cVEMP reflects the function of uncrossed otolith-spinal pathways (Iwasaki et al., 2007)) and different electrode setups (Ertl et al., 2015), different modes of stimulation have shown to be the main driving factor for different patterns of laterality in VEMPs. We observed that skull tap stimulation resulted in bilateral vestibular cortical activation regardless of the side of stimulation, but specific contralateral deactivation of the vestibular nucleus. Brantberg and colleagues also showed that skull taps elicit bilateral cVEMPs, with a net excitatory response on the ipsilateral side (Krister Brantberg & Tribukait, 2002) and a net inhibitory on the contralateral side (Krister Brantberg et al., 2009). Our finding that skull tap prominently deactivated the contralateral vestibular nucleus is compatible with this previously reported pattern of cVEMPs. Brantberg et al. (2009) suggested that skull taps induce this bilateral response possibly through vibration (more ipsilateral) and translation (more contralateral) mechanisms (Krister Brantberg et al., 2009). The bilaterality of tap-induced

cVEMPs is independent of recording location (Krister Brantberg et al., 2009) and it has been confirmed by oVEMP measurements as well (Holmeslet, Westin, & Brantberg, 2011).

As for the auditory tone bursts, our results support a laterality of vestibular processing. Murofushi and colleagues found a dominant ipsilateral cVEMP using short tone bursts and auditory clicks (Murofushi, Ochiai, Ozeki, & Iwasaki, 2004). Likewise, Schlindwein et al. reported a laterality effect using short tone bursts and acoustic stimuli in an fMRI experiment: while the overall brain activation pattern was bilateral, tone burst-induced vestibular processing was predominantly ipsilateral and in the right hemisphere, whereas the lower decibel acoustic stimulus resulted in a contralateral response, more on the left hemisphere (Schlindwein et al., 2008). Our findings also showed a left hemispheric activation pattern resulting from lower decibel acoustic stimulation (table 3: both sides tone, 90 dB versus rest). However, our results for tone-induced brain activated the ipsilateral hemisphere (table 3: left tone 130 dB versus rest), the right tone predominantly deactivated the ipsilateral hemisphere (table 3: right tone 130 dB versus rest). Nevertheless, our results support that auditory tone bursts results in a lateralized vestibular evoked response.

The conjunction analyses also revealed a laterality effect of auditory tone burst stimulation; the commonly activated regions by left side tap and left side tone were bilateral STG, and the commonly activated region by right side tap and right side tone was left STG. The further confirmation for the laterality effects came from the results of conjunction between the two stimulation modes in opposite sides: The commonly activated region by left side tap and right side tone was the left STG; whereas the right side tap and left side tone commonly activated the right STG and left insula. The opposite hemispheric effect seems to be mainly related to right auditory tone bursts, because skull taps elicited bilateral vestibular activation and left auditory tone bursts also evoked weak bilateral responses. One possible mechanism could be that tap-induced vibration engages different pathways to travel within the vestibular system than auditory tone bursts (e.g. the vibration caused by skull taps impacts utricular and saccular pathways, whereas tone bursts primarily engage the saccular structure (Holmeslet et al., 2011)).

Correlation between vestibular cortex activity and balance

We observed a correlation between individual differences in balance control and brain activity elicited by both modes of stimulation; however, the correlation predominantly emerged with left side stimulation. This finding could potentially be related to the right hemispheric dominance of vestibular processing (M. Dieterich, 2003; Janzen et al., 2008b). The correlation results suggested that those who exhibited greater vestibular activation in response to left side stimulation (either by skull taps or auditory tone bursts) had better balance control (i.e. less amount of body sway and longer balance stability).

Although balance performance reflects a multisensory integration of visual, vestibular, and proprioceptive signals, we enforced greater reliance on vestibular processing by removing visual input and adding head movements. Thus performance in these tasks mainly represents vestibularly mediated balance control, which we found to be correlated with vestibular brain activity.

The balance time correlation was only evident with auditory tone burst stimulation, and not the skull taps. More specifically, the positive correlation between cerebellar activity and balance time emerged in lobule VIIB and Crus II, which have been previously linked to spatial processing (Stoodley, Valera, & Schmahmann, 2012). One potential reason for the correlation between balance maintenance time and tone stimulation, but not tap stimulation, could be related to the choice of balance task as the covariate. As explained in the results section, we used "tandem stance on compliant surface with yaw/pitch head movement" to assess the balance time correlation with vestibular activity. In this task the visual input was not removed; therefore, there was less dependency on vestibular function compared to "Romberg stance with eyes closed and yaw/pitch head movement", in which there was no visual input. As discussed earlier, our findings suggest that skull taps elicit a more vestibular-specific activation compared to auditory tone bursts. This could potentially explain why brain activation elicited by skull tap was correlated with balance when performance was more vestibularly mediated (i.e. performed with eyes closed); but it failed to show any correlation with balance when the balance performance was less reliant on vestibular inputs (i.e. performed with eyes open).

Overall, these correlations suggest that those with greater vestibular cortex excitability or more efficient transmission within vestibular networks have better balance control. Although the left and right vestibular nuclei were the only clusters surviving the family-wise error correction (FEW) for multiple comparisons in correlation analyses, the remaining clusters fit the previously identified vestibular network in studies of balance assessment in upright stance using fNIRS (Karim et al., 2013). This provides further validation for associating upright balance performance with vestibular activity elicited in a supine position.

Validity of vestibular evoked activation inside scanner

We included the oVEMP assessments to address the validity of our stimulation inside the scanner. Our findings showed that subjects exhibited typical oVEMP characteristics in response to the skull tap and auditory tone burst stimulation outside the scanner. This supports the notion that the brain activation elicited by the same stimulation modes inside the scanner can be interpreted as vestibular signal processing.

Subjective comfort

Based on the anecdotal reports in our sample of 14 subjects, the MR compatible skull tap is well tolerated inside the scanner, whereas auditory tone bursts cause discomfort and distress, similar to what has been previously reported (Wackym et al., 2012). Therefore, using the skull tap stimulation minimizes the potential artifacts of aversive brain activation elicited by auditory tone bursts.

Limitations

The skull taps are perceived by subjects on the facial skin, which could result in somatosensory processing. We did not observe activation in the somatosensory cortex during taps, however; instead the responses were predominately in regions that have been previously linked to
vestibular processing. Nevertheless, future studies would benefit from implementing a tactile stimulation control condition.

vii. Conclusion

In sum, we found that the skull tap stimulation results in activation of canonical vestibular cortex as well as cerebellar and brainstem regions known to process vestibular inputs. This supports the skull tap as an effective method for studying human vestibular processing, especially in otolithic pathology. This is of high importance in longitudinal experiments, in which subjects' comfort is essential for minimizing the aversive effects and maintaining enrollment. Further, we provided evidence of the association between quantitative measures of balance control and vestibular brain activation.

Acknowledgements

We thank Tina Wu for her assistance with data collection. This work was supported by grants from the National Space Biomedical Research Institute (NASA NCC 9-58) and NASA (NNX11AR02G).

viii. References

- Akin, F. W., Murnane, O. D., & Proffitt, T. M. (2003). The Effects of Click and Tone-Burst Stimulus Parameters on the Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potential (VEMP). *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 14(9), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.14.9.5
- Allen, D., Ribeiro, L., Arshad, Q., & Seemungal, B. M. (2016). Age-Related Vestibular Loss: Current Understanding and Future Research Directions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00231
- Allison, L. K., Kiemel, T., & Jeka, J. J. (2006). Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 342– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0559-7
- Angelaki, D. E., & Perachio, A. A. (1993). Contribution of irregular semicircular canal afferents to the horizontal vestibuloocular response during constant velocity rotation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3).
- Anson, E., Bigelow, R. T., Swenor, B., Deshpande, N., Studenski, S., Jeka, J. J., & Agrawal, Y. (2017). Loss of Peripheral Sensory Function Explains Much of the Increase in Postural Sway in Healthy Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 202. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00202
- Arshad, Q., Nigmatullina, Y., Roberts, R. E., Bhrugubanda, V., Asavarut, P., & Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Left cathodal trans-cranial direct current stimulation of the parietal cortex leads to an asymmetrical modulation of the vestibular-ocular reflex. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.002
- Baloh, R. W., Enrietto, J., Jacobson, K. M., & Lin, A. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Vestibular Function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Bao, T., Carender, W. J., Kinnaird, C., Barone, V. J., Peethambaran, G., Whitney, S. L., ... Sienko, K. H. (2018). Effects of long-term balance training with vibrotactile sensory augmentation among community-dwelling healthy older adults: a randomized preliminary study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 15(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-017-0339-6
- Barrett, M. M., Kenny, R. A., Maguinness, C., Setti, A., Doheny, E. P., Foran, T. G., & Newell, F. N. (2013). Reduced Vision Selectively Impairs Spatial Updating in Fall-prone Older Adults. *Multisensory Research*, 26(1–2), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1163/22134808-00002412
- Benjuya, N., Melzer, I., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(2), 166–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14999032
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (n.d.). Multisensory Cortical Signal Increases and Decreases During Vestibular Galvanic Stimulation (fMRI). Retrieved from https://www.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.2001.85.2.886
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2001). Multisensory cortical signal increases and decreases during vestibular galvanic stimulation (fMRI). J *Neurophysiol*, 85(2), 886–899. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160520

Bent, L. R., McFadyen, B. J., & Inglis, J. T. (2002). Visual-vestibular interactions in postural

control during the execution of a dynamic task. *Experimental Brain Research*, *146*(4), 490–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1204-8

- Bernard, J. A., Peltier, S. J., Wiggins, J. L., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Fling, B. W., ... Seidler, R. D. (2013). Disrupted cortico-cerebellar connectivity in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 83, 103–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.042
- Bernard, J. a, & Seidler, R. D. (2012). Evidence for motor cortex dedifferentiation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1890–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.021
- Bigelow, R. T., & Agrawal, Y. (2015, June 2). Vestibular involvement in cognition: Visuospatial ability, attention, executive function, and memory. *Journal of Vestibular Research*. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150544
- Bird, M.-L., Pittaway, J. K., Cuisick, I., Rattray, M., & Ahuja, K. D. K. (2013). Age-related changes in physical fall risk factors: results from a 3 year follow-up of community dwelling older adults in Tasmania, Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5989–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115989
- Bloem, B. R., Grimbergen, Y. A. M., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2001). Prospective assessment of falls in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(11), 950– 958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170047
- Bolmont, B., Gangloff, P., Vouriot, A., & Perrin, P. P. (2002). Mood states and anxiety influence abilities to maintain balance control in healthy human subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00578-5
- Bottini, G., Karnath, H. O., Vallar, G., Sterzi, R., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Paulesu, E. (2001). Cerebral representations for egocentric space: Functional-anatomical evidence from caloric vestibular stimulation and neck vibration. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, 124(Pt 6), 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.6.1182
- Brandt, T., Bartenstein, P., Janek, A., & Dieterich, M. (1998). Reciprocal inhibitory visualvestibular interaction. Visual motion stimulation deactivates the parieto-insular vestibular cortex. *Brain*, 121(9), 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1749
- Brandt, T., Schautzer, F., Hamilton, D. A., Brüning, R., Markowitsch, H. J., Kalla, R., ... Strupp, M. (2005). Vestibular loss causes hippocampal atrophy and impaired spatial memory in humans. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *128*(Pt 11), 2732–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh617
- Brantberg, K., & Fransson, P. a. (2001). Symmetry measures of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials using objective detection criteria. *Scandinavian Audiology*, *30*(3), 189–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/010503901316914566
- Brantberg, K., & Tribukait, A. (2002). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to laterally directed skull taps. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 12(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12515890
- Brantberg, K., Westin, M., Löfqvist, L., Verrecchia, L., & Tribukait, A. (2009). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to lateral skull taps are dependent on two different mechanisms. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(5), 974–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.03.008
- Brocklehurst, J. C., Robertson, D., & James-Groom, P. (1982). Clinical correlates of sway in old age-sensory modalities. *Age and Ageing*, 1–10.
- Brooks, J. X., Carriot, J., & Cullen, K. E. (2015). Learning to expect the unexpected: rapid updating in primate cerebellum during voluntary self-motion. *Nat Neurosci*, *18*(9), 1310–

1317. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.4077

- BSPMVIEW | bspmview. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://www.bobspunt.com/bspmview/
- Bürki, C. N., Bridenbaugh, S. A., Reinhardt, J., Stippich, C., Kressig, R. W., & Blatow, M. (2017). Imaging gait analysis: An fMRI dual task study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.724
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1394–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414279
- Cai, J., Lee, S., Ba, F., Garg, S., Kim, L. J., Liu, A., ... McKeown, M. J. (2018). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS) Augments Deficient Pedunculopontine Nucleus (PPN) Connectivity in Mild Parkinson's Disease: fMRI Effects of Different Stimuli. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00101
- Callan, D. E., Falcone, B., Wada, A., & Parasuraman, R. (2016). Simultaneous tDCS-fMRI Identifies Resting State Networks Correlated with Visual Search Enhancement. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00072
- Capps, M. J., Preciado, M. C., Paparella, M. M., & Hoppe, W. E. (1973). Capps_et_al-1973-The_Laryngoscope (1).pdf. *The Laryngoscope*.
- Carp, J., Gmeindl, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2010). Age differences in the neural representation of working memory revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(217), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00217
- Carp, J., Park, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2011). Age-related neural dedifferentiation in the motor system. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029411
- Carp, J., Park, J., Polk, T. A., & Park, D. C. (2011). Age differences in neural distinctiveness revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, *56*(2), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.267
- Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Passingham, R. E., Warner, T., Playford, E. D., Marsden, C. D., & Brooks, D. J. (1995). Overactive prefrontal and underactive motor cortical areas in idiopathic dystonia. *Annals of Neurology*, *37*(3), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410370313
- Center for Didease Control & Prevention. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html
- Chen, G., Taylor, P. A., & Cox, R. W. (2016). Is the Statistic Value All We Should Care about in Neuroimaging? *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/064212
- Chihara, Y., Iwasaki, S., Ushio, M., Fujimoto, C., Kashio, A., Kondo, K., ... Murofushi, T. (2009). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (oVEMPs) require extraocular muscles but not facial or cochlear nerve activity. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(3), 581–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.12.030
- Chun-Ju Chang, C.-J., Yu-Shin Chang, Y.-S., & Sai-Wei Yang, S.-W. (2013). Using single leg standing time to predict the fall risk in elderly. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (Vol. 2013, pp. 7456–7458). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6611282
- Colebatch, J. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Skuse, N. F. (1994). Myogenic potentials generated by a click-evoked vestibulocollic reflex. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*,

190-197.

- Cornell, E. D., Burgess, A. M., MacDougall, H. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2009). Vertical and horizontal eye movement responses to unilateral and bilateral bone conducted vibration to the mastoid. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, *19*(1,2), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-2009-0338
- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are Older Adults Less Embodied? A Review of Age Effects through the Lens of Embodied Cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cousins, S., Cutfield, N. J., Kaski, D., Palla, A., Seemungal, B. M., Golding, J. F., ... Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Visual dependency and dizziness after vestibular neuritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105426
- Cullen, K. E. (2012). The vestibular system: Multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *35*(3), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.12.001
- Cummiford, C. M., Nascimento, T. D., Foerster, B. R., Clauw, D. J., Zubieta, J.-K., Harris, R. E., & DaSilva, A. F. (2016). Changes in resting state functional connectivity after repetitive transcranial direct current stimulation applied to motor cortex in fibromyalgia patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 18(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0934-0
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006a). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, *175*(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006b). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, *175*(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Manzari, L., Smulders, Y. E., & Burgess, A. M. (2009). A review of the scientific basis and practical application of a new test of utricular function--ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials to bone-conducted vibration. Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale, 29(4), 179–86. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2816364&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., Burgess, A. M., Cornell, E. D., Mezey, L. E., Macdougall, H. G., ... Mcgarvie, L. A. (2011). The basis for using bone-conducted vibration or air-conducted sound to test otolithic function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1233(1), 231– 241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06147.x
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., & Manzari, L. (2012). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) to test utricular function: neural and oculomotor evidence. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 32(1), 41–5. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC3324959/?report=abstract
- Cyran, C. A. M., Boegle, R., Stephan, T., Dieterich, M., & Glasauer, S. (2016). Age-related decline in functional connectivity of the vestibular cortical network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1443–1463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0983-6
- Day, B. L., Ramsay, E., Welgampola, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, R. C. (2011). The human semicircular canal model of galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3–4), 561–568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2565-7

- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002a). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002b). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030

Diedrichsen, J. (2006). A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, 33(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056

- Diedrichsen, J., Balsters, J. H., Flavell, J., Cussans, E., & Ramnani, N. (2009). A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, *46*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045
- Diedrichsen, J., Maderwald, S., Küper, M., Thürling, M., Rabe, K., Gizewski, E. R., ... Timmann, D. (2011). Imaging the deep cerebellar nuclei: a probabilistic atlas and normalization procedure. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1786–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.035
- Diedrichsen, J., & Zotow, E. (2015). Surface-Based Display of Volume-Averaged Cerebellar Imaging Data. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Diener, H.-C., & Dichgans, J. (1988). Vestibulospinal Control of Posture and Locomotion. Progress in Brain Research (Vol. 76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)64512-4
- Dieterich, M. (2003). Dominance for Vestibular Cortical Function in the Non-dominant Hemisphere. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.9.994
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. *Brain*, *131*(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *J Neurosci*, 30(18), 6409–6421. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R., & Zilles, K. (2006). Identifying human parieto-insular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27(7), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20205
- Eldaief, M. C., Halko, M. A., Buckner, R. L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Transcranial magnetic stimulation modulates the brain's intrinsic activity in a frequency-dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(52), 21229–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113103109
- Emri, M., Kisely, M., Lengyel, Z., Balkay, L., Márián, T., Mikó, L., ... Tóth, A. (2003). Cortical projection of peripheral vestibular signaling. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(5), 2639– 2646. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00599.2002
- Enticott, J. C., Tari, S., Koh, S. M., Dowell, R. C., & Leary, S. J. O. (2006). Cochlear Implant and Vestibular Function, (3), 824–830.
- Ertl, M., Kirsch, V., Gerb, J., Boegle, R., Krafczyk, S., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Appraisal of the signal-to-noise-ratio of uni- and bipolar recordings of ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 25(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150545
- Eyler, L. T., Sherzai, A., Kaup, A. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2011). A review of functional brain imaging correlates of successful cognitive aging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(2), 115–122.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.032

- Fasold, O., von Brevern, M., Kuhberg, M., Ploner, C. J., Villringer, A., Lempert, T., & Wenzel, R. (2002). Human Vestibular Cortex as Identified with Caloric Stimulation in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 17(3), 1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1241
- Ferber-Viart, C., Dubreuil, C., & Duclaux, R. (1999). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in humans: a review. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*.
- Ferrè, E. R., Day, B. L., Bottini, G., & Haggard, P. (2013). How the vestibular system interacts with somatosensory perception: A sham-controlled study with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 550, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.06.046
- Fife, T. D., Tusa, R. J., Furman, J. M., Zee, D. S., Frohman, E., Baloh, R. W., ... Eviatar, L. (2000). Assessment: Vestibular testing techniques in adults and children. *Neurology*, 55, 1431–1441.
- Franchignoni, F., Tesio, L., Martino, M. T., & Ricupero, C. (1998). Reliability of four simple, quantitative tests of balance and mobility in healthy elderly females. *Aging (Milan, Italy)*, 10(1), 26–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9589748
- Frank, S. M., & Greenlee, M. W. (2014). An MRI-compatible caloric stimulation device for the investigation of human vestibular cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 235, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.07.008
- FreeSurferMethodsCitation Free Surfer Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/fswiki/FreeSurferMethodsCitation
- Friston, K. J., Ashburner, J., Frith, C. D., Poline, J.-B., Heather, J. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (1995). Spatial registration and normalization of images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 3(3), 165– 189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460030303
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Price, C. J., Büchel, C., & Worsley, K. J. (1999). Multisubject fMRI studies and conjunction analyses. *NeuroImage*, 10(4), 385–96. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0484
- Furman, J. M., & Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of aging on the otolith-ocular reflex. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Gentine, A., Eichhorn, J.-L., Kopp, C., & Conraux, C. (1990). Modelling the action of caloric stimulation of the vestibule: *I. The Hydrostatic Model. Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *110*(5–6), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489009107451
- Glover, G. H., Li, T. Q., & Ress, D. (2000). Image-based method for retrospective correction of physiological motion effects in fMRI: RETROICOR. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(1), 162–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893535
- Goble, D. J., Coxon, J. P., Van Impe, a., Geurts, M., Doumas, M., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2011). Brain Activity during Ankle Proprioceptive Stimulation Predicts Balance Performance in Young and Older Adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(45), 16344–16352. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4159-11.2011
- Goldberg, J. M., Smith, C. E., & Fernandez, C. (1984). Relation between discharge regularity and responses to externally applied galvanic currents in vestibular nerve afferents of the squirrel monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *51*(6).
- Goldberg, J. M., Wilson, V. J., Cullen, K. E., Angelaki, D. E., Broussard, D. M., Buttner-Ennever, J., ... Minor, L. B. (2012). *The Vestibular System: A Sixth Sense*. Oxford University Press.
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Wang, L. E., Dafotakis, M., Eickhoff, S. B., & Fink, G. R. (2010).

Modulating cortical connectivity in stroke patients by rTMS assessed with fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.029

- Guidetti, G. (2013). The role of cognitive processes in vestibular disorders. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, *11*(S1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.3109/21695717.2013.765085
- Guldin, W. O., & Grüsser, O. J. (1998). Is there a vestibular cortex? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(6), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01211-3
- Gurvich, C., Maller, J. J., Lithgow, B., Haghgooie, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2013). Vestibular insights into cognition and psychiatry. *Brain Research*, *1537*, 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.058
- Haxby, J. V, Gobbini, M. I., Furey, M. L., Ishai, A., Schouten, J. L., & Pietrini, P. (2001). Distributed and Overlapping Representations of Faces and Objects in Ventral Temporal Cortex. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7549/e383e527ebcebb131edd57fcb08874d5d77a.pdf

- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., & Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron*, 68(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Hesselmann, V., Zaro Weber, O., Wedekind, C., Krings, T., Schulte, O., Kugel, H., ... Lackner, K. J. (2001). Age related signal decrease in functional magnetic resonance imaging during motor stimulation in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 308(3), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01920-6
- Heuninckx, S., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2008). Systems Neuroplasticity in the Aging Brain: Recruiting Additional Neural Resources for Successful Motor Performance in Elderly Persons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3300-07.2008
- Hitier, M., Besnard, S., & Smith, P. F. (2014). Vestibular pathways involved in cognition. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, *8*, 59. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00059
- Holmeslet, B., Westin, M., & Brantberg, K. (2011). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: skull taps can cause a stimulus direction dependent double-peak. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(2), 391–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.06.020
- Horacek, J., Brunovsky, M., Novak, T., Skrdlantova, L., Klirova, M., Bubenikova-Valesova, V.,
 … Höschl, C. (2007). Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology*, 55(3–4), 132–42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106055
- Huang, S.-L., Hsieh, C.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Lu, W.-S. (2011). Minimal Detectable Change of the Timed "Up & amp; Go" Test and the Dynamic Gait Index in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090126
- Huppert, T., Schmidt, B., Beluk, N., Furman, J., & Sparto, P. (2013). Measurement of brain activation during an upright stepping reaction task using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(11), 2817–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22106
- Impe, A. Van, Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Doumas, M., & Swinnen, S. P. (2012). White matter fractional anisotropy predicts balance performance in older adults. *NBA*, 33(9), 1900–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.013
- Indovina, I. (2005). Representation of Visual Gravitational Motion in the Human Vestibular

Cortex. Science, 308(5720), 416-419. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107961

- Inukai, Y., Saito, K., Sasaki, R., Kotan, S., Nakagawa, M., & Onishi, H. (2016). Influence of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to the Cerebellum on Standing Posture Control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00325
- Israel, I., Bronstein, A. M., Kanayama, R., Faldon, M., & Gresty, M. A. (1996). Visual and vestibular factors influencing vestibular ?navigation? *Experimental Brain Research*, 112(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00227947
- Iwasaki, S., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Burgess, A. M., Kim, J., Colebatch, J. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2007). Head taps evoke a crossed vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neurology*, 68(15), 1227–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000259064.80564.21
- Iwasaki, S., Smulders, Y. E., Burgess, A. M., McGarvie, L. A., Macdougall, H. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Curthoys, I. S. (2008). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to bone conducted vibration of the midline forehead at Fz in healthy subjects. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 119(9), 2135–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.05.028
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008a). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008b). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Jayakaran, P., Johnson, G. M., & Sullivan, S. J. (2013). Concurrent validity of the Sensory Organization Test measures in unilateral transtibial amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, *37*(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309364612448391
- Jeka, J. J., Allison, L. K., & Kiemel, T. (2010). The Dynamics of Visual Reweighting in Healthy and Fall-Prone Older Adults. *Journal of Motor Behavior*.
- Jones, P. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. *Brain*.
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Motes, M. A., Rypma, B., & Biswal, B. B. (2010). Neural and vascular variability and the fMRI-BOLD response in normal aging. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 28(4), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2009.12.007
- Karim, H., Fuhrman, S. I., Sparto, P., Furman, J., & Huppert, T. (2013). Functional brain imaging of multi-sensory vestibular processing during computerized dynamic posturography using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 74, 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.010
- Karim, H., Schmidt, B., Dart, D., Beluk, N., & Huppert, T. (2012). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) of brain function during active balancing using a video game system. *Gait & Posture*, 35(3), 367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.10.007
- Karim, H. T., Fuhrman, S. I., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2013). Neuroimaging to detect cortical projection of vestibular response to caloric stimulation in young and older adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). *NeuroImage*, 76, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.061
- Karim, H. T., Sparto, P. J., Aizenstein, H. J., Furman, J. M., Huppert, T. J., Erickson, K. I., & Loughlin, P. J. (2014). Functional MR imaging of a simulated balance task. *Brain Research*,

1555, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.033

- Keeser, D., Meindl, T., Bor, J., Palm, U., Pogarell, O., Mulert, C., ... Padberg, F. (2011). Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Changes Connectivity of Resting-State Networks during fMRI. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(43), 15284–15293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2016). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kong, J., Gollub, R. L., Webb, J. M., Kong, J. T., Vangel, M. G., & Kwong, K. (2007). Testretest study of fMRI signal change evoked by electroacupuncture stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 34(3), 1171–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.019
- Kunze, T., Hunold, A., Haueisen, J., Jirsa, V., & Spiegler, A. (2016). Transcranial direct current stimulation changes resting state functional connectivity: A large-scale brain network modeling study. *NeuroImage*, *140*, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.015
- Kyriakareli, A., Cousins, S., Pettorossi, V. E., & Bronstein, A. M. (2013). Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on vestibular-ocular and vestibulo-perceptual thresholds. *Neuroreport*, 24(14), 808–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283646e65
- L. Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, *38*(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001
- Langan, J., Peltier, S. J., Bo, J., Fling, B. W., Welsh, R. C., & Seidler, R. D. (2010). Functional implications of age differences in motor system connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00017
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002a). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002b). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Lee, B.-C., Kim, J., Chen, S., & Sienko, K. H. (2012). Cell phone based balance trainer. *Journal* of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 9, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-10
- Li, H. J., Hou, X. H., Liu, H. H., Yue, C. L., Lu, G. M., & Zuo, X. N. (2015). Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 57(16), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013
- Lin, C.-C., Barker, J. W., Sparto, P. J., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2017). Functional nearinfrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8
- Lobel, E., Bihan, D. Le, Berthoz, A., & Cnrs, C. D. F. (1996). Searching for the vestibular cortex with functional M R I, (2).

Lobel, E., Kleine, J. F., Bihan, D. Le, Leroy-Willig, A., & Berthoz, A. (1998). Functional MRI of Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, 80(5), 2699–2709. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/80/5/2699.short

Lopez, C., & Blanke, O. (2011). The thalamocortical vestibular system in animals and humans. *Brain Research Reviews*, 67(1–2), 119–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.12.002

Lopez, C., Blanke, O., & Mast, F. W. (2012). The human vestibular cortex revealed by coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*, 212, 159–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.028

Lopez, C., Schreyer, H. M., Preuss, N., & Mast, F. W. (2012). Vestibular stimulation modifies the body schema. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1830–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.008

Lopez, I., Honrubia, V., & Baloh, R. W. (1997). Aging and the Human Vestibular Nucleus. Journal of Vestibular Research.

- Lord, S. R., & Ward, J. a. (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing*, 23(6), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/23.6.452
- Macaluso, E. (2006). Multisensory processing in sensory-specific cortical areas. The Neuroscientist : A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 12(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287908
- Maki, B. E., Holliday, P. J., & Topper, A. K. (1994). A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(2), M72-84. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126355
- Mancini, M., & Horak, F. B. (2010). The relevance of clinical balance assessment tools to differentiate balance deficits. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(2), 239–48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485226
- Marcelli, V., Esposito, F., Aragri, A., Furia, T., Riccardi, P., Tosetti, M., ... Di Salle, F. (2009). Spatio-temporal pattern of vestibular information processing after brief caloric stimulation. *European Journal of Radiology*, 70(2), 312–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.01.042
- Mast, F. W., Preuss, N., Hartmann, M., & Grabherr, L. (2014). Spatial cognition, body representation and affective processes: the role of vestibular information beyond ocular reflexes and control of posture. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 8(July), 44. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00044
- Matheson, A. J., Darlington, C. L., & Smith, P. F. (1999). Dizziness in the Elderly and Agerelated Degeneration of the Vestibular System. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*.
- Matsuda, P. N., Taylor, C. S., & Shumway-Cook, A. (2014). Evidence for the Validity of the Modified Dynamic Gait Index Across Diagnostic Groups. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 996– 1004. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130294
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: a comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218
- Miyamoto, T., Fukushima, K., Takada, T., de Waele, C., & Vidal, P.-P. (2007). Saccular stimulation of the human cortex: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 423(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.036
- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle Weakness

and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x

- Mowinckel, A. M., Espeseth, T., & Westlye, L. T. (2012). Network-specific effects of age and in-scanner subject motion: A resting-state fMRI study of 238 healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 63(3), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2012.08.004
- Mulavara, A. P., Kofman, I. S., De Dios, Y. E., Miller, C., Peters, B. T., Goel, R., ... Bloomberg, J. J. (2015). Using low levels of stochastic vestibular stimulation to improve locomotor stability. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00117
- Murofushi, T., Ochiai, A., Ozeki, H., & Iwasaki, S. (2004). Laterality of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *International Journal of Audiology*, *43*(2), 66–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15035558
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695– 699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson-Wong, E., Appell, R., McKay, M., Nawaz, H., Roth, J., Sigler, R., ... Walker, M. (2012). Increased fall risk is associated with elevated co-contraction about the ankle during static balance challenges in older adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(4), 1379– 1389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2094-x
- Nguyen, K. D., Welgampola, M. S., & Carey, J. P. (2010). Test-retest reliability and age-related characteristics of the ocular and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential tests. *Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 31*(5), 793– 802. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e3181e3d60e
- Nichols, T. E., & Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, *15*(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11747097
- NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from https://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/
- Noohi, F., Kinnaird, C., DeDios, Y., Kofman, I. S., Wood, S., Bloomberg, J., ... Seidler, R. (2017). Functional brain activation in response to a clinical vestibular test correlates with balance. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00011
- Oechslin, M. S., Meyer, M., & Jäncke, L. (2010). Absolute pitch-functional evidence of speechrelevant auditory acuity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp113
- Pal, S., ... S. R.-J. of V., & 2009, undefined. (n.d.). Stochastic galvanic vestibular stimulation produces a small reduction in sway in Parkinson's disease. *Content.iospress.com*. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibular-research/ves00360
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 13091–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405148101
- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–96.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656

- Park, J., Carp, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2010). Neural specificity predicts fluid processing ability in older adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(27), 9253–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0853-10.2010
- Pasma, J. H., Engelhart, D., Maier, A. B., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & Meskers, C. G. M. (2015). Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 3220–33. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Paus, T., Castro-Alamancos, M. A., & Petrides, M. (2001). Cortico-cortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 1405–1411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01757.x
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Wingfield, A., & Grossman, M. (2010). Neural processing during older adults' comprehension of spoken sentences: age differences in resource allocation and connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 20(4), 773–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp142
- Peterka, R. J. (2012). Use of galvanic vestibular feedback for a balance prosthesis. Conference Proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual Conference, 2012, 6137–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2012.6347394
- Pleger, B., Blankenburg, F., Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Wiech, K., Stephan, K. E., ... Dolan, R. J. (2006). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced changes in sensorimotor coupling parallel improvements of somatosensation in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 1945–52. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4097-05.2006
- Podsiadlo, D., & Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39(2), 142–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1991946
- Polanía, R., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2012). Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(10), 2499–2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21380
- Proctor, L. R. (1988). Clinical experience with a short-acting, adjustable caloric stimulation. Vestibular Disorders Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago.
- Pujol, J., Roset-Llobet, J., Rosinés-Cubells, D., Deus, J., Narberhaus, B., Valls-Solé, J., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Brain Cortical Activation during Guitar-Induced Hand Dystonia Studied by Functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 12(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1006/NIMG.2000.0615
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive Aging and the Compensation Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2010). Human Neuroscience and the Aging Mind: A New Look at Old Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq035
- Roberta Ronchi, Gilles Rode, Francois Cottond, Alessandro Farne, Y. R. and S. J.-C. (2012). Remission of anosognosia for right hemiplegia and neglect after caloric vestibular

stimulation, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-120236

- Roski, C., Caspers, S., Langner, R., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). Adult age-dependent differences in resting-state connectivity within and between visualattention and sensorimotor networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 5, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00067
- Ruffieux, J., Mouthon, A., Keller, M., Mouthon, M., Annoni, J.-M., & Taube, W. (2018).
 Balance Training Reduces Brain Activity during Motor Simulation of a Challenging
 Balance Task in Older Adults: An fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00010
- Ruhe, A., Fejer, R., & Walker, B. (2010). The test-retest reliability of centre of pressure measures in bipedal static task conditions A systematic review of the literature. *Gait and Posture*, *32*(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.012
- Schlindwein, P., Mueller, M., Bauermann, T., Brandt, T., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008). Cortical representation of saccular vestibular stimulation: VEMPs in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 39(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.016
- Scinicariello, A. P., Eaton, K., Inglis, J. T., & Collins, J. J. (2001). Enhancing human balance control with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 84(6), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007991
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler-Dobrin, R. D., He, J., & Stelmach, G. E. (1998). Coactivation to reduce variability in the elderly. *Motor Control*, 2(4), 314–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9758884
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. a, Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., ... Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(5), 721–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.005
- Seidler, R., Erdeniz, B., Koppelmans, V., Hirsiger, S., Mérillat, S., & Jäncke, L. (2015). Associations between age, motor function, and resting state sensorimotor network connectivity in healthy older adults. *NeuroImage*, 108, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.023
- Shimazu, H., & Precht, W. (1966). Inhibition of central vestibular neurons from the contralateral labyrinth and its mediating pathway. *J Neurophysiol*, 29(3), 467–492. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/29/3/467
- Shumway-Cook, A., Brauer, S., & Woollacott, M. (2000). Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & amp; Go Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80(9), 896–903. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960937
- Shumway-Cook, A., Taylor, C. S., Matsuda, P. N., Studer, M. T., & Whetten, B. K. (2013). Expanding the Scoring System for the Dynamic Gait Index. *Physical Therapy*, 93(11), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130035
- Sienko, K. H., Balkwill, M. D., Oddsson, L. I. E., & Wall, C. (2008). Journal of vestibular research: Equilibrium and orientation. Journal of Vestibular Research (Vol. 18). Elsevier Science. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibularresearch/ves00335
- Smith, P. F., & Darlington, C. L. (2013). Personality changes in patients with vestibular

dysfunction. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00678

- Smith, P. F., Darlington, C. L., & Zheng, Y. (2010). Move it or lose it--is stimulation of the vestibular system necessary for normal spatial memory? *Hippocampus*, 20(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20588
- Smith, P. F., & Zheng, Y. (2013). From ear to uncertainty: vestibular contributions to cognitive function. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7(November), 84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00084
- Stephan, T., Deutschländer, A., Nolte, A., Schneider, E., Wiesmann, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2005). Functional MRI of galvanic vestibular stimulation with alternating currents at different frequencies. *NeuroImage*, 26(3), 721–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.049
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1560–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Sullivan, E. V, Rose, J., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2009). Postural sway reduction in aging men and women: relation to brain structure, cognitive status, and stabilizing factors. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.021
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Todd, N. P. M. (2010). The origin of the ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (OVEMP). Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 121(6), 978–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.026
- Todd, N. P. M., Rosengren, S. M., Aw, S. T., & Colebatch, J. G. (2007). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (OVEMPs) produced by air- and bone-conducted sound. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(2), 381–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.025
- Tsakiris, M., Costantini, M., & Haggard, P. (2008). The role of the right temporo-parietal junction in maintaining a coherent sense of one's body. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.06.004
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., ... Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Uludağ, K., Dubowitz, D. J., Yoder, E. J., Restom, K., Liu, T. T., & Buxton, R. B. (2004). Coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption during physiological activation and deactivation measured with fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 23(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2004.05.013
- Uludağ, K., Müller-Bierl, B., & Uğurbil, K. (2009). An integrative model for neuronal activity-

induced signal changes for gradient and spin echo functional imaging. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.051

- Van Beers, R., J., A. C. S., & Gon., J. J. D. van der. (1999). Integration of Proprioceptive and Visual Position-Information: An Experimentally Supported Model, 1355–1364.
- Van Essen, D. C., Drury, H. A., Dickson, J., Harwell, J., Hanlon, D., & Anderson, C. H. (2001). An integrated software suite for surface-based analyses of cerebral cortex. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 8(5), 443–59. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=131042&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Vercammen, A., Knegtering, H., Bruggeman, R., Westenbroek, H. M., Jenner, J. A., Slooff, C. J., ... Aleman, A. (2009). Effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on treatment resistant auditory-verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Research*, 114(1–3), 172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.013
- Vidal PP, Berthoz A, M. M. (1982). Difference between eye closure and visual stabilization in the control of posture in man. *Aviat Space Environ Med*.
- Wackym, P. A., Ratigan, J. A., Birck, J. D., Johnson, S. H., Doornink, J., Bottlang, M., ... Black, F. O. (2012). Rapid cVEMP and oVEMP responses elicited by a novel head striker and recording device. Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 33(8), 1392–400. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e318268d234
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Gong, X., Huang, W., Xu, L., & Zhou, C. (2008). Why cold water delays the onset of vestibular vertigo-An functional MRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 67(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.08.021
- Welgampola, M. S., & Colebatch, J. G. (2005). Characteristics and clinical applications of vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials. *Neurology*, 64(10), 1682–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000161876.20552.AA
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Nieto-Castanon, A. (2014). CONN fMRI functional connectivity toolbox BATCH processing manual, 81. Retrieved from http://www.nitrc.org/projects/conn
- Whitney, S. L., Roche, J. L., Marchetti, G. F., Lin, C.-C., Steed, D. P., Furman, G. R., ... Redfern, M. S. (2011). A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: A measure of balance. *Gait & Posture*, 33(4), 594–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.01.015
- Wiesmeier, I. K., Dalin, D., Wehrle, A., Granacher, U., Muehlbauer, T., Dietterle, J., ... Maurer, C. (2017). Balance Training Enhances Vestibular Function and Reduces Overactive Proprioceptive Feedback in Elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00273
- Wilke, M., & Lidzba, K. (2007). LI-tool: A new toolbox to assess lateralization in functional MR-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2007.01.026
- Wilke, M., & Schmithorst, V. J. (2006). A combined bootstrap/histogram analysis approach for computing a lateralization index from neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage*, 33(2), 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2006.07.010
- Wolfson, L., Judge, J., Whipple, R., & King, M. (1995). Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 50 Spec No, 64–7. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7493221

- Wuehr, M., Nusser, E., Krafczyk, S., Straube, A., Brandt, T., Jahn, K., & Schniepp, R. (2016). Noise-Enhanced Vestibular Input Improves Dynamic Walking Stability in Healthy Subjects. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.017
- Yamamoto, Y., Struzik, Z. R., Soma, R., Ohashi, K., & Kwak, S. (2005). Noisy vestibular stimulation improves autonomic and motor responsiveness in central neurodegenerative disorders. *Annals of Neurology*, 58(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20574
- Yang, Z., Chang, C., Xu, T., Jiang, L., Handwerker, D. A., Castellanos, F. X., ... Zuo, X.-N. (2014). Connectivity trajectory across lifespan differentiates the precuneus from the default network. *NeuroImage*, 89, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2013.10.039
- Yuan, J., Blumen, H. M., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). Functional connectivity associated with gait velocity during walking and walking-while-talking in aging: A resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(4), 1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22717
- Zalewski, C. K. (2015). Aging of the Human Vestibular System Balance Function and The Role of The Vestibular System Epidemiology of Dizziness.
- zu Eulenburg, P., Caspers, S., Roski, C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Meta-analytical definition and functional connectivity of the human vestibular cortex. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.032

Chapter III

Deactivation of Somatosensory and Visual Cortices During Vestibular Stimulation is Associated with Older Age and Poorer Balance

i. Abstract

Aging is associated with declines in balance. Previous studies have also shown that, similar to other sensory modalities, the vestibular system exhibits peripheral and central declines with age. Here we used functional MRI to investigate age differences in neural vestibular representations in response to pneumatic skull tap stimulation. We also measured the amount of body sway in multiple balance tasks outside of the MRI scanner to assess correlations between individuals' balance abilities and their vestibular neural responses. We found that activation amplitude of the canonical vestibular cortex was correlated with age, with younger individuals exhibiting higher activation. In contrast, deactivation of visual and somatosensory regions was increased with older age and associated with better balance, regardless of age. The results demonstrate that brain activations and deactivations in response to vestibular stimuli are correlated with balance, and the pattern of these correlations varies with age. The findings also suggest that older adults exhibit less sensitivity to vestibular stimuli, and may compensate by differentially reweighting visual and somatosensory processes.

ii. Introduction

One third of older adults above age 65 years fall at least once per year (L. Sturnieks, St George, & R. Lord, 2008), impacting quality of life and resulting in significant healthcare costs. Balance control is a complex sensorimotor-cognitive process, requiring perception and integration of visual, somatosensory, and vestibular inputs. Age effects on the vestibular system have been more extensively studied in recent years (Zalewski, 2015; Allen et al. 2017; Smith 2016). Several studies have documented degeneration of vestibular neurons and hair cells with age. For example, Matheson et al. (Matheson, Darlington, & Smith, 1999) reported that up to 40% of vestibular cells are lost by age 90. Moreover, neurons in the vestibular nuclei are lost at a rate of about 3% per decade after age 40 (Lopez, Honrubia, & Baloh, 1997). Despite these reports, studies have generally not reported associations between these peripheral vestibular changes and functional measures of balance.

Recent fMRI experiments have mapped out central vestibular processing networks (cf. Schlindwein et al., 2008). Two meta-analyses have shown that many brain regions are involved in vestibular processing, including the superior temporal gyri, inferior parietal cortex, middle frontal lobe, posterior cingulate, thalamus, and cerebellum (zu Eulenburg et al., 2012 Lopez, Blanke, & Mast, 2012). The *parietal opercular* area OP2 and *retroinsular cortex* were the most commonly activated regions by different vestibular stimulation modes.

Central cortical responses to vestibular inputs are also affected by age (Allen, Ribeiro, Arshad, & Seemungal, 2016). Karim et al. (Helmet T Karim et al., 2014) used an MR compatible force platform to simulate an active balance task while acquiring fMRI data. They found that older adults showed activation in the bilateral middle temporal gyri and fusiform gyri when performing the balance task inside the scanner. However, the authors only tested older adults in this study, precluding an analysis of age differences; in addition, the task likely engages multiple sensory systems. In another study the same group used fNIRS during upright balance assessments and reported that older adults exhibited greater bilateral activation in the superior temporal gyri in response to caloric vestibular stimulation in comparison to young adults (Karim et al., 2013). Lin and colleagues (Lin, Barker, Sparto, Furman, & Huppert, 2017) also used

fNIRS to examine brain activity during upright balance tasks and found greater activation in occipital and frontal regions for older adults compared to middle aged adults. In contrast with these reports of age-related increases in cortical response, Cyran et al. (Cyran, Boegle, Stephan, Dieterich, & Glasauer, 2016) found that vestibular network functional connectivity (measured during galvanic vestibular stimulation) declines with age, and this decline is independent of changes in white matter microstructure measured with diffusion MRI (dMRI). The authors also found that age differences in task-based vestibular connectivity were associated with a decrease in BOLD signal amplitude and an increase in its variability. However, they did not measure balance and thus the behavioral implications of their findings remain unclear.

Some studies have examined the functional impact of age differences in vestibular processing by correlating MRI measures of brain structure or function with balance measured outside of the scanner. For example, Sullivan et al. (Sullivan, Rose, Rohlfing, & Pfefferbaum, 2009) showed that age-related increases in body sway were associated with increased white matter hyperintensities and enlargement of the ventricles and sulci. Another study by Impe et al. (Impe, Coxon, Goble, Doumas, & Swinnen, 2012) used dMRI and showed that white matter integrity was predictive of postural stability when different sensory modalities were compromised during a sensory organization test (SOT), but only in older adults. Furthermore, Yuan et al. (Yuan, Blumen, Verghese, & Holtzer, 2015) showed that greater resting state functional connectivity (between sensorimotor, visual, vestibular, and left fronto-parietal cortical areas) is associated with higher walking speed in older adults (with the latter measured outside of the scanner). However, the authors did not provide a comparison between young and older adults.

Other researchers have examined age differences in neural distinctiveness, that is, the specificity of neural activation patterns. A number of studies have found that neural activation patterns in response to different stimuli are more distinctive or distinguishable in young adults compared with older adults (D. C. Park & Reuter-Lorenz, 2009). For example, Park and colleagues (D. C. Park et al., 2004) found that activation patterns in ventral visual cortex in response to faces, places, and words were significantly more similar (less distinctive or specific) in older adults than in younger adults. Age differences in the digit symbol, trail making, dot comparison, and verbal fluency tasks were correlated with decreased neural specificity (J. Park, Carp, Hebrank,

Park, & Polk, 2010). Carp et al. (Carp, Park, Hebrank, et al., 2011) reported that motor cortical distinctiveness is also reduced in older adults. They used a simple finger tapping design to assess whether older adults show less distinct patterns of activation in response to left and right finger movements. However, there was no report of possible correlation between the age-related changes in performance and neural distinctiveness. It remains unclear as well whether there are age differences in distinctiveness of vestibular representations and if so, how they relate to balance. Since no previous studies have examined the vestibular distinctiveness in young adults, in this work we first assessed the distinctiveness of left and right vestibular responses in young adults, and then investigated possible age differences in distinctiveness.

Thus, the literature documents that older adults recruit more brain regions than young adults for balance and vestibular processing, while the connectivity of these regions is weaker than in young adults. This is generally similar to what has been reported for age differences in cognitive task performance (P. A. Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2010; Patricia A. Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008) and motor task performance (Heuninckx, Wenderoth, & Swinnen, 2008). In general, previous reports of age differences in neural responses suggest a complex pattern of over- and under-activation (Eyler, Sherzai, Kaup, & Jeste, 2011; Li et al., 2015). Oftentimes the greater activation in older adults is interpreted as compensatory because it is correlated with better task performance (Cabeza, Anderson, Locantore, & McIntosh, 2002; R. D. Seidler et al., 2010). However, greater neural activation in older adults has also been viewed as dedifferentiation when it is associated with poorer performance (P. A. Reuter-Lorenz & Park, 2010).

In the current study we used fMRI during central vestibular processing to examine age differences in neural activation and neural distinctiveness and their associations with balance abilities. We stimulated the vestibular system in the MRI scanner using a head tapper device (previously validated in Noohi et al., 2017) and measured postural stability outside of the scanner to test for associations between vestibular brain responses and balance with respect to age. Furman and Redfern (Furman & Redfern, 2001) have suggested using alternative vestibular stimulation methods for older adults that are more sensitive and tolerable, since the current clinical methods are not always sensitive enough to detect age differences. In our previous report with young adults (Noohi et al., 2017) we found the tapper stimulation to be well tolerated;

moreover, activation in several brain regions was correlated with balance abilities. Here, we hypothesized that healthy older adults would show an overall increase in vestibular brain activation in response to vestibular stimulation compared to young adults, and decreased distinctiveness as suggested by the studies reviewed above. We also expected that the magnitude and pattern (e.g. distinctiveness and laterality) of vestibular neural responses would correlate with individual differences in postural stability and balance control. These findings would parallel what has been reported for age effects on other sensory and motor systems (Carp, Park, Hebrank, et al., 2011; Carp, Park, Polk, & Park, 2011).

iii. Methods

Participants

We recruited 15 healthy, right-handed older adults (65-80, $\bar{x} = 71.2 \pm 4.14$, 10 females) and 18 healthy, right-handed young adults (18-35, $\bar{x} = 21 \pm 2.44$, 8 females) from the University of Michigan clinical studies website. All subjects signed the consent form approved by the University of Michigan Medical Institutional Review Board. Subjects were screened prior to participation in the study and were excluded if they had any neurological, vestibular, or postural disorder or contraindications for MRI scanning. Individuals with scores of <26 on the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) were excluded from the study (Nasreddine et al., 2005). All subjects underwent the fMRI scan, but only a subset of subjects participated in the behavioral balance assessments. The number of participants in each behavioral task is reported in the results section.

Balance Assessments

Center of Pressure (CoP) measures

Participants underwent a series of balance assessments on a force platform (AMTI Inc, USA) and center of pressure was captured via a Vicon motion capture system (Nexus, Vicon Inc). The balance tasks were categorized into four conditions: romberg, tandem, normal, and single leg stance, with multiple levels of difficulty: eyes closed/open, yaw/pitch/no head movement, arms

crossed/free, & on firm/compliant surface. Each of these conditions served to challenge postural stability by degrading or removing a particular sensory input: closing the eyes removed the visual inputs, head movements challenged the vestibular system, crossing the arms served to prevent compensatory strategies, and the compliant surface degraded the somatosensory/tactile inputs.

The yaw and pitch head movements consisted of sinusoidal movements (roughly $\pm 20^{\circ}$, 0.6 Hz). Subjects were instructed to match their head movement to the beat of a metronome (0.6 Hz) that was used consistently for all subjects, within their comfort level. High-density viscoelastic foam was used as the compliant surface (length=45cm, width=45cm, thickness=18cm; Natus Inc.). The order of the tasks was counterbalanced across subjects. Two spotters stood by the subjects to provide support in case of a fall.

The amount of body sway in these tasks reflected individual differences in postural stability. We calculated the amount of body sway as the area of an ellipse fit to the 95th percentile confidence interval of center of pressure motion in the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral directions (Sienko et al., 2008). Better postural stability was reflected as less body sway and smaller ellipse size. The center of pressure measures have been validated in previous studies and showed to be highly correlated with measures of sensory organization test (Jayakaran, Johnson, & Sullivan, 2013).

For each task, we instructed subjects to maintain their balance for 30 seconds. The task was stopped prematurely if they lost their balance and was not included in the analysis. The measures of body sway were later used to assess the correlation between behavioral and neural metrics of vestibular function. Four tasks were selected for these correlation analyses:

- Normal (feet apart) stance on firm surface with eyes open (baseline measure, reliance on visual, vestibular and somatosensory inputs)
- 2- Romberg (feet together) stance on firm surface with eyes closed (removed visual inputs, reliance on vestibular and somatosensory inputs)

- 3- Romberg (feet together) stance on compliant surface with eyes closed (removed visual inputs, degraded somatosensory inputs, greater reliance on vestibular inputs)
- 4- Single leg stance (left foot) on firm surface with eyes open (degraded somatosensory inputs, greater reliance on visual and vestibular inputs)

These four tasks were selected because: 1) All subjects were able to complete these tasks for 30 seconds (this was not the case for other conditions); 2) Ruhe et al. (Ruhe, Fejer, & Walker, 2010) reviewed the reliability of CoP measures and found no specific task to be more reliable than the others; 3) they represented a relatively step-wise increase in degradation of sensory modalities and difficulty in balance maintenance; and 4) they were reported previously to be reliable predictors of fall in older adults (Bloem et al., 2001; Chun-Ju Chang, Yu-Shin Chang, & Sai-Wei Yang, 2013; Maki, Holliday, & Topper, 1994).

Clinical Tests of Functional Mobility

In addition to CoP measures, we administered two clinical tests of balance and gait: the Modified Dynamic Gait Index (MDGI) (Matsuda, Taylor, & Shumway-Cook, 2014) and the Timed Up and Go (TUG) test (Shumway-Cook, Brauer, & Woollacott, 2000). Both tests have high test-retest reliability (Huang et al., 2011).

Timed Up & Go (TUG)

As described by Podsiadlo & Richardson (Podsiadlo & Richardson, 1991), the TUG test requires subjects to stand up from a chair, walk for 10 ft, turn around, walk back to the chair, and sit down. The time for completing this task (under 20 seconds for healthy older adults) is considered an index of functional mobility and balance control. The TUG-manual task is a modified version of this task, in which subjects are performing the task while carrying a cup of water; we administered this version as well. Lower TUG scores (i.e. less time needed to finish the tests) indicate better functional mobility and balance.

Modified Dynamic Gait Index (MDGI)

As described by Shumway-cook et al. (Shumway-Cook, Taylor, Matsuda, Studer, & Whetten, 2013), the MDGI is a modified scoring index for the DGI, which evaluates three facets of

walking performance: time, gait pattern, and level of assistance. This clinical measure indicates the ability of subjects to adjust their gait according to complex walking situations. The test comprises a set of 8 tasks; the first is the baseline gait measure (low-challenged, self-paced). The other 7 tasks are designed to challenge the subject to respond to 4 different forms of environmental conditions (change in speed, change in direction, obstacle avoidance, & climbing stairs). Higher MDGI scores indicate better ability to maintain balance.

Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)

The fMRI acquisition was conducted at the University of Michigan functional MRI laboratory, using a 3.0 T MRI scanner (General Electric Medical Systems, DISCOVERY MR750). The scanning protocol consisted of a high-resolution T1 structural scan (SPGR), a resting state connectivity scan, and fMRI during vestibular stimulation.

The structural MRI acquisition comprised a T1-weighted ascending sequential echo-planar scan (TR = 12.2 s, TE =5.1 ms, FA= 15° , matrix size= 256×256 , FOV= $260 \times 260 \text{ mm}$, slice thickness = 1 mm, number of slices=124) covering the whole brain and the cerebellum. A gradient-echo spiral sequence with ascending sequential slice ordering (FOV=220 mm, TR=2 s, TE= 30 ms, slice thickness = 1 mm, number of slices=43, voxel size = $3.4375 \times 3.4375 \text{ mm}$) was used to acquire the functional images.

We minimized head movement using a Velcro strap over the forehead, and by placing foam padding on the left and right sides of the head. The padding also provided extra hearing protection (in addition to ear plugs) from the scanner noise. Furthermore, we placed a pulse oximeter over the subjects' index finger and wrapped a respirometer belt around the subjects' abdomen to collect physiological responses, which were later corrected by using the RETROICOR algorithm (Glover et al., 2000).

Stimulation of the vestibular system inside the scanner

We used a pneumatic skull tapper (MR compatible Pneumatic Tactile Pulse System (PnTPS), Engineering Acoustics Inc.) to stimulate the vestibular system inside the scanner (Noohi et al., 2017). The skull tapper delivered low force (19.6 N), compressed air taps (50 – 55 psi) to the lateral cheekbones, stimulating the otolith organs through bone conduction mechanisms (Cornell et al. 2009; Curthoys et al., 2011; Curthoys et al. 2006; Curthoys et al. 2009; Iwasaki et al., 2008; Nguyen, Welgampola, & Carey, 2010; Wackym et al., 2012). We applied five stimulation trials on each side; each trial consisted of 24 taps delivered at 1Hz. This was implemented in a block design with five alternating periods of rest (20 seconds) and stimulation (24 seconds). The right and left side stimulations were administered in separate runs.

Before beginning each trial, the MRI technician reminded subjects to keep their eyes closed (to eliminate the effects of visual inputs on vestibular processing). After the completion of each trial, the MRI technician asked subjects to report the side of the stimulation to make sure they felt the taps on the correct spot. This also helped with keeping the subjects alert and communicative.

iv. Data Analyses

Balance performance analysis

Center of Pressure (CoP) analysis

We used the Vicon software (Nexus, Vicon Inc) to analyze the center of pressure (CoP) data that were collected at 100 Hz on the force platform. The force platform channels were plugged into a data acquisition board and the data were recorded using the Vicon Nexus software, which then automatically calculated CoP data from the raw channel data. The CoP data were then exported from Vicon Nexus software and outcome measures were calculated. As shown in previous studies (Lee et al., 2012; Sienko et al., 2008), we applied a low pass filter with a 2nd order recursive Butterworth filter with a cutoff of 10 Hz. For each balance trial, we fitted a 95% confidence interval ellipse to the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral trajectories. The area of the ellipse was calculated for correlation with individual differences in vestibular brain activity.

Functional Mobility tests

We recorded the time of performance of TUG and TUG-manual tests, and used the average performance time over three repetitions of each task. For the MDGI, we used the ordinal scaling system to score the subjects' performance (with the highest possible score of 64).

FMRI data analyses

Preprocessing

We used SPM12 software (Welcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995)) to analyze the fMRI data. To ensure the steadiness of the MR signal, we discarded the first 10 seconds of each run. The University of Michigan Functional MRI Laboratory applies the RETROICOR algorithm (Glover et al., 2000) to the raw data to account for physiological responses (e.g. respiration and cardiac signals). We carefully examined the raw data for any potential movement confounds. Additionally, we used the ARTifact detection toolbox ("NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info," Whitfield-Gabrieli) to detect any volumes with >2mm translational or >2° rotational movement; movement parameters were later used as covariates of no interest in the first level design matrix. Next, we applied slice-timing correction, and then co-registered the functional images with the anatomical image. The images were then normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI152) template (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995). We normalized the cerebellar volumes separately using the Spatially Unbiased Infra-tentorial Template (SUIT, Diedrichsen and Zotow, 2015; Diedrichsen, 2006; Diedrichsen et al., 2011, 2009). Next, we applied a Gaussian kernel function (8,8,8 mm) to spatially smooth the normalized images.

Comparing brain activity within and between young & older adult groups

The first level analysis was designed to compare the brain activity between rest and stimulation blocks, using the smoothed images. The resulting contrasts from the first level analysis were subsequently used in second level (group) analyses. We used SnPM13 software (http://warwick.ac.uk/snpm) to apply non-parametric permutation tests for statistical inferences (Nichols & Holmes, 2002). We applied a one sample t-test to assess the within group effects collapsed across age, a two-sample t-test to compare the brain activity between young and older adult groups, and simple regression to assess the correlation between brain activity and behavioral performance or age. A false discovery rate (FDR) correction (p<.05) was applied to account for multiple comparisons.

Localization

The results from the above analyses were mapped to the MNI atlas (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995) to localize the corresponding brain regions, using the Harvard-Oxford maximum probability atlas of the bspmview toolbox ("BSPMVIEWlbspmview,"Spunt.B) in SPM12. The cerebellar results were separately localized using the SUIT atlas (Diedrichsen et al., 2009).

Signal to Noise Ratio analysis

We calculated the fMRI signal to noise ratio, following the methods of Bernard et al. (J. A. Bernard et al., 2013) in order to assess potential age differences in variability of vestibular activation.

Laterality Index analysis

We used the Laterality Index (LI) toolbox of SPM 12 (Wilke & Lidzba, 2007; Wilke & Schmithorst, 2006) to assess whether there is a hemispheric dominance in vestibular processing, and whether that is influenced by age. We applied the bootstrapping method to minimize the potential effects of outliers, and performed the analysis on whole brain gray matter, superior temporal gyri, and the cerebellum. The analyses were conducted for each subject, and the LI scores were then compared between the age groups using a two-sample t-test.

Neural distinctiveness analysis

We used freesurfer v6.0.0 ("FreeSurferMethodsCitation - Free Surfer Wiki") to apply the reconstruction algorithm (i.e. recon) to the anatomical images. The functional analysis was done using the FSFAST (FreeSurfer Functional Analysis Stream) algorithm. We applied the same method as Carp et al. (Carp, Gmeindl, & Reuter-Lorenz, 2010) to measure neural distinctiveness: a correlation distance metric (Haxby et al., 2001) was used to assess the distinctiveness of activation patterns in response to the left tap condition and the right tap condition within the region of interest (ROI). The distinctiveness score was defined as mean correlation across beta values within the same condition (e.g., left tap with left tap, right tap with right) minus the mean correlation across beta values between different conditions (e.g., left tap with right tap). The closer distinctiveness scores were to zero, the less distinct the activation patterns resulting from the left and right taps were. The details of the process are as follows.

We created an anatomical mask of the bilateral superior temporal gyri using FreeSurfer's label files that were generated at the cortical parcellation step of the recon algorithm. Within the anatomical mask for each subject, the vertices were first sorted based on the level of activation in response to the left taps, and then based on the level of activation in response to the right taps. In order to include the activated vertices from both left and right stimulation conditions equally, we alternated between the two sorted lists and defined the functional ROI as the most active vertex from left stimulation, then the most active vertex from right stimulation, then the next most active vertex from left stimulation, and so on, until we reached a functional ROI with 2000 vertices.

Following Haxby et al. (Haxby et al., 2001), the *within* correlation index was defined as the average correlation between left stimulation patterns across all left stimulation blocks, and the average correlation between right stimulation patterns across all right stimulation blocks (i.e. within score; indicator of consistency of neural representations within a condition). The *between* correlation index was defined as the average of the correlation between left and right tap conditions across all blocks. For each subject, the neural distinctiveness score was defined as the difference of the average within score and the average between score for that subject. Thus, a positive neural distinctiveness score suggests that the activation patterns between the two stimulation conditions are distinct, and zero or negative scores suggest that the activation patterns resulting from the left and right stimulation are not distinctive from each other.

Correlation analyses

Based on the results from the activation analyses, we created a combined ROI of all regions that were active with vestibular stimulation at an uncorrected P<.001 in either young or older adults (i.e. the activation ROIs for the young adults and the old adults were calculated separately, and then added together to create one set of ROIs). These ROIs were later used in a correlation analysis (with FDR correction level of p<. 05) in order to find the regions of the brain where activity was associated with age and balance performance.

Correlation between age and brain activity measures

We used participants' age as a covariate in an SnPM simple regression analysis to determine how brain activity varies with respect to age.

Correlation between balance measures and brain activity measures

We used the area of the ellipse, TUG, and MDGI scores as covariates in SnPM simple regression analyses to determine how brain activity varies with respect to measures of postural control.

Conjunction analyses

We performed conjunction analyses to identify regions of the brain where activity was associated with both age and balance performance. We applied the max function in the imcalc toolbox of SPM12, using the results of statistical inference from SnPM13 as the input images. A positive direction for conjunction of the two correlation analyses indicated that greater brain activity was associated with greater age and poorer balance (greater CoP & TUG measures/ smaller MDGI scores). A negative direction for the conjunction of the two correlation analyses indicated that greater brain activity was associated with younger age and better balance.

Correlation analyses for laterality index, signal to noise ratio, and distinctiveness/within scores

We conducted a simple regression to determine whether an individual's balance measures were associated with their laterality index. Similarly, we conducted a simple regression to determine whether individual differences in postural control are associated with differences in signal to noise ratio. Lastly, in order to evaluate whether individual differences in balance control were associated with the distinctiveness of brain activation patterns for vestibular processing, we conducted a simple regression to assess the correlation of balance measures with distinctiveness scores.

v. Results

Balance assessment results

Center of Pressure (CoP) measures

We found a significant difference between young and older adults' performance in single leg stance (SLS) with eyes open (t= -2.69, p= 0.01, df= 23, CI: -105.88, -13.95), documenting poorer

balance performance (greater ellipse area) for older adults. The other CoP measures were not significantly different between young and older adults (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Performance of young and older adults in four balance tasks with different degrees of difficulty.

Task difficulty increases from left to right. Smaller ellipse area reflects less body sway (i.e. better balance). Error bars represent standard error. EO: Eyes Open, EC: Eyes Closed, SLS: Single Leg Stance, YA: Young Adults, OA: Older Adults; N= 12 YA, 14 OA.

Clinical Tests of Functional Mobility

As shown in figures 3.2 and 3.3, there was no significant difference between young and older adults' MDGI and TUG scores.



Figure 3.2 Performance of young and older adults in series of gait assessment tasks (MDGI).

The higher MDGI score reflects better gait and balance. Error bars represent standard error. YA: Young Adults, OA: Older Adults; N= 6 YA, 14 OA



Figure 3.3 Performance of young and older adults in TUG and TUG-manual tasks.

The lower scores reflect better gait and balance. Error bars represent standard error. YA: Young Adults, OA: Older Adults; N= 6 YA, 14 OA

FMRI results

First we compared the activation patterns elicited by left and right taps, regardless of age. We found no significant difference between activity patterns or laterality index between the left and right tap conditions. Thus, to increase the power of our analyses, we pooled the two conditions together. Results are presented at p<. 05 with FDR correction, unless otherwise specified.

Comparing brain activity between young & older adult groups

The results from comparison between the brain activation and deactivation of young versus old adults did not survive the FDR p<.05 corrections. The analyses conducted within the cerebellum after normalization to the SUIT template also showed no significant differences between young and older adults.

Signal to Noise Ratio analysis

We found no significant difference in signal to noise ratio between young and older adults.

Laterality Index analysis

We found no significant difference between young and older adults in the laterality index of vestibular brain activity.

Neural distinctiveness analysis

We found no significant difference in neural distinctiveness between young and older adults. It should be noted however that the left and right tap were not very distinctive in the young adults (0.07 - 0.78) in comparison to what has been reported for other tasks. Thus there was little room for the older adults to exhibit less distinctiveness relative to the young.

Associations between brain activity with age and balance

Correlation of brain function and age

There was a negative correlation between age and activation in the left parietal operculum (figure 3.4, table 3.1), with younger subjects exhibiting greater activation than older ones. There was also a positive correlation between age and deactivation of the left intracalcarine cortex and the right temporal pole (figure 3.5, table 3.2), reflecting that older adults deactivated these regions more than younger subjects. Cerebellar results for activation and deactivation did not show any significant correlations with age.



Figure 3.4 The parietal operculum cortex exhibited a negative association with age in the pooled young and older adults group.

Table 3.1 The simple regression results of activated regions with significant negative correlation with age.

Table shows all local maxima separated by more than 20 mm. Although this result did not survive FDR correction, it survived a more stringent correction of P<.05 FWE. Regions were automatically labeled using the HarvardOxford max probability atlas. x, y, and z = Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates.

			MNI Coordinates			
Region Label	Extent	t-value	Х	у	Z	
	40	4.006	4.4	20	20	
Parietal Operculum Cortex	40	4.096	-44	-30	20	



Figure 3.5 The intracalcarine cortex and temporal pole exhibited a positive association between age and deactivation level in the pooled young and older adults group.

Table 3.2 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive correlation with age.

Table shows all local maxima separated by more than 20 mm (P<.05 FDR corrected). Regions were automatically labeled using the HarvardOxford max probability atlas. x, y, and z =Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates.

			MNI Coordinates		
Region Label	Extent	t-value	х	у	Z
Temporal Pole	221	4.083	46	14	-24
Intracalcarine Cortex	212	3.968	-16	-84	6
Anterior Superior Temporal Gyrus	16	3.623	54	-6	-6

Correlation of brain function and behavior

As shown in figure 3.6, there was a positive correlation between balance performance in normal stance (indicated by area of ellipse) and deactivation of the postcentral gyri and temporal pole, reflecting that those subjects who had a larger ellipse area in normal stance showed higher deactivation of these regions, regardless of age (table 3.3).



Figure 3.6 Regardless of age, greater deactivation of the postcentral gyrus and temporal pole was associated with poorer balance.

Table 3.3 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive correlation with performance.

Table shows all local maxima separated by more than 20 mm (P<.05 FDR corrected). Regions were automatically labeled using the HarvardOxford max probability atlas. x, y, and z =Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates.
	Extent	t-value	MNI Coordinates			
Region Label			Х	у	Ζ	
Postcentral Gyrus	121	4.452	-18	-38	74	
Postcentral Gyrus	20	4.143	-8	-48	64	
Temporal Pole	32	3.987	40	16	-38	
Temporal Pole	48	3.938	60	8	-18	
Lingual Gyrus	10	3.570	-30	-52	-4	
Occipital Pole	12	3.328	-22	-90	12	

Besides normal stance, no other balance measures were associated with brain activity at FDR p< .05.

As for the cerebellar analyses, we found that performance in single leg stance was negatively correlated with deactivation of the brainstem, cerebellar lobule VI and Crus I, reflecting that those who performed better in single leg stance exhibited greater deactivation of these regions, regardless of age (figure 3.7, table 3.4).



Figure 3.7 The brainstem and cerebellar lobule VI and Crus I exhibited a negative association between deactivation levels and balance performance in single leg stance (indicated by area of ellipse).

Table 3.4 The simple regression results of deactivated regions with significant negative correlation with performance.

MNI Coordinates
superior dimensions, respectively.
the SUIT atlas. x, y, and z =Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates in the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-
Table shows all local maxima separated by more than 20 mm (P<.05 FDR corrected). Regions were automatically labeled using

		_	MINI Coordinates			
Region Label	Extent	t-value	Х	У	Z	
Crus I	2227	4.587	-36	-52	-35	
Lobule VI	2227	4.401	16	-64	-23	
Lobule VI	2227	4.289	-10	-64	-21	
Brain-Stem	58	3.472	2	-48	-37	
Crus I	200	3.381	50	-66	-37	
Brain-Stem	90	3.274	-4	-22	-13	
Crus II	98	3.143	14	-88	-31	

Conjunction analyses

Next, we conducted a conjunction analysis across the results from the brain activity – age and the brain activity – balance performance correlations. The results reflect brain regions where activation or deactivation was commonly associated with both age and behavior.

We found that deactivation of left postcentral gyrus, intracalcarine cortex, and right temporal pole was positively correlated with both age and balance performance in normal stance (Figure 3.8); that is, those subjects who were older, and those subjects who performed more poorly in normal stance commonly deactivated these regions more than the other subjects (table 3.5).



Figure 3.8 The deactivation of postcentral gyrus, intracalcarine cortex, and temporal pole was positively correlated with age and balance performance in normal stance (indicated by area of ellipse).

Table 3.5 The multiple regression results of deactivated regions with significant positive correlation with age and performance.

Table shows all local maxima separated by more than 20 mm (P<.05 FDR corrected). Regions were automatically labeled using the HarvardOxford max probability atlas. x, y, and z =Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates in the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior dimensions, respectively.

Extent	t-value	MNI Coordinates		
		Х	У	Z
121	4.452	-18	-38	74
20	4.143	-8	-48	64
298	4.083	46	14	-24
215	3.968	-16	-84	6
16	3.623	54	-6	-6
10	3.570	-30	-52	-4
	Extent 121 20 298 215 16 10	Extent t-value 121 4.452 20 4.143 298 4.083 215 3.968 16 3.623 10 3.570	Extentt-valuex1214.452-18204.143-82984.083462153.968-16163.62354103.570-30	Extent t-value x y 121 4.452 -18 -38 20 4.143 -8 -48 298 4.083 46 14 215 3.968 -16 -84 16 3.623 54 -6 10 3.570 -30 -52

None of the other whole brain or cerebellar conjunction analyses were significant.

Correlation of laterality index and behavior

We found no significant associations between laterality index and measures of balance.

Correlation of signal to noise ratio and behavior

We found no significant associations between signal to noise ratio and measures of balance.

Correlation of distinctiveness/within scores and behavior

We found no significant correlation between distinctiveness scores and measures of balance. However, there was a significant negative correlation between individuals' within scores and their performance in normal stance (r = -0.47, p = 0.02), reflecting that better balance was correlated with more consistent neural representations of vestibular activity within a condition, regardless of age.

vi. Discussion

In response to vestibular stimulation both young and older adults exhibited activation of the canonical vestibular cortex (i.e. bilateral parietal operculum). However, as evident by regression analysis, younger adults activated the vestibular cortex more strongly than older adults. In general, brain regions that process other sensory inputs (i.e. somatosensory cortex, visual cortex, and the cerebellum) exhibited deactivation, which—in contrast to the activation patterns—varied with age. The level of deactivation in these regions was correlated with both age and balance; as older age and poorer balance in the normal stance task were associated with greater deactivation of visual and somatosensory cortices and the temporal poles.

Consistent with these findings, other studies have documented similar cross modal sensory inhibition patterns. For example, Bense et al. (S Bense et al., 2001) showed that in response to galvanic vestibular stimulation, somatosensory and visual cortices were deactivated. Deutschlander et al. (Deutschländer et al., 2002a) demonstrated that with unimodal vestibular

stimulation, visual cortex exhibited deactivation, and using unimodal visual stimulus resulted in deactivation of vestibular cortex. Laurienti et al. (Laurienti et al., 2002a) reported that auditory stimulation resulted in activation of the auditory cortex and deactivation of the visual cortex; meanwhile the opposite pattern was observed in response to visual stimulation. Similarly, Uludağ et al. (Uludağ et al., 2004) used a flickering checkerboard to induce activation in the visual cortex, and found that simply closing the eyes resulted in deactivation of the visual cortex.

Relative reliance on vestibular, visual and somatosensory inputs varies within individuals. Studies have shown that, in comparison to young adults, older adults seem to rely more strongly on vision for balance control (Costello & Bloesch, 2017). They also rely more on proprioception (Anson et al., 2017; Pasma et al., 2015), which can be shifted towards vestibular reliance with active balance training (Bao et al., 2018; Wiesmeier et al., 2017). Wiesmeier and colleagues showed that balance training improved balance performance for older adults, and made them more reliant on vestibular inputs and less so on proprioceptive inputs, which was more similar to the pattern for young adults. We found that younger adults showed greater vestibular activity and older adults exhibited more deactivation of the somatosensory and visual cortices. It seems that when vestibular information is the most dominant sensory modality (as in our design), the suppression of other sensory systems (i.e. somatosensory and visual) enhances the allocation of neural resources in favor of vestibular processing, and more strongly in older adults. Greater deactivation in these regions was also an indicator of poorer balance in the normal stance task, in which all sensory modalities are available. Therefore, less engagement of visual and somatosensory cortices that occurs in response to unimodal vestibular stimulation is associated with poorer performance in this multisensory task. On the other hand, one might argue that these patterns of brain deactivation in correlation with balance should be interpreted in light of age differences in muscle response. As an adaptive strategy, older adults exhibit greater cocontraction of muscles in normal stance compared to young to maintain their balance (Nelson-Wong et al., 2012). One might speculate that older adults with better postural control may be better at implementing these adaptive strategies, and therefore exhibit less inhibition (i.e. higher recruitment of multiple regions, which is linked to muscle co-contraction).

Moreover, our finding of overall stronger brain responses in young adults parallels previous reports (Hesselmann et al., 2001; Kannurpatti, Motes, Rypma, & Biswal, 2010). For example, Burki et al. (Bürki et al., 2017) showed an overall lower magnitude of brain activation in older adults performing an fMRI gait assessment task.

Our selected method for stimulating the vestibular pathways (i.e. skull tap) induced bilateral activation in both the young and older adults; the left and right tap activation patterns were also not distinctive in young adults, which potentially explains the lack of age differences in these two measures. However, the consistency of activity within a condition (indicated by the "within" scores) showed a significant association with better balance in the normal stance condition. That is, more consistent brain activity across repeated runs of vestibular stimulation was associated with better balance.

Our current results support that pneumatic skull taps elicit vestibular neural activation in older adults, while being tolerable, fast, and easy to conduct, as we reported previously for young adults (Noohi et al., 2017). Thus, this method could be implemented as a novel approach for studying vestibular function and its correlation with balance in a range of populations. By using fMRI we were able to assess the function of vestibularly stimulated subcortical structures (e.g. brainstem, cerebellum, and thalamus) in addition to cortical regions that would be captured with more portable neuroimaging techniques such as fNIRS.

Limitations

The main limitation of this study was the small number of participants per group. Further, the technical constraints of neuroimaging methods warrant a careful interpretation of upright balance measures in correlation with supine brain measures. Moreover, introducing a unimodal vestibular input induces sensory reweighting processes, in which attention can modulate the observed patterns of activations/deactivations and their correlation with balance. Since we did not control for the role of attention, caution should be taken in interpretation of these findings.

vii. Conclusion

We found that both age and balance performance are related to consistency of vestibular neural processing and deactivation of the somatosensory and visual cortices. Considering the high prevalence of falls among older adults, mortality of fall-related injuries, and costs of rehabilitation and healthcare (Center for Disease Control & Prevention), a better understanding of the aging vestibular system may lead to important, new approaches to balance interventions.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the National Space Biomedical Research Institute (NASA NCC 9-58), NASA (NNX11AR02G), and NIH Grant 1S10OD012240-01A1.

viii. References

- Akin, F. W., Murnane, O. D., & Proffitt, T. M. (2003). The Effects of Click and Tone-Burst Stimulus Parameters on the Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potential (VEMP). *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 14(9), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.14.9.5
- Allen, D., Ribeiro, L., Arshad, Q., & Seemungal, B. M. (2016). Age-Related Vestibular Loss: Current Understanding and Future Research Directions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00231
- Allison, L. K., Kiemel, T., & Jeka, J. J. (2006). Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 342– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0559-7
- Angelaki, D. E., & Perachio, A. A. (1993). Contribution of irregular semicircular canal afferents to the horizontal vestibuloocular response during constant velocity rotation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3).
- Anson, E., Bigelow, R. T., Swenor, B., Deshpande, N., Studenski, S., Jeka, J. J., & Agrawal, Y. (2017). Loss of Peripheral Sensory Function Explains Much of the Increase in Postural Sway in Healthy Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 202. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00202
- Arshad, Q., Nigmatullina, Y., Roberts, R. E., Bhrugubanda, V., Asavarut, P., & Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Left cathodal trans-cranial direct current stimulation of the parietal cortex leads to an asymmetrical modulation of the vestibular-ocular reflex. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.002
- Baloh, R. W., Enrietto, J., Jacobson, K. M., & Lin, A. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Vestibular Function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Bao, T., Carender, W. J., Kinnaird, C., Barone, V. J., Peethambaran, G., Whitney, S. L., ... Sienko, K. H. (2018). Effects of long-term balance training with vibrotactile sensory augmentation among community-dwelling healthy older adults: a randomized preliminary study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 15(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-017-0339-6
- Barrett, M. M., Kenny, R. A., Maguinness, C., Setti, A., Doheny, E. P., Foran, T. G., & Newell, F. N. (2013). Reduced Vision Selectively Impairs Spatial Updating in Fall-prone Older Adults. *Multisensory Research*, 26(1–2), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1163/22134808-00002412
- Benjuya, N., Melzer, I., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(2), 166–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14999032
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (n.d.). Multisensory Cortical Signal Increases and Decreases During Vestibular Galvanic Stimulation (fMRI). Retrieved from https://www.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.2001.85.2.886
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2001). Multisensory cortical signal increases and decreases during vestibular galvanic stimulation (fMRI). J *Neurophysiol*, 85(2), 886–899. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160520

- Bent, L. R., McFadyen, B. J., & Inglis, J. T. (2002). Visual-vestibular interactions in postural control during the execution of a dynamic task. *Experimental Brain Research*, 146(4), 490– 500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1204-8
- Bernard, J. A., Peltier, S. J., Wiggins, J. L., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Fling, B. W., ... Seidler, R. D. (2013). Disrupted cortico-cerebellar connectivity in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 83, 103–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.042
- Bernard, J. a, & Seidler, R. D. (2012). Evidence for motor cortex dedifferentiation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1890–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.021
- Bigelow, R. T., & Agrawal, Y. (2015, June 2). Vestibular involvement in cognition: Visuospatial ability, attention, executive function, and memory. *Journal of Vestibular Research*. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150544
- Bird, M.-L., Pittaway, J. K., Cuisick, I., Rattray, M., & Ahuja, K. D. K. (2013). Age-related changes in physical fall risk factors: results from a 3 year follow-up of community dwelling older adults in Tasmania, Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5989–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115989
- Bloem, B. R., Grimbergen, Y. A. M., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2001). Prospective assessment of falls in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(11), 950– 958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170047
- Bolmont, B., Gangloff, P., Vouriot, A., & Perrin, P. P. (2002). Mood states and anxiety influence abilities to maintain balance control in healthy human subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00578-5
- Bottini, G., Karnath, H. O., Vallar, G., Sterzi, R., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Paulesu, E. (2001). Cerebral representations for egocentric space: Functional-anatomical evidence from caloric vestibular stimulation and neck vibration. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *124*(Pt 6), 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.6.1182
- Brandt, T., Bartenstein, P., Janek, A., & Dieterich, M. (1998). Reciprocal inhibitory visualvestibular interaction. Visual motion stimulation deactivates the parieto-insular vestibular cortex. *Brain*, 121(9), 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1749
- Brandt, T., Schautzer, F., Hamilton, D. A., Brüning, R., Markowitsch, H. J., Kalla, R., ... Strupp, M. (2005). Vestibular loss causes hippocampal atrophy and impaired spatial memory in humans. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *128*(Pt 11), 2732–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh617
- Brantberg, K., & Fransson, P. a. (2001). Symmetry measures of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials using objective detection criteria. *Scandinavian Audiology*, *30*(3), 189–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/010503901316914566
- Brantberg, K., & Tribukait, A. (2002). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to laterally directed skull taps. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, *12*(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12515890
- Brantberg, K., Westin, M., Löfqvist, L., Verrecchia, L., & Tribukait, A. (2009). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to lateral skull taps are dependent on two different mechanisms. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(5), 974–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.03.008
- Brocklehurst, J. C., Robertson, D., & James-Groom, P. (1982). Clinical correlates of sway in old age-sensory modalities. *Age and Ageing*, 1–10.
- Brooks, J. X., Carriot, J., & Cullen, K. E. (2015). Learning to expect the unexpected: rapid

updating in primate cerebellum during voluntary self-motion. *Nat Neurosci*, *18*(9), 1310–1317. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.4077

- BSPMVIEW | bspmview. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://www.bobspunt.com/bspmview/
- Bürki, C. N., Bridenbaugh, S. A., Reinhardt, J., Stippich, C., Kressig, R. W., & Blatow, M. (2017). Imaging gait analysis: An fMRI dual task study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.724
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1394–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414279
- Cai, J., Lee, S., Ba, F., Garg, S., Kim, L. J., Liu, A., ... McKeown, M. J. (2018). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS) Augments Deficient Pedunculopontine Nucleus (PPN) Connectivity in Mild Parkinson's Disease: fMRI Effects of Different Stimuli. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00101
- Callan, D. E., Falcone, B., Wada, A., & Parasuraman, R. (2016). Simultaneous tDCS-fMRI Identifies Resting State Networks Correlated with Visual Search Enhancement. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00072
- Capps, M. J., Preciado, M. C., Paparella, M. M., & Hoppe, W. E. (1973). Capps_et_al-1973-The_Laryngoscope (1).pdf. *The Laryngoscope*.
- Carp, J., Gmeindl, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2010). Age differences in the neural representation of working memory revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(217), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00217
- Carp, J., Park, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2011). Age-related neural dedifferentiation in the motor system. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029411
- Carp, J., Park, J., Polk, T. A., & Park, D. C. (2011). Age differences in neural distinctiveness revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, *56*(2), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.267
- Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Passingham, R. E., Warner, T., Playford, E. D., Marsden, C. D., & Brooks, D. J. (1995). Overactive prefrontal and underactive motor cortical areas in idiopathic dystonia. *Annals of Neurology*, *37*(3), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410370313
- Center for Didease Control & Prevention. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html
- Chen, G., Taylor, P. A., & Cox, R. W. (2016). Is the Statistic Value All We Should Care about in Neuroimaging? *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/064212
- Chihara, Y., Iwasaki, S., Ushio, M., Fujimoto, C., Kashio, A., Kondo, K., ... Murofushi, T. (2009). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (oVEMPs) require extraocular muscles but not facial or cochlear nerve activity. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(3), 581–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.12.030
- Chun-Ju Chang, C.-J., Yu-Shin Chang, Y.-S., & Sai-Wei Yang, S.-W. (2013). Using single leg standing time to predict the fall risk in elderly. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (Vol. 2013, pp. 7456–7458). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6611282
- Colebatch, J. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Skuse, N. F. (1994). Myogenic potentials generated by a

click-evoked vestibulocollic reflex. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 190–197.

- Cornell, E. D., Burgess, A. M., MacDougall, H. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2009). Vertical and horizontal eye movement responses to unilateral and bilateral bone conducted vibration to the mastoid. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, *19*(1,2), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-2009-0338
- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are Older Adults Less Embodied? A Review of Age Effects through the Lens of Embodied Cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cousins, S., Cutfield, N. J., Kaski, D., Palla, A., Seemungal, B. M., Golding, J. F., ... Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Visual dependency and dizziness after vestibular neuritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105426
- Cullen, K. E. (2012). The vestibular system: Multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *35*(3), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.12.001
- Cummiford, C. M., Nascimento, T. D., Foerster, B. R., Clauw, D. J., Zubieta, J.-K., Harris, R. E., & DaSilva, A. F. (2016). Changes in resting state functional connectivity after repetitive transcranial direct current stimulation applied to motor cortex in fibromyalgia patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, *18*(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0934-0
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006a). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006b). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Manzari, L., Smulders, Y. E., & Burgess, A. M. (2009). A review of the scientific basis and practical application of a new test of utricular function--ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials to bone-conducted vibration. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 29(4), 179–86. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2816364&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., Burgess, A. M., Cornell, E. D., Mezey, L. E., Macdougall, H. G., ... Mcgarvie, L. A. (2011). The basis for using bone-conducted vibration or air-conducted sound to test otolithic function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1233*(1), 231– 241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06147.x
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., & Manzari, L. (2012). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) to test utricular function: neural and oculomotor evidence. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 32(1), 41–5. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC3324959/?report=abstract
- Cyran, C. A. M., Boegle, R., Stephan, T., Dieterich, M., & Glasauer, S. (2016). Age-related decline in functional connectivity of the vestibular cortical network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1443–1463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0983-6
- Day, B. L., Ramsay, E., Welgampola, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, R. C. (2011). The human semicircular canal model of galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*,

210(3-4), 561-568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2565-7

- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002a). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002b). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Diedrichsen, J. (2006). A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, 33(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056
- Diedrichsen, J., Balsters, J. H., Flavell, J., Cussans, E., & Ramnani, N. (2009). A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, *46*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045
- Diedrichsen, J., Maderwald, S., Küper, M., Thürling, M., Rabe, K., Gizewski, E. R., ... Timmann, D. (2011). Imaging the deep cerebellar nuclei: a probabilistic atlas and normalization procedure. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1786–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.035
- Diedrichsen, J., & Zotow, E. (2015). Surface-Based Display of Volume-Averaged Cerebellar Imaging Data. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Diener, H.-C., & Dichgans, J. (1988). Vestibulospinal Control of Posture and Locomotion. Progress in Brain Research (Vol. 76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)64512-4
- Dieterich, M. (2003). Dominance for Vestibular Cortical Function in the Non-dominant Hemisphere. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.9.994
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. *Brain*, *131*(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *J Neurosci*, 30(18), 6409–6421. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R., & Zilles, K. (2006). Identifying human parieto-insular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27(7), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20205
- Eldaief, M. C., Halko, M. A., Buckner, R. L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Transcranial magnetic stimulation modulates the brain's intrinsic activity in a frequency-dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(52), 21229–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113103109
- Emri, M., Kisely, M., Lengyel, Z., Balkay, L., Márián, T., Mikó, L., ... Tóth, A. (2003). Cortical projection of peripheral vestibular signaling. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(5), 2639– 2646. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00599.2002
- Enticott, J. C., Tari, S., Koh, S. M., Dowell, R. C., & Leary, S. J. O. (2006). Cochlear Implant and Vestibular Function, (3), 824–830.
- Ertl, M., Kirsch, V., Gerb, J., Boegle, R., Krafczyk, S., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Appraisal of the signal-to-noise-ratio of uni- and bipolar recordings of ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 25(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150545
- Eyler, L. T., Sherzai, A., Kaup, A. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2011). A review of functional brain

imaging correlates of successful cognitive aging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.032

- Fasold, O., von Brevern, M., Kuhberg, M., Ploner, C. J., Villringer, A., Lempert, T., & Wenzel, R. (2002). Human Vestibular Cortex as Identified with Caloric Stimulation in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 17(3), 1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1241
- Ferber-Viart, C., Dubreuil, C., & Duclaux, R. (1999). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in humans: a review. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*.
- Ferrè, E. R., Day, B. L., Bottini, G., & Haggard, P. (2013). How the vestibular system interacts with somatosensory perception: A sham-controlled study with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 550, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.06.046
- Fife, T. D., Tusa, R. J., Furman, J. M., Zee, D. S., Frohman, E., Baloh, R. W., ... Eviatar, L. (2000). Assessment: Vestibular testing techniques in adults and children. *Neurology*, 55, 1431–1441.
- Franchignoni, F., Tesio, L., Martino, M. T., & Ricupero, C. (1998). Reliability of four simple, quantitative tests of balance and mobility in healthy elderly females. *Aging (Milan, Italy)*, 10(1), 26–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9589748
- Frank, S. M., & Greenlee, M. W. (2014). An MRI-compatible caloric stimulation device for the investigation of human vestibular cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 235, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.07.008
- FreeSurferMethodsCitation Free Surfer Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/fswiki/FreeSurferMethodsCitation
- Friston, K. J., Ashburner, J., Frith, C. D., Poline, J.-B., Heather, J. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (1995). Spatial registration and normalization of images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 3(3), 165– 189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460030303
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Price, C. J., Büchel, C., & Worsley, K. J. (1999). Multisubject fMRI studies and conjunction analyses. *NeuroImage*, 10(4), 385–96. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0484
- Furman, J. M., & Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of aging on the otolith-ocular reflex. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Gentine, A., Eichhorn, J.-L., Kopp, C., & Conraux, C. (1990). Modelling the action of caloric stimulation of the vestibule: *I. The Hydrostatic Model. Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *110*(5–6), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489009107451
- Glover, G. H., Li, T. Q., & Ress, D. (2000). Image-based method for retrospective correction of physiological motion effects in fMRI: RETROICOR. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(1), 162–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893535
- Goble, D. J., Coxon, J. P., Van Impe, a., Geurts, M., Doumas, M., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2011). Brain Activity during Ankle Proprioceptive Stimulation Predicts Balance Performance in Young and Older Adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(45), 16344–16352. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4159-11.2011
- Goldberg, J. M., Smith, C. E., & Fernandez, C. (1984). Relation between discharge regularity and responses to externally applied galvanic currents in vestibular nerve afferents of the squirrel monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *51*(6).
- Goldberg, J. M., Wilson, V. J., Cullen, K. E., Angelaki, D. E., Broussard, D. M., Buttner-Ennever, J., ... Minor, L. B. (2012). *The Vestibular System: A Sixth Sense*. Oxford University Press.

- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Wang, L. E., Dafotakis, M., Eickhoff, S. B., & Fink, G. R. (2010). Modulating cortical connectivity in stroke patients by rTMS assessed with fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.029
- Guidetti, G. (2013). The role of cognitive processes in vestibular disorders. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, 11(S1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.3109/21695717.2013.765085
- Guldin, W. O., & Grüsser, O. J. (1998). Is there a vestibular cortex? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(6), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01211-3
- Gurvich, C., Maller, J. J., Lithgow, B., Haghgooie, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2013). Vestibular insights into cognition and psychiatry. *Brain Research*, *1537*, 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.058
- Haxby, J. V, Gobbini, M. I., Furey, M. L., Ishai, A., Schouten, J. L., & Pietrini, P. (2001). Distributed and Overlapping Representations of Faces and Objects in Ventral Temporal Cortex. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7549/e383e527ebcebb131edd57fcb08874d5d77a.pdf

- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., & Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron*, 68(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Hesselmann, V., Zaro Weber, O., Wedekind, C., Krings, T., Schulte, O., Kugel, H., ... Lackner, K. J. (2001). Age related signal decrease in functional magnetic resonance imaging during motor stimulation in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 308(3), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01920-6
- Heuninckx, S., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2008). Systems Neuroplasticity in the Aging Brain: Recruiting Additional Neural Resources for Successful Motor Performance in Elderly Persons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3300-07.2008
- Hitier, M., Besnard, S., & Smith, P. F. (2014). Vestibular pathways involved in cognition. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, *8*, 59. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00059
- Holmeslet, B., Westin, M., & Brantberg, K. (2011). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: skull taps can cause a stimulus direction dependent double-peak. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(2), 391–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.06.020
- Horacek, J., Brunovsky, M., Novak, T., Skrdlantova, L., Klirova, M., Bubenikova-Valesova, V.,
 … Höschl, C. (2007). Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology*, 55(3–4), 132–42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106055
- Huang, S.-L., Hsieh, C.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Lu, W.-S. (2011). Minimal Detectable Change of the Timed "Up & amp; Go" Test and the Dynamic Gait Index in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090126
- Huppert, T., Schmidt, B., Beluk, N., Furman, J., & Sparto, P. (2013). Measurement of brain activation during an upright stepping reaction task using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(11), 2817–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22106
- Impe, A. Van, Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Doumas, M., & Swinnen, S. P. (2012). White matter fractional anisotropy predicts balance performance in older adults. NBA, 33(9), 1900–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.013

- Indovina, I. (2005). Representation of Visual Gravitational Motion in the Human Vestibular Cortex. *Science*, *308*(5720), 416–419. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107961
- Inukai, Y., Saito, K., Sasaki, R., Kotan, S., Nakagawa, M., & Onishi, H. (2016). Influence of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to the Cerebellum on Standing Posture Control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00325
- Israel, I., Bronstein, A. M., Kanayama, R., Faldon, M., & Gresty, M. A. (1996). Visual and vestibular factors influencing vestibular ?navigation? *Experimental Brain Research*, 112(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00227947
- Iwasaki, S., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Burgess, A. M., Kim, J., Colebatch, J. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2007). Head taps evoke a crossed vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neurology*, 68(15), 1227–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000259064.80564.21
- Iwasaki, S., Smulders, Y. E., Burgess, A. M., McGarvie, L. A., Macdougall, H. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Curthoys, I. S. (2008). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to bone conducted vibration of the midline forehead at Fz in healthy subjects. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 119(9), 2135–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.05.028
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008a). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008b). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Jayakaran, P., Johnson, G. M., & Sullivan, S. J. (2013). Concurrent validity of the Sensory Organization Test measures in unilateral transtibial amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 37(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309364612448391
- Jeka, J. J., Allison, L. K., & Kiemel, T. (2010). The Dynamics of Visual Reweighting in Healthy and Fall-Prone Older Adults. *Journal of Motor Behavior*.
- Jones, P. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. *Brain*.
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Motes, M. A., Rypma, B., & Biswal, B. B. (2010). Neural and vascular variability and the fMRI-BOLD response in normal aging. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 28(4), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2009.12.007
- Karim, H., Fuhrman, S. I., Sparto, P., Furman, J., & Huppert, T. (2013). Functional brain imaging of multi-sensory vestibular processing during computerized dynamic posturography using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 74, 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.010
- Karim, H., Schmidt, B., Dart, D., Beluk, N., & Huppert, T. (2012). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) of brain function during active balancing using a video game system. *Gait & Posture*, 35(3), 367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.10.007
- Karim, H. T., Fuhrman, S. I., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2013). Neuroimaging to detect cortical projection of vestibular response to caloric stimulation in young and older adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). *NeuroImage*, 76, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.061
- Karim, H. T., Sparto, P. J., Aizenstein, H. J., Furman, J. M., Huppert, T. J., Erickson, K. I., &

Loughlin, P. J. (2014). Functional MR imaging of a simulated balance task. *Brain Research*, 1555, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.033

- Keeser, D., Meindl, T., Bor, J., Palm, U., Pogarell, O., Mulert, C., ... Padberg, F. (2011). Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Changes Connectivity of Resting-State Networks during fMRI. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(43), 15284–15293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2016). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kong, J., Gollub, R. L., Webb, J. M., Kong, J. T., Vangel, M. G., & Kwong, K. (2007). Testretest study of fMRI signal change evoked by electroacupuncture stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 34(3), 1171–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.019
- Kunze, T., Hunold, A., Haueisen, J., Jirsa, V., & Spiegler, A. (2016). Transcranial direct current stimulation changes resting state functional connectivity: A large-scale brain network modeling study. *NeuroImage*, 140, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.015
- Kyriakareli, A., Cousins, S., Pettorossi, V. E., & Bronstein, A. M. (2013). Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on vestibular-ocular and vestibulo-perceptual thresholds. *Neuroreport*, 24(14), 808–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283646e65
- L. Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, 38(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001
- Langan, J., Peltier, S. J., Bo, J., Fling, B. W., Welsh, R. C., & Seidler, R. D. (2010). Functional implications of age differences in motor system connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00017
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002a). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002b). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Lee, B.-C., Kim, J., Chen, S., & Sienko, K. H. (2012). Cell phone based balance trainer. *Journal* of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 9, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-10
- Li, H. J., Hou, X. H., Liu, H. H., Yue, C. L., Lu, G. M., & Zuo, X. N. (2015). Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 57(16), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013
- Lin, C.-C., Barker, J. W., Sparto, P. J., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2017). Functional nearinfrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8
- Lobel, E., Bihan, D. Le, Berthoz, A., & Cnrs, C. D. F. (1996). Searching for the vestibular cortex

with functional M R I, (2).

- Lobel, E., Kleine, J. F., Bihan, D. Le, Leroy-Willig, A., & Berthoz, A. (1998). Functional MRI of Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, 80(5), 2699–2709. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/80/5/2699.short
- Lopez, C., & Blanke, O. (2011). The thalamocortical vestibular system in animals and humans. *Brain Research Reviews*, 67(1–2), 119–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.12.002
- Lopez, C., Blanke, O., & Mast, F. W. (2012). The human vestibular cortex revealed by coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*, 212, 159– 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.028
- Lopez, C., Schreyer, H. M., Preuss, N., & Mast, F. W. (2012). Vestibular stimulation modifies the body schema. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1830–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.008
- Lopez, I., Honrubia, V., & Baloh, R. W. (1997). Aging and the Human Vestibular Nucleus. Journal of Vestibular Research.
- Lord, S. R., & Ward, J. a. (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing*, 23(6), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/23.6.452
- Macaluso, E. (2006). Multisensory processing in sensory-specific cortical areas. The Neuroscientist : A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 12(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287908
- Maki, B. E., Holliday, P. J., & Topper, A. K. (1994). A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(2), M72-84. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126355
- Mancini, M., & Horak, F. B. (2010). The relevance of clinical balance assessment tools to differentiate balance deficits. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(2), 239–48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485226
- Marcelli, V., Esposito, F., Aragri, A., Furia, T., Riccardi, P., Tosetti, M., ... Di Salle, F. (2009). Spatio-temporal pattern of vestibular information processing after brief caloric stimulation. *European Journal of Radiology*, 70(2), 312–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.01.042
- Mast, F. W., Preuss, N., Hartmann, M., & Grabherr, L. (2014). Spatial cognition, body representation and affective processes: the role of vestibular information beyond ocular reflexes and control of posture. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 8(July), 44. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00044
- Matheson, A. J., Darlington, C. L., & Smith, P. F. (1999). Dizziness in the Elderly and Agerelated Degeneration of the Vestibular System. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*.
- Matsuda, P. N., Taylor, C. S., & Shumway-Cook, A. (2014). Evidence for the Validity of the Modified Dynamic Gait Index Across Diagnostic Groups. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 996– 1004. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130294
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: a comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218
- Miyamoto, T., Fukushima, K., Takada, T., de Waele, C., & Vidal, P.-P. (2007). Saccular stimulation of the human cortex: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, *423*(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.036

- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle Weakness and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x
- Mowinckel, A. M., Espeseth, T., & Westlye, L. T. (2012). Network-specific effects of age and in-scanner subject motion: A resting-state fMRI study of 238 healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 63(3), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2012.08.004
- Mulavara, A. P., Kofman, I. S., De Dios, Y. E., Miller, C., Peters, B. T., Goel, R., ... Bloomberg, J. J. (2015). Using low levels of stochastic vestibular stimulation to improve locomotor stability. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00117
- Murofushi, T., Ochiai, A., Ozeki, H., & Iwasaki, S. (2004). Laterality of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *International Journal of Audiology*, *43*(2), 66–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15035558
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695– 699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson-Wong, E., Appell, R., McKay, M., Nawaz, H., Roth, J., Sigler, R., ... Walker, M. (2012). Increased fall risk is associated with elevated co-contraction about the ankle during static balance challenges in older adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *112*(4), 1379– 1389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2094-x
- Nguyen, K. D., Welgampola, M. S., & Carey, J. P. (2010). Test-retest reliability and age-related characteristics of the ocular and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential tests. *Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 31*(5), 793–802. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e3181e3d60e
- Nichols, T. E., & Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, *15*(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11747097
- NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from https://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/
- Noohi, F., Kinnaird, C., DeDios, Y., Kofman, I. S., Wood, S., Bloomberg, J., ... Seidler, R. (2017). Functional brain activation in response to a clinical vestibular test correlates with balance. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00011
- Oechslin, M. S., Meyer, M., & Jäncke, L. (2010). Absolute pitch-functional evidence of speechrelevant auditory acuity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp113
- Pal, S., ... S. R.-J. of V., & 2009, undefined. (n.d.). Stochastic galvanic vestibular stimulation produces a small reduction in sway in Parkinson's disease. *Content.iospress.com*. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibular-research/ves00360
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 13091–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405148101
- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive

scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–96. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656

- Park, J., Carp, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2010). Neural specificity predicts fluid processing ability in older adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(27), 9253–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0853-10.2010
- Pasma, J. H., Engelhart, D., Maier, A. B., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & Meskers, C. G. M. (2015). Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 3220–33. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Paus, T., Castro-Alamancos, M. A., & Petrides, M. (2001). Cortico-cortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 1405–1411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01757.x
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Wingfield, A., & Grossman, M. (2010). Neural processing during older adults' comprehension of spoken sentences: age differences in resource allocation and connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 20(4), 773–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp142
- Peterka, R. J. (2012). Use of galvanic vestibular feedback for a balance prosthesis. Conference Proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual Conference, 2012, 6137–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2012.6347394
- Pleger, B., Blankenburg, F., Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Wiech, K., Stephan, K. E., ... Dolan, R. J. (2006). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced changes in sensorimotor coupling parallel improvements of somatosensation in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 1945–52. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4097-05.2006
- Podsiadlo, D., & Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39(2), 142–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1991946
- Polanía, R., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2012). Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(10), 2499–2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21380
- Proctor, L. R. (1988). *Clinical experience with a short-acting, adjustable caloric stimulation. Vestibular Disorders Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago.*
- Pujol, J., Roset-Llobet, J., Rosinés-Cubells, D., Deus, J., Narberhaus, B., Valls-Solé, J., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Brain Cortical Activation during Guitar-Induced Hand Dystonia Studied by Functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 12(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1006/NIMG.2000.0615
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive Aging and the Compensation Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2010). Human Neuroscience and the Aging Mind: A New Look at Old Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq035
- Roberta Ronchi, Gilles Rode, Francois Cottond, Alessandro Farne, Y. R. and S. J.-C. (2012).

Remission of anosognosia for right hemiplegia and neglect after caloric vestibular stimulation, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-120236

- Roski, C., Caspers, S., Langner, R., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). Adult age-dependent differences in resting-state connectivity within and between visualattention and sensorimotor networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 5, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00067
- Ruffieux, J., Mouthon, A., Keller, M., Mouthon, M., Annoni, J.-M., & Taube, W. (2018).
 Balance Training Reduces Brain Activity during Motor Simulation of a Challenging
 Balance Task in Older Adults: An fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00010
- Ruhe, A., Fejer, R., & Walker, B. (2010). The test-retest reliability of centre of pressure measures in bipedal static task conditions - A systematic review of the literature. *Gait and Posture*, 32(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.012
- Schlindwein, P., Mueller, M., Bauermann, T., Brandt, T., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008). Cortical representation of saccular vestibular stimulation: VEMPs in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 39(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.016
- Scinicariello, A. P., Eaton, K., Inglis, J. T., & Collins, J. J. (2001). Enhancing human balance control with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 84(6), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007991
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler-Dobrin, R. D., He, J., & Stelmach, G. E. (1998). Coactivation to reduce variability in the elderly. *Motor Control*, 2(4), 314–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9758884
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. a, Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., ... Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(5), 721–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.005
- Seidler, R., Erdeniz, B., Koppelmans, V., Hirsiger, S., Mérillat, S., & Jäncke, L. (2015). Associations between age, motor function, and resting state sensorimotor network connectivity in healthy older adults. *NeuroImage*, 108, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.023
- Shimazu, H., & Precht, W. (1966). Inhibition of central vestibular neurons from the contralateral labyrinth and its mediating pathway. *J Neurophysiol*, 29(3), 467–492. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/29/3/467
- Shumway-Cook, A., Brauer, S., & Woollacott, M. (2000). Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & amp; Go Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80(9), 896–903. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960937
- Shumway-Cook, A., Taylor, C. S., Matsuda, P. N., Studer, M. T., & Whetten, B. K. (2013). Expanding the Scoring System for the Dynamic Gait Index. *Physical Therapy*, 93(11), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130035
- Sienko, K. H., Balkwill, M. D., Oddsson, L. I. E., & Wall, C. (2008). Journal of vestibular research: Equilibrium and orientation. Journal of Vestibular Research (Vol. 18). Elsevier Science. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibularresearch/ves00335

- Smith, P. F., & Darlington, C. L. (2013). Personality changes in patients with vestibular dysfunction. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00678
- Smith, P. F., Darlington, C. L., & Zheng, Y. (2010). Move it or lose it--is stimulation of the vestibular system necessary for normal spatial memory? *Hippocampus*, 20(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20588
- Smith, P. F., & Zheng, Y. (2013). From ear to uncertainty: vestibular contributions to cognitive function. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7(November), 84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00084
- Stephan, T., Deutschländer, A., Nolte, A., Schneider, E., Wiesmann, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2005). Functional MRI of galvanic vestibular stimulation with alternating currents at different frequencies. *NeuroImage*, 26(3), 721–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.049
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1560–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Sullivan, E. V, Rose, J., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2009). Postural sway reduction in aging men and women: relation to brain structure, cognitive status, and stabilizing factors. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.021
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Todd, N. P. M. (2010). The origin of the ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (OVEMP). Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 121(6), 978–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.026
- Todd, N. P. M., Rosengren, S. M., Aw, S. T., & Colebatch, J. G. (2007). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (OVEMPs) produced by air- and bone-conducted sound. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(2), 381–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.025
- Tsakiris, M., Costantini, M., & Haggard, P. (2008). The role of the right temporo-parietal junction in maintaining a coherent sense of one's body. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 3014– 3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.06.004
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., ... Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Uludağ, K., Dubowitz, D. J., Yoder, E. J., Restom, K., Liu, T. T., & Buxton, R. B. (2004). Coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption during physiological activation and deactivation measured with fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 23(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2004.05.013

- Uludağ, K., Müller-Bierl, B., & Uğurbil, K. (2009). An integrative model for neuronal activityinduced signal changes for gradient and spin echo functional imaging. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.051
- Van Beers, R., J., A. C. S., & Gon., J. J. D. van der. (1999). Integration of Proprioceptive and Visual Position-Information: An Experimentally Supported Model, 1355–1364.
- Van Essen, D. C., Drury, H. A., Dickson, J., Harwell, J., Hanlon, D., & Anderson, C. H. (2001). An integrated software suite for surface-based analyses of cerebral cortex. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 8(5), 443–59. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=131042&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Vercammen, A., Knegtering, H., Bruggeman, R., Westenbroek, H. M., Jenner, J. A., Slooff, C. J., ... Aleman, A. (2009). Effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on treatment resistant auditory-verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Research*, 114(1–3), 172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.013
- Vidal PP, Berthoz A, M. M. (1982). Difference between eye closure and visual stabilization in the control of posture in man. *Aviat Space Environ Med*.
- Wackym, P. A., Ratigan, J. A., Birck, J. D., Johnson, S. H., Doornink, J., Bottlang, M., ... Black, F. O. (2012). Rapid cVEMP and oVEMP responses elicited by a novel head striker and recording device. Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 33(8), 1392–400. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e318268d234
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Gong, X., Huang, W., Xu, L., & Zhou, C. (2008). Why cold water delays the onset of vestibular vertigo-An functional MRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 67(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.08.021
- Welgampola, M. S., & Colebatch, J. G. (2005). Characteristics and clinical applications of vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials. *Neurology*, 64(10), 1682–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000161876.20552.AA
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Nieto-Castanon, A. (2014). CONN fMRI functional connectivity toolbox BATCH processing manual, 81. Retrieved from http://www.nitrc.org/projects/conn
- Whitney, S. L., Roche, J. L., Marchetti, G. F., Lin, C.-C., Steed, D. P., Furman, G. R., ... Redfern, M. S. (2011). A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: A measure of balance. *Gait & Posture*, 33(4), 594–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.01.015
- Wiesmeier, I. K., Dalin, D., Wehrle, A., Granacher, U., Muehlbauer, T., Dietterle, J., ... Maurer, C. (2017). Balance Training Enhances Vestibular Function and Reduces Overactive Proprioceptive Feedback in Elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00273
- Wilke, M., & Lidzba, K. (2007). LI-tool: A new toolbox to assess lateralization in functional MR-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2007.01.026
- Wilke, M., & Schmithorst, V. J. (2006). A combined bootstrap/histogram analysis approach for computing a lateralization index from neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage*, 33(2), 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2006.07.010
- Wolfson, L., Judge, J., Whipple, R., & King, M. (1995). Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences*

and Medical Sciences, *50 Spec No*, 64–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7493221

- Wuehr, M., Nusser, E., Krafczyk, S., Straube, A., Brandt, T., Jahn, K., & Schniepp, R. (2016).
 Noise-Enhanced Vestibular Input Improves Dynamic Walking Stability in Healthy Subjects.
 Brain Stimulation, 9(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.017
- Yamamoto, Y., Struzik, Z. R., Soma, R., Ohashi, K., & Kwak, S. (2005). Noisy vestibular stimulation improves autonomic and motor responsiveness in central neurodegenerative disorders. *Annals of Neurology*, 58(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20574
- Yang, Z., Chang, C., Xu, T., Jiang, L., Handwerker, D. A., Castellanos, F. X., ... Zuo, X.-N. (2014). Connectivity trajectory across lifespan differentiates the precuneus from the default network. *NeuroImage*, 89, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2013.10.039
- Yuan, J., Blumen, H. M., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). Functional connectivity associated with gait velocity during walking and walking-while-talking in aging: A resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(4), 1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22717
- Zalewski, C. K. (2015). Aging of the Human Vestibular System Balance Function and The Role of The Vestibular System Epidemiology of Dizziness.
- zu Eulenburg, P., Caspers, S., Roski, C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Meta-analytical definition and functional connectivity of the human vestibular cortex. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.032

Chapter IV

Functional Connectivity in response to Vestibular Stimulation and its Relationship to Postural Control

i. Abstract

The functional connectivity of default mode network and primary sensory regions (e.g. visual and auditory) has shown to decline with age. However, less is known about age effects on vestibular functional connectivity. To better understand the role of aging vestibular cortex in postural control, we assessed age differences in the connectivity of vestibular cortex with other sensory regions involved in postural control. We investigated resting state functional connectivity, as well as connectivity during vestibular stimulation, and compared the connectivity patterns across young and older adults. We found no significant age differences in vestibular network connectivity patterns at rest. During vestibular stimulation, connectivity was significantly increased from the resting state. Connectivity was higher in young relative to older adults. Moreover, we found that the relationship between task-based connectivity and balance differed in young and older adults, but that the relationship between resting state connectivity and balance did not. Specifically, young adults who exhibited higher task-based connectivity also had higher body sway in more challenging tasks, but in the older adults these correlations were present for the easier tasks, not the harder tasks. One potential interpretation of these results is that as task difficulty increases, the available neural resources for compensation in older adults are at ceiling level. Thus we found that in the presence of vestibular stimulation, connectivity of the vestibular cortex with other sensory regions predicts postural stability in a manner that differs with age and task demands.

ii. Introduction

In humans, the vestibular network comprises multiple cortical and subcortical regions that communicate with each other to process vestibular inputs. These regions include (but are not limited to) the parieto-insular vestibular cortex (PIVC), the vestibular nuclei, the thalamus and the cerebellum. Many studies have looked at the functional and anatomical connectivity of these regions using fMRI and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) techniques. Kirsch et al. (Kirsch et al., 2016) provided evidence that functional connectivity among vestibular regions mirrors anatomical connectivity. Specifically, they showed that bilateral vestibular nuclei and bilateral insular cortex are both functionally and anatomically connected. In a recent study by Eickhoff et al. (Eickhoff et al., 2010), distinct connectivity patterns for core vestibular cortical regions were further identified. The operculum parietale (OP) showed functional and anatomical connectivity with regions of higher order somatosensory processing (anterior inferior parietal cortex, intraparietal sulcus, ventroposterior lateral and inferior nuclei of thalamus). Like Kirsch et al. (Kirsch et al., 2016), their results supported the overall congruency between functional and anatomical connectivity maps, but they also found some discrepancies that could be related to the fact that co-activation of different brain regions can occur independently from their anatomical connections. Also, in their previous work (Simon B. Eickhoff et al., 2006), they found no anatomical asymmetry between left and right OP, whereas there was significant functional asymmetry in vestibular processing. Along the same lines, zu Eulenburg et al. (zu Eulenburg et al., 2012) conducted a meta-analysis in which they showed OP as the core region of the vestibular network. They further implemented a connectivity analysis with OP as the seed region, which revealed functional connectivity of right OP with temporo-parietal cortex, premotor cortex, and the midcingulate gyrus.

Despite the research identifying the vestibular network's core regions and their connectivity, to the best of our knowledge, only one study has investigated the effects of healthy aging on vestibular network connectivity. Cyran et al. (Cyran et al., 2016) recently reported age differences in functional connectivity of the vestibular network during galvanic vestibular stimulation. Their findings suggest that vestibular network connectivity was reduced in older adults, whereas the somatosensory network showed no age differences in functional connectivity. Moreover, they showed that these differences in vestibular network functional connectivity were independent of age-related structural alterations, and were associated with declines in magnitude of the BOLD response. They did not conduct any balance assessments to determine the functional consequences of these age differences in vestibular connectivity, however.

Reports of age differences in functional connectivity in other sensory networks can suggest hypotheses about the vestibular system. For example, Mowinckel et al. (Mowinckel, Espeseth, & Westlye, 2012) found reduced resting state connectivity within the visual and default mode networks for older versus young adults. Yang et al. (Yang et al., 2014) also showed that with advancing age, the precuneus network merged with the default mode network, and specific functional connectivity patterns became less distinguishable between the two. Roski et al. (Roski et al., 2013) reported that older adults had reduced resting state sensorimotor and visual network connectivity. In a study of age effects on auditory cortex functional connectivity, Peelle et al. (Peelle, Troiani, Wingfield, & Grossman, 2010) found that older adults exhibit less activity in speech comprehension core regions and reduced connectivity between these areas.

Here we assessed age differences in vestibular functional connectivity during both the resting state and during vestibular stimulation. Based on the studies just reviewed, we hypothesized that younger individuals would exhibit greater connectivity during both the rest and vestibular stimulation blocks.

A number of previous studies have also shown that in the presence of a unimodal sensory input, there is a general cross-modal deactivation of other sensory areas (Sandra Bense, Stephan, Yousry, Brandt, & Dieterich, n.d.; T Brandt, Bartenstein, Janek, & Dieterich, 1998; Deutschländer et al., 2002b; Laurienti et al., 2002b). We therefore hypothesized that during vestibular stimulation the connectivity of vestibular cortex with other sensory regions would decline.

Yuan et al. (Yuan et al., 2015) showed that greater resting state functional connectivity (between sensorimotor, visual, vestibular, and left fronto-parietal cortical areas) is associated with higher

walking speed in older adults (with the latter measured outside of the scanner). We therefore hypothesized that individuals who exhibit greater connectivity between vestibular and other sensory regions at rest would have better postural stability.

Our hypothesis for task-based connectivity associations with balance was formed based on the findings of Pleger et al. (Pleger et al., 2006). They applied excitatory rTMS to primary sensory cortex, and found increased connectivity from the somatosensory to primary motor cortex, which was correlated with behavioral improvements in tactile discrimination. Therefore, we hypothesized that better balance would be correlated with increased connectivity of the vestibular network during vestibular stimulation.

iii. Methods

Participants

We recruited 32 healthy adults (15 old: 65-80, $\bar{x} = 71.2 \pm 4.14$, 10 females & 18 young: 18-35, $\bar{x} = 21 \pm 2.44$, 8 females) from the University of Michigan clinical studies website. All subjects were right handed. The exclusion criteria were defined as any vestibular, neurological, auditory, or postural disorders. In addition to the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA), a typical MRI screening was conducted. The University of Michigan Institutional Review Board approved the study, and all subjects signed the consent form prior to participation.

Balance Assessments

Subjects underwent a series of balance assessments in four conditions (Romberg, tandem, normal, and single leg stance), at four degrees of difficulty (eyes closed/open, yaw/pitch/no head movement, arms crossed/free, & on firm/compliant surface). Each of these conditions served to challenge postural stability by degrading or removing a particular sensory input: closing the eyes removed the visual inputs, head movements challenged the vestibular system, crossing the arms served to prevent compensatory strategies, and the compliant surface degraded the somatosensory/proprioceptive inputs.

The yaw and pitch head movements consisted of sinusoidal head movements (roughly $\pm 20^{\circ}$, 0.6 Hz). Subjects were instructed to match their head movement to the beat of a metronome (0.6 Hz) that was used consistently for all subjects. Subjects were asked to move the head approximately 20 degrees, within their comfort level. A high-density viscoelastic foam was used as the compliant surface (length=45cm, width=45cm, thickness=18cm; Natus Inc.). The order of the tasks was counterbalanced across subjects.

The amount of body sway in these tasks reflected individual differences in postural stability. We calculated the amount of body sway as the area of an ellipse fit to the 95th percentile confidence interval of center of pressure motion in the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral directions (Lee et al., 2012; Sienko et al., 2008). Better postural stability was reflected as less body sway and smaller ellipse size.

For each task, we instructed participants to maintain their balance for 30 seconds. The task was stopped prematurely if participants lost their balance.

FMRI data acquisition

Magnetic resonance images were acquired using a 3.0 Tesla MRI scanner (General Electric Medical Systems, DISCOVERY MR750). The parameters of the acquisition for structural images included a T1-weighted 3D IR Prepped FSPGR (TR = 12.2 s, TE =5.1 ms, FA= 15° , matrix size= 256×192 , FOV= $260 \times 260 \text{ mm}$, slice thickness = 1 mm, #slices=152) covering the whole brain and the cerebellum. A gradient-echo plane ascending sequential sequence (FOV=220 mm, TR=2 s, TE= 30 ms, number of slices=43, voxel size = $3.4375 \times 3.4375 \times 3.4375 \text{ mm}$) was used to acquire the resting state and functional images.

Head motion was restricted using a Velcro strap over the forehead. Pads were placed around the head to protect hearing (in addition to ear plugs) and to further limit head movements. To collect physiological responses (cardiac and respiration rates), a pulse oximeter was placed on the subjects' index finger and a respirometer belt was wrapped around the abdomen.

The acquisition protocol was as follows: high-resolution T1 structural scan (SPGR), resting state connectivity, and vestibular stimulation. Subjects were instructed to keep their eyes open during the connectivity runs, while keeping their gaze on a fixation point presented to them on the screen. They were instructed to close their eyes during the vestibular stimulation runs to minimize visual processing that could interact with the vestibular system. The resting state connectivity run lasted 10 minutes, and the vestibular stimulation run lasted 4 minutes. The stimulation was applied in the form of pneumatic taps delivered over the left cheekbone, in five alternating blocks of stimulation (24 seconds) and rest (20 seconds).

iv. Data analysis

Balance performance analysis

We used Vicon's Nexus software to analyze the center of pressure (COP) data that were collected at 100 Hz on the force platform. The force platform channels were plugged into a data acquisition board and the data were recorded using the Nexus software, which then automatically calculated COP data from the raw channel data. The COP data were then exported from the Nexus software and outcome measures were calculated. Similar to previous studies (Lee et al., 2012; Sienko et al., 2008), we applied a low pass filter with a 2nd order recursive Butterworth filter with a cutoff of 10 Hz. For each balance trial, we fitted a 95% confidence interval ellipse to the anterior-posterior and medial-lateral trajectories. The area of the ellipse was calculated and used for correlation with individual differences in brain connectivity patterns.

As described in the previous chapter, four tasks were selected for balance assessment analyses:

- Normal (feet apart) stance on firm surface with eyes open (baseline measure, reliance on visual, vestibular and somatosensory inputs)
- 2- Romberg (feet together) stance on firm surface with eyes closed (removed visual inputs, reliance on vestibular and somatosensory inputs)
- 3- Romberg (feet together) stance on compliant surface with eyes closed (removed visual inputs, degraded somatosensory inputs, greater reliance on vestibular inputs)
- 4- Single leg stance (left foot) on firm surface with eyes open (degraded somatosensory inputs, greater reliance on visual and vestibular inputs)

The COP data was analyzed for a subgroup of subjects who were able to complete the 30 seconds of performance in these tasks (i.e. 12 young and 14 older adults).

FMRI analysis

We used SPM12 software (Welcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995)) and the CONN functional connectivity toolbox v14 (Whitfield-Gabrieli & Nieto-Castanon, 2014) to preprocess and analyze the data. The preprocessing steps were completed using the conn toolbox default preprocessing pipeline: 1) Structural segmentation (gray matter, white matter, CSF) and normalization to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI152) template (Karl. J. Friston et al., 1995). 2) Functional realignment, slice timing correction, outlier detection (ART-based), segmentation (gray matter, white matter, CSF) and MNI normalization. We segmented and normalized the cerebellum separately using the Spatially Unbiased Infra-tentorial Template (SUIT, Diedrichsen and Zotow, 2015; Diedrichsen, 2006; Diedrichsen et al., 2011, 2009).

We estimated functional connectivity between regions identified in the previous chapter as activated by vestibular stimulation, including the Parietal Operculum, Intracalcarine Cortex, Postcentral Gyrus, Temporal Pole, Brainstem, Cerebellar Lobule VI, and Crus I. We created a 10mm sphere around the corresponding coordinates (5mm sphere for brainstem), and functional connectivity data was derived from unsmoothed data to avoid spillage from neighboring voxels.

A denoising procedure was applied to remove the effects of confounding factors (white matter, CSF, motion, main task effects). A band pass filter threshold of [0.008 inf] was applied to both resting state and stimulation runs. A first level analysis was then performed using a General Linear Model (GLM) for the resting state data and a general Psycho-Physiologic Interaction (gPPI) model for stimulation blocks. The bivariate correlation measures resulting from the GLM represented the connectivity during rest (e.g. a positive correlation indicated a positive association between the time series of two ROIs during rest, and negative correlation represented anti-correlations between the time series of two ROIs during rest). Whereas, the bivariate

correlation measures resulting from the gPPI analysis indicated the change in connectivity during stimulation compared to an implicit baseline condition (i.e. rest blocks). So positive correlations reflected higher connectivity during stimulation relative to baseline and negative correlations reflected lower connectivity during stimulation relative to baseline.

Next, a ROI to ROI analysis was performed to quantify connectivity. The correlation between each ROI and all of the others was calculated during the rest and vestibular tap stimulation conditions. We applied the false discovery rate (FDR) error correction to correct for multiple comparisons. The results were considered significant if they reach the p<.05 (FDR) at the peak voxel level. We conducted the analysis for resting state and stimulation runs separately at the first level, and then analyzed the alterations and age differences in the connectivity pattern using t-tests at the second level.

We extracted the average time series of all voxels within each ROI and conducted correlation analyses to compare the average time series of selected ROIs during rest and stimulation. We selected the parietal operculum (i.e. vestibular cortex) as the seed ROI and compared its average time series with the other ROIs. Positive connectivity of the vestibular cortex with any of the other ROIs suggests a synchronous pattern of their time series (i.e. activation and deactivation at similar times) and does not necessarily reflect an overall increase in the BOLD signal. Lastly, we assessed the relationship between such correlations and individual differences in age and balance. The Fisher r-to-z transformation is used to assess the significance of the difference between two correlation coefficients.

v. Results

Balance assessment results

As shown in the previous chapter (figure 3.1), we found a significant difference between young and older adults' performance in single leg stance (SLS) with eyes open (t= -2.69, p= 0.01, df= 23, CI: -105.88, -13.95), documenting poorer balance performance (greater ellipse area) for older adults. The other CoP measures were not significantly different between young and older adults.

Functional connectivity results

For all the results, we report the combined average times series of the Crus I and lobule VI ROIs as the cerebellum ROI, since their timecourses were strongly correlated with each other (r>.9).

Resting-state functional connectivity

First, we assessed whether functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex during rest differed across the two age groups. The two-way ANOVA for age and ROI showed no significant main effects or interaction, suggesting that at rest, there was no significant age difference in connectivity of the vestibular cortex with the other ROIs. Figure 4.1 illustrates a positive trend for correlation of vestibular cortex with all of the other ROIs, with the exception of the visual cortex in older adults (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4. 1 Resting state functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex (no significant main effects of age or ROI).

Error bars represent standard error. YA=young adults, OA=older adults *Task-based functional connectivity*

Next, we assessed whether functional connectivity of vestibular cortex during stimulation differed for the two age groups. The two-way ANOVA for age and ROI again showed no significant main effects or interaction. During vestibular stimulation, the vestibular cortex activity was positively correlated with that of all of the other ROIs (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex during vestibular stimulation (no significant main effects of age or ROI). Error bars represent standard error. YA=young adults, OA=older adults

Comparisons of resting-state and task-based functional connectivity

Next, we assessed whether functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex changed from rest to stimulation, and whether this effect differed for young and older adults. A three-way ANOVA of age, ROI, and condition (i.e. rest vs. stimulation) showed a significant main effect of age (F=3.91, p=0.04), condition (F=14.84, p=0.0001), and a significant age by condition by ROI interaction (F=2.33, p=0.04). The young adults exhibited overall greater connectivity than older adults (regardless of condition), and connectivity was higher during vestibular stimulation relative to rest (regardless of age). A follow up two-way ANOVA of age and condition for each ROI revealed a main effect of condition for the visual ROI, suggesting that vestibular-visual connectivity was significantly greater during stimulation than rest (F=9.85, p=.002) (Figure 4.3). The three-way interaction was driven by the increase in vestibular connectivity with temporal pole from rest to stimulation; which was only evident in young adults (F=5.03, p=.03).

a)



Figure 4.3 Functional connectivity of vestibular cortex during rest and tap stimulation, for a) young and b) older adults (significant main effects of age, condition, and age by condition by ROI interaction).

Error bars represent standard error.

b)

Functional connectivity association with balance

Next, we assessed whether functional connectivity of vestibular cortex predicts postural control.

For each individual, the correlation values between the vestibular cortex and the other ROIs were analyzed to evaluate associations with individual differences in postural control. Based on visual inspection, we selected the second half of the stimulation run (~last two minutes of a 4 minute run) for the correlation analyses (see Figure 4.4 for an example). The timecourses exhibited much stronger differences between good and bad performers in the second half, suggesting an adaptation to the novel vestibular stimulation that might have functional implications on balance control.



Figure 4.4 An example timecourse extracted from the vestibular cortex ROI.

This example shows the group average timecourse of vestibular signals for the older adults, parsed by performance in Romberg on Foam task.

Resting state functional connectivity association with balance

First we assessed whether resting state functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex predicts postural control, and whether this effect is modulated by age and task difficulty. Figure 4.5 depicts the correlation between vestibular cortical connectivity and performance in each of the four balance tasks. For each task, the measures of body sway are presented on the x-axis and the connectivity of vestibular cortex with other ROIs (i.e. correlation of their timecourses) is shown on the y-axis.

a) Normal Stance

b) Romberg



Figure 4. 5. Correlation of vestibular connectivity during rest with performance in a) normal stance, b) Romberg, c) Single Leg Stance, and d) Romberg on Foam tasks.
Panels a to d are placed in order of lowest to highest difficulty. The correlation values for young adults (YA) were -.09, .15, -.48, & .13 in normal stance, Romberg, Single Leg Stance, and Romberg on Foam; respectively. The correlation values for older adults (OA) were -.11, .43, .08, & -.10 in normal stance, Romberg, Single Leg Stance, and Romberg on Foam; respectively. None were significant.

The overall resting state functional connectivity of vestibular cortex did not predict postural stability in young or older adults. However, the ROI-specific connectivity was a predictor of balance in the Romberg on Foam task for young adults, revealing that higher vestibular-cerebellar connectivity was associated with higher body-sway (r=.61, p=.04).

Further, there was no significant age difference in how performance was associated with vestibular connectivity during rest. However, the ROI-specific correlations revealed a significant age difference in correlation of vestibular-brainstem connectivity with performance in normal stance (z=-2.03, p=.02). This was a positive correlation in the young adult group and negative in the old, revealing that higher connectivity of the vestibular cortex with the brainstem was associated with better performance in the older adults and poorer performance in the young adults. Also, the age difference in association of balance with vestibular connectivity did not change as task difficulty increased. The correlation between performance and vestibular connectivity at rest is summarized in table 4.1.

Table 4.1 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during rest with performance in a) normal stance and Romberg (low difficulty tasks) and b) Single Leg Stance and Romberg on Foam (high difficulty tasks).

Corresponding	n voluo to	anah rand	T in	chown in	poronthosis	*cignificant at	n < 05	(two tailed)
Concesponding	p-value to	each i and	Z 15	SHOWII III	parenulesis.	- significant at	p<.05 i	(two-taneu)

	ς.
9	۱
a	1

		Normal Sta	ince		Romberg	
Resting-state Connectivity	Young	Old	Age difference	Young	Old	Age difference
	r (p)	r (p)	z (p)	r (p)	r (p)	z (p)
Vestibular-All ROIs	09 (.79)	11 (.68)	.04 (.96)	.15 (.64)	.43 (.12)	66 (.50)
Vestibular-Visual	35 (.30)	09 (.73)	59 (.55)	.10 (.76)	.22 (.43)	27 (.78)
Vestibular-Somatosensory	09 (.79)	.14 (.63)	5 (.61)	.19 (.56)	.16 (.56)	.07 (.94)
Vestibular-Temporal pole	.05 (.87)	09 (.75)	.3 (.76)	.18 (.58)	.27 (.33)	2 (.84)
Vestibular-Cerebellum	.17 (.63)	.03 (.89)	.3 (.76)	05 (.87)	.44 (.11)	-1.12 (.26)
Vestibular-Brainstem	.44 (.20)	44 (.11)	-2.03 (.02)*	04 (.90)	.002 (.99)	09 (.92)

	1	Single Leg S	stance		Romberg on Foam	
Resting-state Connectivity	Young	Old	Age difference	Young	Old	Age difference
	r (p)	r (p)	<i>z</i> (<i>p</i>)	r (p)	r (p)	$z\left(p ight)$
Vestibular-All ROIs	48 (.12)	.08 (.76)	-1.3 (.19)	.13 (.68)	10 (.72)	.50 (.61)
Vestibular-Visual	38 (.23)	06 (.83)	73 (.46)	08 (.81)	26 (.38)	.40 (.68)
Vestibular-Somatosensory	46 (.15)	.18 (.51)	-1.46 (.14)	05 (.86)	11 (.71)	.13 (.89)
Vestibular-Temporal pole	57 (.06)	.02 (.93)	-1.44 (.14)	005 (.98)	.25 (.4)	56 (.57)
Vestibular-Cerebellum	03 (.92)	17 (.55)	.3 (.76)	.61 (.04)*	.02 (.92)	1.48 (.13)
Vestibular-Brainstem	.37 (.25)	.28 (.31)	.22 (.82)	.35 (.28)	04 (.89)	.87 (.38)

Task-based functional connectivity association with balance

Next, we assessed whether functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex during vestibular stimulation is associated with postural control, and whether this effect is modulated by age and task difficulty. Figure 4.6 depicts the correlation between vestibular cortical connectivity and performance in each of the four balance tasks. For each task, the measures of body sway are presented on the x-axis and the connectivity of vestibular cortex with other ROIs (i.e. correlation of their timecourses) is shown on the y-axis.

a) Normal Stance

b) Romberg



Figure 4.6 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during stimulation with performance in a) normal stance, b) Romberg, c) Single Leg Stance, and d) Romberg on Foam tasks.

Panels a to d are placed in order of lowest to highest difficulty. The correlation values for young adults (YA) were .47, -.01, .55, & .74 in normal stance, Romberg, Single Leg Stance, and Romberg on Foam; respectively. The correlation values for older adults (OA) were .23, -.14, .07, & -.21

in normal stance, Romberg, Single Leg Stance, and Romberg on Foam; respectively. YA correlation for Romberg on Foam was significant (p=.008).

The results showed that overall functional connectivity of vestibular cortex during stimulation was associated with postural stability in young adults performing the Romberg on Foam task (r=.74, p=.008) (i.e. higher connectivity between the vestibular cortex and all the other regions was associated with a higher amount of body sway). The ROI-specific connectivity association with balance was only significant in young adults, and only in tasks of high difficulty. Higher vestibular-visual connectivity predicted more body sway in Single Leg Stance (r=.74, p=.008), and higher vestibular-somatosensory connectivity and vestibular-cerebellar connectivity predicted more body sway in the Romberg on Foam task (r=.73, p=.009 & r=.66, p=.02; respectively).

Further, there was a significant age difference in the association between overall vestibular connectivity with performance in the Romberg on Foam task (z=-2.5, p=0.006). Vestibular connectivity with other regions was significantly associated with performance in young but not older adults. The ROI-specific correlations revealed a significant age difference in the correlation of vestibular-brainstem connectivity with performance in normal stance (z=-1.91, p=.02). This was a positive correlation in the young adult group and negative in the old, revealing that higher connectivity of the vestibular cortex with the brainstem was associated with better performance in the older adults and poorer performance in the young adults. The vestibular-cerebellar connectivity association with performance in the Romberg task was also significantly different between the young and older adults (z=-2.63, p=.008), revealing that higher connectivity in young adults was associated with better performance. This was the only case in which higher connectivity was associated with less body sway in young adults. The vestibular-visual connectivity association with performance in the Single Leg Stance conditions was also significantly different between young and older adults (z=-1.59,p=.05), revealing that young adults with higher vestibular-visual connectivity exhibited a greater amount of body sway. The vestibular-visual and vestibular-somatosensory connectivity association with performance in the Romberg on Foam task (z=1.65, p=.04 & z=2.37, p=.008; respectively) was also significantly different between the young and older adult groups. Higher connectivity was associated with

more body sway in young but not older adults. The pattern of results indicates that age differences in the association of balance with task-based vestibular connectivity were influenced by task difficulty (i.e. there were no age differences in associations between balance and overall vestibular connectivity in the lower difficulty tasks). The correlation patterns between performance and vestibular connectivity during stimulation are summarized in table 4.2.

Table 4.2 Correlation of vestibular connectivity during stimulation with performance in a) normal stance and Romberg (low difficulty tasks) and b) Single Leg Stance and Romberg on Foam (high difficulty tasks).

Corresponding p-val	ue to each r and	l z is shown ii	n parenthesis.	*significant a	at p<.05 (two-tailed)
a)					

		Normal Sta	ance		Romberg	
Task-based Connectivity	Young	Old	Age difference	Young	Old	Age difference
	r (p)	r (p)	$z\left(p ight)$	r (p)	r (p)	<i>z</i> (<i>p</i>)
Vestibular-All ROIs	.47 (.16)	.23 (.40)	.59 (.55)	01 (.96)	14 (.61)	.28 (.77)
Vestibular-Visual	.03 (.93)	.15 (.59)	26 (.79)	03 (.91)	06 (.83)	.06 (.95)
Vestibular-Somatosensory	.40 (.25)	.41 (.14)	03 (.97)	.05 (.86)	01 (.94)	.13 (.89)
Vestibular-Temporal pole	.41 (.22)	.16 (.58)	.59 (.55)	.44 (.17)	38 (.17)	1.88 (.06)
Vestibular-Cerebellum	.16 (.65)	.21 (.57)	11 (.91)	46 (.15)	.62 (.07)	-2.63 (.008)*
Vestibular-Brainstem	.48 (.15)	35 (.35)	-1.91 (.02)*	03 (.91)	03 (.93)	0(1)

b)

	S	Single Leg St	tance		Romberg on Foam	
Task-based Connectivity	Young	Old	Age difference	Young	Old	Age difference
	r (p)	r (p)	z (p)	r (p)	r (p)	z (p)
Vestibular-All ROIs	.55 (.07)	.07 (.81)	1.18 (.23)	.74 (.008)*	21 (.48)	-2.5 (0.006)*
Vestibular-Visual	.74 (.008)*	.21 (.46)	-1.59 (.05)*	.41 (.2)	32 (.27)	1.65 (.04)*
Vestibular-Somatosensory	.50 (.10)	04 (.88)	1.27 (.2)	.73 (.009)*	17 (.57)	2.37(.008)*
Vestibular-Temporal pole	.19 (.57)	.02 (.92)	.37 (.71)	.33 (.30)	32 (.28)	1.45 (.14)
Vestibular-Cerebellum	.28 (.40)	.28 (.46)	0(1)	.66 (.02)*	.14 (.73)	1.40 (.16)
Vestibular-Brainstem	.34 (.30)	01 (.96)	.78 (.43)	.31 (.34)	.33 (.41)	05 (.96)

Rest to task alterations in functional connectivity and their association with balance

Next, we assessed whether associations between functional connectivity and postural control changed from rest to stimulation, and whether any such changes were modulated by age and task difficulty. The results reveal that the association between balance and connectivity significantly changed from rest to stimulation, in that only task-based connectivity predicted performance for the young adults, and only in tasks of high difficulty (i.e. Single Leg Stance (z=-2.28, p=,02) and Romberg on Foam (z=-1.64, p=.05)). The ROI-specific correlations revealed that the connectivity of vestibular cortex with visual, somatosensory, and temporal pole during stimulation and not at rest (z=-2.7, p=.003; z=-2.09,p=.01; z=-1.68,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Single Leg Stance. Also, the connectivity of vestibular cortex during stimulation and not at rest (z=-1.96,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Single Leg Stance (z=-1.96,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Single Leg Stance. Also, the connectivity of vestibular cortex during stimulation and not at rest (z=-1.96,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Single Leg Stance (z=-1.96,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Single Leg Stance in vestibular connectivity of vestibular cortex during stimulation and not at rest (z=-1.96,p=.02) predicted young adults' performance in Foam task. Table 4.3 depicts the correlation between performance in each of the four balance tasks and changes in vestibular connectivity from rest to stimulation.

Table 4.3 The difference in association of performance with functional connectivity from rest to stimulation. The z values represent the difference in correlation coefficients of rest and stimulation.

	Normal	Stance	Ron	ıberg	Single Leg	g Stance	Romberg	on Foam
	Young	Old	Young	Old	Young	Old	Young	Old
	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)	z (p)
Vestibular-All ROIs	-1.2 (.23)	81 (.41)	.32 (.74)	1.41 (.15)	-2.28 (.02)*	.02 (.98)	-1.64 (.05)*	.26 (.79)
Vestibular-Visual	79 (.42)	57 (.56)	.26 (.79)	.67 (.50)	-2.7 (.003)*	64 (.52)	-1.03 (.30)	.15 (.88)
Vestibular-Somatosensory	-1.03 (.30)	69 (.49)	.28 (.77)	.4 (.68)	-2.09 (0.01)*	.52 (.6)	-1.96 (.02)*	.14 (.88)
Vestibular-Temporal pole	77 (.44)	59 (.55)	58 (.56)	1.59 (.11)	-1.68 (.04)*	0 (1)	70 (.48)	1.38 (.16)
Vestibular-Cerebellum	.02 (.98)	43 (.66)	.89 (.37)	59 (.55)	64 (.52)	-1.08 (.28)	17 (.86)	28 (.77)
Vestibular-Brainstem	1 (.92)	25 (.80)	02 (.98)	.08 (.93)	.07 (.94)	.7 (.48)	.09 (.92)	90 (.36)

Corresponding p-value to each z value is shown in parenthesis. *significant at p	p<.05 (two-tailed)
--	--------------------

vi. Discussion

In this study we investigated age differences in connectivity of the vestibular cortex with other sensorimotor regions, previously identified to be involved in processing vestibular information. We assessed vestibular connectivity in the resting state, during vestibular stimulation, and alterations from rest to stimulation. Lastly, we examined the relationship between individuals' balance and their functional connectivity patterns.

We found that vestibular connectivity during the resting state was not significantly different between young and older adults, and it did not predict individual differences in balance. There was also no significant age difference in vestibular connectivity during stimulation, but connectivity patterns were predictive of balance performance, depending on age and task demands.

Regardless of condition (i.e. rest or stimulation), young adults generally exhibited greater connectivity than older adults. Considering the higher magnitude of vestibular activation in the young relative to older adults reported in the previous chapter, this finding could be related to a greater sensitivity of young adults to vestibular stimulation. This is also in line with the findings of Cyran et al. (Cyran et al., 2016) who showed higher vestibular network connectivity in young adults. This suggests a distinction between how young and older adults modulate vestibular brain regions, with the young exhibiting stronger, more synchronous neural responses between vestibular cortex and other sensorimotor brain regions. Moreover, we found a significant increase in overall vestibular connectivity from rest to stimulation, predominantly in connectivity of vestibular and visual cortex.

By including the balance metrics and assessing the correlation of behavior with neural responses we were able to interpret the functional consequences of the observed age differences in connectivity patterns. We found that there was largely no significant age difference in correlation of balance with resting state vestibular connectivity (i.e. vestibular connectivity at rest was not a predictor of balance performance for either young or older adults). The only exception was for vestibular-brainstem connectivity, which was negatively correlated with body sway in the older adults, and positively in young adults. This was only true in the normal stance task, which suggests that older adults engage subcortical structures for vestibular processing (i.e. the vestibular nuclei) to perform equally as well as the young adults. That is, this may reflect a compensatory network connectivity pattern.

Unlike in the resting state, vestibular connectivity during stimulation was correlated with individuals' balance performance, and this correlation varied based on age and task demands. In tasks of low difficulty such as normal stance and Romberg, the pattern of correlation was similar between young and older adults. However, in more challenging tasks such as Romberg on foam and single leg stance, the pattern of correlation for young adults was similar to that observed for older adults on the easier balance tasks. In less demanding tasks young adults do not exhibit strong correlations between connectivity and performance, but with increases in difficulty, those young adults who activated the vestibular cortex more strongly and selectively (i.e. they had less connectivity with other ROIs) were the ones who performed better. This doesn't seem to be the case for older adults; they seem to exhibit less efficient processing of the vestibular signals, since more involvement of other regions is beneficial for their performance (i.e. more connectivity with other ROIs). Also, they may alter connectivity with regions outside of our selected ROIs (e.g. frontal cortex), for performing high demand tasks.

These current findings could be interpreted in light of the compensation-related utilization of neural circuits hypothesis (CRUNCH), proposed by Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell (Patricia A. Reuter-Lorenz & Cappell, 2008). According to this theory, at lower task demands, older adults may compensate for their inefficient neural processing by engaging more brain regions compared to the young (e.g. higher connectivity with the brainstem correlated with better balance in normal stance). However, as the task difficulty increases, both performance and the remaining available neural resources for older adults decline. As the current findings show, for example in the single leg stance task, the older adults' performance is strongly correlated with their vestibular connectivity patterns, whereas young adults' performance is strongly correlated with their vestibular connectivity patterns. The lower connectivity (i.e. more specificity of processing vestibular

information) showed to benefit the young adults' performance when the task demanded the highest reliance on vestibular input (e.g. Romberg on foam).

Our findings are in general agreement with previous studies suggesting that older adults exhibit an overall decline in functional connectivity compared to young (Cyran et al., 2016; Mowinckel et al., 2012; Peelle et al., 2010; Roski et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2014). However, in contrast with our initial hypothesis of de-synchronization (i.e. less functional connectivity) of vestibular and non-vestibular regions in the presence of vestibular stimulus (T Brandt et al., 1998; Deutschländer et al., 2002b; Laurienti et al., 2002b), we found a general increase in connectivity from resting state to stimulation. Considering that the current results reflect the average timecourse of BOLD signal, the overall greater BOLD amplitude during stimulation compared to resting state may explain the observed effect.

Langan et al. (Langan et al., 2010) showed that reduced resting state interhemispheric connectivity was associated with over-recruitment of non-dominant hemisphere during motor task performance for older adults, which was correlated with longer reaction time in motor performance. Similarly, Seidler et al. (R. Seidler et al., 2015) showed that greater resting state connectivity between motor cortex, putamen, insula and cerebellum was associated with better motor performance in older adults. These studies suggest that higher resting state functional connectivity in older adults was associated with better motor performance. We only found a trend for similar pattern in our data, showing that higher resting state functional connectivity of vestibular cortex and brainstem was correlated with better performance of older adults in normal stance.

Many studies have used non-invasive brain stimulation methods such as tDCS (Callan, Falcone, Wada, & Parasuraman, 2016; Cummiford et al., 2016; Keeser et al., 2011; Kunze, Hunold, Haueisen, Jirsa, & Spiegler, 2016; Polanía, Paulus, & Nitsche, 2012; Sehm, Kipping, Schäfer, Villringer, & Ragert, 2013) and TMS (Eldaief, Halko, Buckner, & Pascual-Leone, 2011; Grefkes et al., 2010; Horacek et al., 2007; Paus, Castro-Alamancos, & Petrides, 2001; Pleger et al., 2006; Vercammen et al., 2009) to modulate functional connectivity of different brain regions. Cai et al. (Cai et al., 2018) used GVS to enhance the deficient connectivity of pedunculopontine nucleus in

Parkinson's disease patients. These studies suggest that functional connectivity of different brain regions could be modulated by non-invasive brain stimulation. According to the current findings, older adults show an overall lower connectivity of vestibular cortex, and those older adults with more connectivity exhibit a trend for better postural stability (i.e. good performers). The brain regions identified in the present study could be potential targets of brain stimulation to modulate the functional connectivity patterns of older adults bad performers and make them more similar to older adult good performers. The behavioral outcomes of such neural modulation could be especially beneficial for older adults who cannot benefit from conventional balance training interventions.

Limitations

The small sample size and lack of power analysis are the most significant limitations of our study. Also, we did not control for other contributing factors in neural and behavioral processing, such as 1) age-related structural differences in gray matter volume and white matter integrity; 2) age differences in peripheral sensory processing, specifically the strength and recruitment strategy in ankle joint muscles; 3) role of attention and cognitive abilities; and 4) fear of fall. Further, the inability to measure the neural vestibular processing simultaneously with balance could be an additional source of variance in our data. Lastly, the older adults who participated in this study represent a relatively high functioning population. As evident by the lack of age difference in clinical tests of gait and balance (i.e. TUG and MDGI), our findings may not properly translate to a more typical population of older adults with balance issues.

vii. Conclusion

This study is the first to document age differences in the relationship between functional connectivity of the vestibular cortex and individual differences in balance. The current findings suggest that young adults who exhibit better balance are those who respond more strongly and selectively to vestibular inputs. This pattern is absent in older adults except in easier tasks, in line with CRUNCH.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the National Space Biomedical Research Institute (NASA NCC 9-58), NASA (NNX11AR02G), and NIH Grant 1S10OD012240-01A1.

viii. References

- Akin, F. W., Murnane, O. D., & Proffitt, T. M. (2003). The Effects of Click and Tone-Burst Stimulus Parameters on the Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potential (VEMP). *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 14(9), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.14.9.5
- Allen, D., Ribeiro, L., Arshad, Q., & Seemungal, B. M. (2016). Age-Related Vestibular Loss: Current Understanding and Future Research Directions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00231
- Allison, L. K., Kiemel, T., & Jeka, J. J. (2006). Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 342– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0559-7
- Angelaki, D. E., & Perachio, A. A. (1993). Contribution of irregular semicircular canal afferents to the horizontal vestibuloocular response during constant velocity rotation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3).
- Anson, E., Bigelow, R. T., Swenor, B., Deshpande, N., Studenski, S., Jeka, J. J., & Agrawal, Y. (2017). Loss of Peripheral Sensory Function Explains Much of the Increase in Postural Sway in Healthy Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 202. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00202
- Arshad, Q., Nigmatullina, Y., Roberts, R. E., Bhrugubanda, V., Asavarut, P., & Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Left cathodal trans-cranial direct current stimulation of the parietal cortex leads to an asymmetrical modulation of the vestibular-ocular reflex. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.002
- Baloh, R. W., Enrietto, J., Jacobson, K. M., & Lin, A. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Vestibular Function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Bao, T., Carender, W. J., Kinnaird, C., Barone, V. J., Peethambaran, G., Whitney, S. L., ... Sienko, K. H. (2018). Effects of long-term balance training with vibrotactile sensory augmentation among community-dwelling healthy older adults: a randomized preliminary study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 15(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-017-0339-6
- Barrett, M. M., Kenny, R. A., Maguinness, C., Setti, A., Doheny, E. P., Foran, T. G., & Newell, F. N. (2013). Reduced Vision Selectively Impairs Spatial Updating in Fall-prone Older Adults. *Multisensory Research*, 26(1–2), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1163/22134808-00002412
- Benjuya, N., Melzer, I., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(2), 166–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14999032
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (n.d.). Multisensory Cortical Signal Increases and Decreases During Vestibular Galvanic Stimulation (fMRI). Retrieved from https://www.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.2001.85.2.886
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2001). Multisensory cortical signal increases and decreases during vestibular galvanic stimulation (fMRI). J *Neurophysiol*, 85(2), 886–899. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160520
- Bent, L. R., McFadyen, B. J., & Inglis, J. T. (2002). Visual-vestibular interactions in postural control during the execution of a dynamic task. *Experimental Brain Research*, 146(4), 490–

500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1204-8

- Bernard, J. A., Peltier, S. J., Wiggins, J. L., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Fling, B. W., ... Seidler, R. D. (2013). Disrupted cortico-cerebellar connectivity in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 83, 103–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.042
- Bernard, J. a, & Seidler, R. D. (2012). Evidence for motor cortex dedifferentiation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1890–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.021
- Bigelow, R. T., & Agrawal, Y. (2015, June 2). Vestibular involvement in cognition: Visuospatial ability, attention, executive function, and memory. *Journal of Vestibular Research*. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150544
- Bird, M.-L., Pittaway, J. K., Cuisick, I., Rattray, M., & Ahuja, K. D. K. (2013). Age-related changes in physical fall risk factors: results from a 3 year follow-up of community dwelling older adults in Tasmania, Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5989–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115989
- Bloem, B. R., Grimbergen, Y. A. M., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2001). Prospective assessment of falls in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(11), 950– 958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170047
- Bolmont, B., Gangloff, P., Vouriot, A., & Perrin, P. P. (2002). Mood states and anxiety influence abilities to maintain balance control in healthy human subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00578-5
- Bottini, G., Karnath, H. O., Vallar, G., Sterzi, R., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Paulesu, E. (2001). Cerebral representations for egocentric space: Functional-anatomical evidence from caloric vestibular stimulation and neck vibration. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *124*(Pt 6), 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.6.1182
- Brandt, T., Bartenstein, P., Janek, A., & Dieterich, M. (1998). Reciprocal inhibitory visualvestibular interaction. Visual motion stimulation deactivates the parieto-insular vestibular cortex. *Brain*, 121(9), 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1749
- Brandt, T., Schautzer, F., Hamilton, D. A., Brüning, R., Markowitsch, H. J., Kalla, R., ... Strupp, M. (2005). Vestibular loss causes hippocampal atrophy and impaired spatial memory in humans. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *128*(Pt 11), 2732–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh617
- Brantberg, K., & Fransson, P. a. (2001). Symmetry measures of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials using objective detection criteria. *Scandinavian Audiology*, *30*(3), 189–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/010503901316914566
- Brantberg, K., & Tribukait, A. (2002). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to laterally directed skull taps. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, *12*(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12515890
- Brantberg, K., Westin, M., Löfqvist, L., Verrecchia, L., & Tribukait, A. (2009). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to lateral skull taps are dependent on two different mechanisms. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(5), 974–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.03.008
- Brocklehurst, J. C., Robertson, D., & James-Groom, P. (1982). Clinical correlates of sway in old age-sensory modalities. *Age and Ageing*, 1–10.
- Brooks, J. X., Carriot, J., & Cullen, K. E. (2015). Learning to expect the unexpected: rapid updating in primate cerebellum during voluntary self-motion. *Nat Neurosci*, *18*(9), 1310–1317. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.4077

BSPMVIEW | bspmview. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://www.bobspunt.com/bspmview/

- Bürki, C. N., Bridenbaugh, S. A., Reinhardt, J., Stippich, C., Kressig, R. W., & Blatow, M. (2017). Imaging gait analysis: An fMRI dual task study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.724
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1394–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414279
- Cai, J., Lee, S., Ba, F., Garg, S., Kim, L. J., Liu, A., ... McKeown, M. J. (2018). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS) Augments Deficient Pedunculopontine Nucleus (PPN) Connectivity in Mild Parkinson's Disease: fMRI Effects of Different Stimuli. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00101
- Callan, D. E., Falcone, B., Wada, A., & Parasuraman, R. (2016). Simultaneous tDCS-fMRI Identifies Resting State Networks Correlated with Visual Search Enhancement. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00072
- Capps, M. J., Preciado, M. C., Paparella, M. M., & Hoppe, W. E. (1973). Capps_et_al-1973-The_Laryngoscope (1).pdf. *The Laryngoscope*.
- Carp, J., Gmeindl, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2010). Age differences in the neural representation of working memory revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(217), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00217
- Carp, J., Park, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2011). Age-related neural dedifferentiation in the motor system. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029411
- Carp, J., Park, J., Polk, T. A., & Park, D. C. (2011). Age differences in neural distinctiveness revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, 56(2), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.267
- Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Passingham, R. E., Warner, T., Playford, E. D., Marsden, C. D., & Brooks, D. J. (1995). Overactive prefrontal and underactive motor cortical areas in idiopathic dystonia. *Annals of Neurology*, *37*(3), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410370313
- Center for Didease Control & Prevention. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html
- Chen, G., Taylor, P. A., & Cox, R. W. (2016). Is the Statistic Value All We Should Care about in Neuroimaging? *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/064212
- Chihara, Y., Iwasaki, S., Ushio, M., Fujimoto, C., Kashio, A., Kondo, K., ... Murofushi, T. (2009). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (oVEMPs) require extraocular muscles but not facial or cochlear nerve activity. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(3), 581–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.12.030
- Chun-Ju Chang, C.-J., Yu-Shin Chang, Y.-S., & Sai-Wei Yang, S.-W. (2013). Using single leg standing time to predict the fall risk in elderly. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (Vol. 2013, pp. 7456–7458). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6611282
- Colebatch, J. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Skuse, N. F. (1994). Myogenic potentials generated by a click-evoked vestibulocollic reflex. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 190–197.

- Cornell, E. D., Burgess, A. M., MacDougall, H. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2009). Vertical and horizontal eye movement responses to unilateral and bilateral bone conducted vibration to the mastoid. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, *19*(1,2), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-2009-0338
- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are Older Adults Less Embodied? A Review of Age Effects through the Lens of Embodied Cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cousins, S., Cutfield, N. J., Kaski, D., Palla, A., Seemungal, B. M., Golding, J. F., ... Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Visual dependency and dizziness after vestibular neuritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105426
- Cullen, K. E. (2012). The vestibular system: Multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *35*(3), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.12.001
- Cummiford, C. M., Nascimento, T. D., Foerster, B. R., Clauw, D. J., Zubieta, J.-K., Harris, R. E., & DaSilva, A. F. (2016). Changes in resting state functional connectivity after repetitive transcranial direct current stimulation applied to motor cortex in fibromyalgia patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 18(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0934-0
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006a). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006b). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, *175*(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Manzari, L., Smulders, Y. E., & Burgess, A. M. (2009). A review of the scientific basis and practical application of a new test of utricular function--ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials to bone-conducted vibration. Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale, 29(4), 179–86. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2816364&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., Burgess, A. M., Cornell, E. D., Mezey, L. E., Macdougall, H. G., ... Mcgarvie, L. A. (2011). The basis for using bone-conducted vibration or air-conducted sound to test otolithic function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1233*(1), 231– 241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06147.x
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., & Manzari, L. (2012). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) to test utricular function: neural and oculomotor evidence. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 32(1), 41–5. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC3324959/?report=abstract
- Cyran, C. A. M., Boegle, R., Stephan, T., Dieterich, M., & Glasauer, S. (2016). Age-related decline in functional connectivity of the vestibular cortical network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1443–1463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0983-6
- Day, B. L., Ramsay, E., Welgampola, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, R. C. (2011). The human semicircular canal model of galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3–4), 561–568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2565-7
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002a).

Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, *16*(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030

- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002b). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Diedrichsen, J. (2006). A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, 33(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056
- Diedrichsen, J., Balsters, J. H., Flavell, J., Cussans, E., & Ramnani, N. (2009). A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, *46*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045
- Diedrichsen, J., Maderwald, S., Küper, M., Thürling, M., Rabe, K., Gizewski, E. R., ... Timmann, D. (2011). Imaging the deep cerebellar nuclei: a probabilistic atlas and normalization procedure. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1786–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.035
- Diedrichsen, J., & Zotow, E. (2015). Surface-Based Display of Volume-Averaged Cerebellar Imaging Data. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Diener, H.-C., & Dichgans, J. (1988). Vestibulospinal Control of Posture and Locomotion. Progress in Brain Research (Vol. 76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)64512-4
- Dieterich, M. (2003). Dominance for Vestibular Cortical Function in the Non-dominant Hemisphere. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.9.994
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. *Brain*, 131(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *J Neurosci*, 30(18), 6409–6421. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R., & Zilles, K. (2006). Identifying human parieto-insular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human Brain Mapping*, *27*(7), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20205
- Eldaief, M. C., Halko, M. A., Buckner, R. L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Transcranial magnetic stimulation modulates the brain's intrinsic activity in a frequency-dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(52), 21229–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113103109
- Emri, M., Kisely, M., Lengyel, Z., Balkay, L., Márián, T., Mikó, L., ... Tóth, A. (2003). Cortical projection of peripheral vestibular signaling. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(5), 2639– 2646. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00599.2002
- Enticott, J. C., Tari, S., Koh, S. M., Dowell, R. C., & Leary, S. J. O. (2006). Cochlear Implant and Vestibular Function, (3), 824–830.
- Ertl, M., Kirsch, V., Gerb, J., Boegle, R., Krafczyk, S., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Appraisal of the signal-to-noise-ratio of uni- and bipolar recordings of ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 25(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150545
- Eyler, L. T., Sherzai, A., Kaup, A. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2011). A review of functional brain imaging correlates of successful cognitive aging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.032

- Fasold, O., von Brevern, M., Kuhberg, M., Ploner, C. J., Villringer, A., Lempert, T., & Wenzel, R. (2002). Human Vestibular Cortex as Identified with Caloric Stimulation in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 17(3), 1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1241
- Ferber-Viart, C., Dubreuil, C., & Duclaux, R. (1999). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in humans: a review. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*.
- Ferrè, E. R., Day, B. L., Bottini, G., & Haggard, P. (2013). How the vestibular system interacts with somatosensory perception: A sham-controlled study with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 550, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.06.046
- Fife, T. D., Tusa, R. J., Furman, J. M., Zee, D. S., Frohman, E., Baloh, R. W., ... Eviatar, L. (2000). Assessment: Vestibular testing techniques in adults and children. *Neurology*, 55, 1431–1441.
- Franchignoni, F., Tesio, L., Martino, M. T., & Ricupero, C. (1998). Reliability of four simple, quantitative tests of balance and mobility in healthy elderly females. *Aging (Milan, Italy)*, 10(1), 26–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9589748
- Frank, S. M., & Greenlee, M. W. (2014). An MRI-compatible caloric stimulation device for the investigation of human vestibular cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 235, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.07.008
- FreeSurferMethodsCitation Free Surfer Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/fswiki/FreeSurferMethodsCitation
- Friston, K. J., Ashburner, J., Frith, C. D., Poline, J.-B., Heather, J. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (1995). Spatial registration and normalization of images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 3(3), 165– 189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460030303
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Price, C. J., Büchel, C., & Worsley, K. J. (1999). Multisubject fMRI studies and conjunction analyses. *NeuroImage*, 10(4), 385–96. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0484
- Furman, J. M., & Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of aging on the otolith-ocular reflex. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Gentine, A., Eichhorn, J.-L., Kopp, C., & Conraux, C. (1990). Modelling the action of caloric stimulation of the vestibule: *I. The Hydrostatic Model. Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *110*(5–6), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489009107451
- Glover, G. H., Li, T. Q., & Ress, D. (2000). Image-based method for retrospective correction of physiological motion effects in fMRI: RETROICOR. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(1), 162–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893535
- Goble, D. J., Coxon, J. P., Van Impe, a., Geurts, M., Doumas, M., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2011). Brain Activity during Ankle Proprioceptive Stimulation Predicts Balance Performance in Young and Older Adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(45), 16344–16352. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4159-11.2011
- Goldberg, J. M., Smith, C. E., & Fernandez, C. (1984). Relation between discharge regularity and responses to externally applied galvanic currents in vestibular nerve afferents of the squirrel monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *51*(6).
- Goldberg, J. M., Wilson, V. J., Cullen, K. E., Angelaki, D. E., Broussard, D. M., Buttner-Ennever, J., ... Minor, L. B. (2012). *The Vestibular System: A Sixth Sense*. Oxford University Press.
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Wang, L. E., Dafotakis, M., Eickhoff, S. B., & Fink, G. R. (2010). Modulating cortical connectivity in stroke patients by rTMS assessed with fMRI and

dynamic causal modeling. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 233–242.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.029

- Guidetti, G. (2013). The role of cognitive processes in vestibular disorders. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, *11*(S1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.3109/21695717.2013.765085
- Guldin, W. O., & Grüsser, O. J. (1998). Is there a vestibular cortex? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(6), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01211-3
- Gurvich, C., Maller, J. J., Lithgow, B., Haghgooie, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2013). Vestibular insights into cognition and psychiatry. *Brain Research*, *1537*, 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.058
- Haxby, J. V, Gobbini, M. I., Furey, M. L., Ishai, A., Schouten, J. L., & Pietrini, P. (2001). Distributed and Overlapping Representations of Faces and Objects in Ventral Temporal Cortex. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7549/e383e527ebcebb131edd57fcb08874d5d77a.pdf

- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., & Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron*, 68(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Hesselmann, V., Zaro Weber, O., Wedekind, C., Krings, T., Schulte, O., Kugel, H., ... Lackner, K. J. (2001). Age related signal decrease in functional magnetic resonance imaging during motor stimulation in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 308(3), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01920-6
- Heuninckx, S., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2008). Systems Neuroplasticity in the Aging Brain: Recruiting Additional Neural Resources for Successful Motor Performance in Elderly Persons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3300-07.2008
- Hitier, M., Besnard, S., & Smith, P. F. (2014). Vestibular pathways involved in cognition. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, *8*, 59. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00059
- Holmeslet, B., Westin, M., & Brantberg, K. (2011). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: skull taps can cause a stimulus direction dependent double-peak. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(2), 391–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.06.020
- Horacek, J., Brunovsky, M., Novak, T., Skrdlantova, L., Klirova, M., Bubenikova-Valesova, V., ... Höschl, C. (2007). Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology*, 55(3–4), 132–42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106055
- Huang, S.-L., Hsieh, C.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Lu, W.-S. (2011). Minimal Detectable Change of the Timed "Up & amp; Go" Test and the Dynamic Gait Index in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090126
- Huppert, T., Schmidt, B., Beluk, N., Furman, J., & Sparto, P. (2013). Measurement of brain activation during an upright stepping reaction task using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(11), 2817–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22106
- Impe, A. Van, Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Doumas, M., & Swinnen, S. P. (2012). White matter fractional anisotropy predicts balance performance in older adults. NBA, 33(9), 1900–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.013
- Indovina, I. (2005). Representation of Visual Gravitational Motion in the Human Vestibular Cortex. *Science*, *308*(5720), 416–419. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107961

- Inukai, Y., Saito, K., Sasaki, R., Kotan, S., Nakagawa, M., & Onishi, H. (2016). Influence of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to the Cerebellum on Standing Posture Control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00325
- Israel, I., Bronstein, A. M., Kanayama, R., Faldon, M., & Gresty, M. A. (1996). Visual and vestibular factors influencing vestibular ?navigation? *Experimental Brain Research*, 112(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00227947
- Iwasaki, S., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Burgess, A. M., Kim, J., Colebatch, J. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2007). Head taps evoke a crossed vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neurology*, 68(15), 1227–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000259064.80564.21
- Iwasaki, S., Smulders, Y. E., Burgess, A. M., McGarvie, L. A., Macdougall, H. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Curthoys, I. S. (2008). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to bone conducted vibration of the midline forehead at Fz in healthy subjects. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 119(9), 2135–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.05.028
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008a). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008b). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Jayakaran, P., Johnson, G. M., & Sullivan, S. J. (2013). Concurrent validity of the Sensory Organization Test measures in unilateral transtibial amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, *37*(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309364612448391
- Jeka, J. J., Allison, L. K., & Kiemel, T. (2010). The Dynamics of Visual Reweighting in Healthy and Fall-Prone Older Adults. *Journal of Motor Behavior*.
- Jones, P. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. *Brain*.
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Motes, M. A., Rypma, B., & Biswal, B. B. (2010). Neural and vascular variability and the fMRI-BOLD response in normal aging. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 28(4), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2009.12.007
- Karim, H., Fuhrman, S. I., Sparto, P., Furman, J., & Huppert, T. (2013). Functional brain imaging of multi-sensory vestibular processing during computerized dynamic posturography using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 74, 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.010
- Karim, H., Schmidt, B., Dart, D., Beluk, N., & Huppert, T. (2012). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) of brain function during active balancing using a video game system. *Gait & Posture*, 35(3), 367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.10.007
- Karim, H. T., Fuhrman, S. I., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2013). Neuroimaging to detect cortical projection of vestibular response to caloric stimulation in young and older adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). *NeuroImage*, 76, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.061
- Karim, H. T., Sparto, P. J., Aizenstein, H. J., Furman, J. M., Huppert, T. J., Erickson, K. I., & Loughlin, P. J. (2014). Functional MR imaging of a simulated balance task. *Brain Research*, 1555, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.033

- Keeser, D., Meindl, T., Bor, J., Palm, U., Pogarell, O., Mulert, C., ... Padberg, F. (2011). Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Changes Connectivity of Resting-State Networks during fMRI. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(43), 15284–15293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2016). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kong, J., Gollub, R. L., Webb, J. M., Kong, J. T., Vangel, M. G., & Kwong, K. (2007). Testretest study of fMRI signal change evoked by electroacupuncture stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 34(3), 1171–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.019
- Kunze, T., Hunold, A., Haueisen, J., Jirsa, V., & Spiegler, A. (2016). Transcranial direct current stimulation changes resting state functional connectivity: A large-scale brain network modeling study. *NeuroImage*, 140, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.015
- Kyriakareli, A., Cousins, S., Pettorossi, V. E., & Bronstein, A. M. (2013). Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on vestibular-ocular and vestibulo-perceptual thresholds. *Neuroreport*, 24(14), 808–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283646e65
- L. Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, 38(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001
- Langan, J., Peltier, S. J., Bo, J., Fling, B. W., Welsh, R. C., & Seidler, R. D. (2010). Functional implications of age differences in motor system connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00017
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002a). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *14*(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002b). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *14*(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Lee, B.-C., Kim, J., Chen, S., & Sienko, K. H. (2012). Cell phone based balance trainer. *Journal* of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 9, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-10
- Li, H. J., Hou, X. H., Liu, H. H., Yue, C. L., Lu, G. M., & Zuo, X. N. (2015). Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 57(16), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013
- Lin, C.-C., Barker, J. W., Sparto, P. J., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2017). Functional nearinfrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8
- Lobel, E., Bihan, D. Le, Berthoz, A., & Cnrs, C. D. F. (1996). Searching for the vestibular cortex with functional M R I, (2).
- Lobel, E., Kleine, J. F., Bihan, D. Le, Leroy-Willig, A., & Berthoz, A. (1998). Functional MRI

of Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, 80(5), 2699–2709. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/80/5/2699.short

- Lopez, C., & Blanke, O. (2011). The thalamocortical vestibular system in animals and humans. *Brain Research Reviews*, 67(1–2), 119–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.12.002
- Lopez, C., Blanke, O., & Mast, F. W. (2012). The human vestibular cortex revealed by coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*, 212, 159– 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.028
- Lopez, C., Schreyer, H. M., Preuss, N., & Mast, F. W. (2012). Vestibular stimulation modifies the body schema. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1830–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.008
- Lopez, I., Honrubia, V., & Baloh, R. W. (1997). Aging and the Human Vestibular Nucleus. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Lord, S. R., & Ward, J. a. (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing*, 23(6), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/23.6.452
- Macaluso, E. (2006). Multisensory processing in sensory-specific cortical areas. The Neuroscientist : A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 12(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287908
- Maki, B. E., Holliday, P. J., & Topper, A. K. (1994). A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(2), M72-84. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126355
- Mancini, M., & Horak, F. B. (2010). The relevance of clinical balance assessment tools to differentiate balance deficits. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(2), 239–48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485226
- Marcelli, V., Esposito, F., Aragri, A., Furia, T., Riccardi, P., Tosetti, M., ... Di Salle, F. (2009). Spatio-temporal pattern of vestibular information processing after brief caloric stimulation. *European Journal of Radiology*, 70(2), 312–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.01.042
- Mast, F. W., Preuss, N., Hartmann, M., & Grabherr, L. (2014). Spatial cognition, body representation and affective processes: the role of vestibular information beyond ocular reflexes and control of posture. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 8(July), 44. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00044
- Matheson, A. J., Darlington, C. L., & Smith, P. F. (1999). Dizziness in the Elderly and Agerelated Degeneration of the Vestibular System. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*.
- Matsuda, P. N., Taylor, C. S., & Shumway-Cook, A. (2014). Evidence for the Validity of the Modified Dynamic Gait Index Across Diagnostic Groups. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 996– 1004. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130294
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: a comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218
- Miyamoto, T., Fukushima, K., Takada, T., de Waele, C., & Vidal, P.-P. (2007). Saccular stimulation of the human cortex: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, *423*(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.036
- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle Weakness and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the*

American Geriatrics Society, 52(7), 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x

- Mowinckel, A. M., Espeseth, T., & Westlye, L. T. (2012). Network-specific effects of age and in-scanner subject motion: A resting-state fMRI study of 238 healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 63(3), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2012.08.004
- Mulavara, A. P., Kofman, I. S., De Dios, Y. E., Miller, C., Peters, B. T., Goel, R., ... Bloomberg, J. J. (2015). Using low levels of stochastic vestibular stimulation to improve locomotor stability. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00117
- Murofushi, T., Ochiai, A., Ozeki, H., & Iwasaki, S. (2004). Laterality of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *International Journal of Audiology*, *43*(2), 66–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15035558
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695– 699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson-Wong, E., Appell, R., McKay, M., Nawaz, H., Roth, J., Sigler, R., ... Walker, M. (2012). Increased fall risk is associated with elevated co-contraction about the ankle during static balance challenges in older adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(4), 1379– 1389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2094-x
- Nguyen, K. D., Welgampola, M. S., & Carey, J. P. (2010). Test-retest reliability and age-related characteristics of the ocular and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential tests. *Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 31*(5), 793– 802. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e3181e3d60e
- Nichols, T. E., & Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, *15*(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11747097
- NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from https://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/
- Noohi, F., Kinnaird, C., DeDios, Y., Kofman, I. S., Wood, S., Bloomberg, J., ... Seidler, R. (2017). Functional brain activation in response to a clinical vestibular test correlates with balance. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00011
- Oechslin, M. S., Meyer, M., & Jäncke, L. (2010). Absolute pitch-functional evidence of speechrelevant auditory acuity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp113
- Pal, S., ... S. R.-J. of V., & 2009, undefined. (n.d.). Stochastic galvanic vestibular stimulation produces a small reduction in sway in Parkinson's disease. *Content.iospress.com*. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibular-research/ves00360
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 13091–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405148101
- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–96. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656

- Park, J., Carp, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2010). Neural specificity predicts fluid processing ability in older adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(27), 9253–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0853-10.2010
- Pasma, J. H., Engelhart, D., Maier, A. B., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & Meskers, C. G. M. (2015). Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 3220–33. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Paus, T., Castro-Alamancos, M. A., & Petrides, M. (2001). Cortico-cortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 1405–1411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01757.x
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Wingfield, A., & Grossman, M. (2010). Neural processing during older adults' comprehension of spoken sentences: age differences in resource allocation and connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 20(4), 773–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp142
- Peterka, R. J. (2012). Use of galvanic vestibular feedback for a balance prosthesis. Conference Proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual Conference, 2012, 6137–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2012.6347394
- Pleger, B., Blankenburg, F., Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Wiech, K., Stephan, K. E., ... Dolan, R. J. (2006). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced changes in sensorimotor coupling parallel improvements of somatosensation in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 1945–52. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4097-05.2006
- Podsiadlo, D., & Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39(2), 142–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1991946
- Polanía, R., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2012). Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(10), 2499–2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21380
- Proctor, L. R. (1988). *Clinical experience with a short-acting, adjustable caloric stimulation. Vestibular Disorders Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago.*
- Pujol, J., Roset-Llobet, J., Rosinés-Cubells, D., Deus, J., Narberhaus, B., Valls-Solé, J., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Brain Cortical Activation during Guitar-Induced Hand Dystonia Studied by Functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 12(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1006/NIMG.2000.0615
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive Aging and the Compensation Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2010). Human Neuroscience and the Aging Mind: A New Look at Old Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq035
- Roberta Ronchi, Gilles Rode, Francois Cottond, Alessandro Farne, Y. R. and S. J.-C. (2012). Remission of anosognosia for right hemiplegia and neglect after caloric vestibular stimulation, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-120236

- Roski, C., Caspers, S., Langner, R., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). Adult age-dependent differences in resting-state connectivity within and between visualattention and sensorimotor networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 5, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00067
- Ruffieux, J., Mouthon, A., Keller, M., Mouthon, M., Annoni, J.-M., & Taube, W. (2018).
 Balance Training Reduces Brain Activity during Motor Simulation of a Challenging
 Balance Task in Older Adults: An fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00010
- Ruhe, A., Fejer, R., & Walker, B. (2010). The test-retest reliability of centre of pressure measures in bipedal static task conditions A systematic review of the literature. *Gait and Posture*, *32*(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.012
- Schlindwein, P., Mueller, M., Bauermann, T., Brandt, T., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008). Cortical representation of saccular vestibular stimulation: VEMPs in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 39(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.016
- Scinicariello, A. P., Eaton, K., Inglis, J. T., & Collins, J. J. (2001). Enhancing human balance control with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 84(6), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007991
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler-Dobrin, R. D., He, J., & Stelmach, G. E. (1998). Coactivation to reduce variability in the elderly. *Motor Control*, 2(4), 314–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9758884
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. a, Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., ... Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(5), 721–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.005
- Seidler, R., Erdeniz, B., Koppelmans, V., Hirsiger, S., Mérillat, S., & Jäncke, L. (2015). Associations between age, motor function, and resting state sensorimotor network connectivity in healthy older adults. *NeuroImage*, 108, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.023
- Shimazu, H., & Precht, W. (1966). Inhibition of central vestibular neurons from the contralateral labyrinth and its mediating pathway. *J Neurophysiol*, 29(3), 467–492. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/29/3/467
- Shumway-Cook, A., Brauer, S., & Woollacott, M. (2000). Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & amp; Go Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80(9), 896–903. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960937
- Shumway-Cook, A., Taylor, C. S., Matsuda, P. N., Studer, M. T., & Whetten, B. K. (2013). Expanding the Scoring System for the Dynamic Gait Index. *Physical Therapy*, 93(11), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130035
- Sienko, K. H., Balkwill, M. D., Oddsson, L. I. E., & Wall, C. (2008). Journal of vestibular research: Equilibrium and orientation. Journal of Vestibular Research (Vol. 18). Elsevier Science. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibularresearch/ves00335
- Smith, P. F., & Darlington, C. L. (2013). Personality changes in patients with vestibular dysfunction. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00678

- Smith, P. F., Darlington, C. L., & Zheng, Y. (2010). Move it or lose it--is stimulation of the vestibular system necessary for normal spatial memory? *Hippocampus*, 20(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20588
- Smith, P. F., & Zheng, Y. (2013). From ear to uncertainty: vestibular contributions to cognitive function. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7(November), 84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00084
- Stephan, T., Deutschländer, A., Nolte, A., Schneider, E., Wiesmann, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2005). Functional MRI of galvanic vestibular stimulation with alternating currents at different frequencies. *NeuroImage*, 26(3), 721–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.049
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1560–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Sullivan, E. V, Rose, J., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2009). Postural sway reduction in aging men and women: relation to brain structure, cognitive status, and stabilizing factors. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.021
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Todd, N. P. M. (2010). The origin of the ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (OVEMP). Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 121(6), 978–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.026
- Todd, N. P. M., Rosengren, S. M., Aw, S. T., & Colebatch, J. G. (2007). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (OVEMPs) produced by air- and bone-conducted sound. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(2), 381–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.025
- Tsakiris, M., Costantini, M., & Haggard, P. (2008). The role of the right temporo-parietal junction in maintaining a coherent sense of one's body. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.06.004
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., ... Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Uludağ, K., Dubowitz, D. J., Yoder, E. J., Restom, K., Liu, T. T., & Buxton, R. B. (2004). Coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption during physiological activation and deactivation measured with fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 23(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2004.05.013
- Uludağ, K., Müller-Bierl, B., & Uğurbil, K. (2009). An integrative model for neuronal activityinduced signal changes for gradient and spin echo functional imaging. *NeuroImage*, 48(1),

150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.051

- Van Beers, R., J., A. C. S., & Gon., J. J. D. van der. (1999). Integration of Proprioceptive and Visual Position-Information: An Experimentally Supported Model, 1355–1364.
- Van Essen, D. C., Drury, H. A., Dickson, J., Harwell, J., Hanlon, D., & Anderson, C. H. (2001). An integrated software suite for surface-based analyses of cerebral cortex. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 8(5), 443–59. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=131042&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Vercammen, A., Knegtering, H., Bruggeman, R., Westenbroek, H. M., Jenner, J. A., Slooff, C. J., ... Aleman, A. (2009). Effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on treatment resistant auditory-verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Research*, 114(1–3), 172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.013
- Vidal PP, Berthoz A, M. M. (1982). Difference between eye closure and visual stabilization in the control of posture in man. *Aviat Space Environ Med*.
- Wackym, P. A., Ratigan, J. A., Birck, J. D., Johnson, S. H., Doornink, J., Bottlang, M., ... Black, F. O. (2012). Rapid cVEMP and oVEMP responses elicited by a novel head striker and recording device. Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 33(8), 1392–400. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e318268d234
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Gong, X., Huang, W., Xu, L., & Zhou, C. (2008). Why cold water delays the onset of vestibular vertigo-An functional MRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 67(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.08.021
- Welgampola, M. S., & Colebatch, J. G. (2005). Characteristics and clinical applications of vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials. *Neurology*, 64(10), 1682–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000161876.20552.AA
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Nieto-Castanon, A. (2014). CONN fMRI functional connectivity toolbox BATCH processing manual, 81. Retrieved from http://www.nitrc.org/projects/conn
- Whitney, S. L., Roche, J. L., Marchetti, G. F., Lin, C.-C., Steed, D. P., Furman, G. R., ... Redfern, M. S. (2011). A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: A measure of balance. *Gait & Posture*, 33(4), 594–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.01.015
- Wiesmeier, I. K., Dalin, D., Wehrle, A., Granacher, U., Muehlbauer, T., Dietterle, J., ... Maurer, C. (2017). Balance Training Enhances Vestibular Function and Reduces Overactive Proprioceptive Feedback in Elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00273
- Wilke, M., & Lidzba, K. (2007). LI-tool: A new toolbox to assess lateralization in functional MR-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2007.01.026
- Wilke, M., & Schmithorst, V. J. (2006). A combined bootstrap/histogram analysis approach for computing a lateralization index from neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage*, 33(2), 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2006.07.010
- Wolfson, L., Judge, J., Whipple, R., & King, M. (1995). Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences, 50 Spec No, 64–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7493221

- Wuehr, M., Nusser, E., Krafczyk, S., Straube, A., Brandt, T., Jahn, K., & Schniepp, R. (2016). Noise-Enhanced Vestibular Input Improves Dynamic Walking Stability in Healthy Subjects. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.017
- Yamamoto, Y., Struzik, Z. R., Soma, R., Ohashi, K., & Kwak, S. (2005). Noisy vestibular stimulation improves autonomic and motor responsiveness in central neurodegenerative disorders. *Annals of Neurology*, 58(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20574
- Yang, Z., Chang, C., Xu, T., Jiang, L., Handwerker, D. A., Castellanos, F. X., ... Zuo, X.-N. (2014). Connectivity trajectory across lifespan differentiates the precuneus from the default network. *NeuroImage*, 89, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2013.10.039
- Yuan, J., Blumen, H. M., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). Functional connectivity associated with gait velocity during walking and walking-while-talking in aging: A resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(4), 1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22717
- Zalewski, C. K. (2015). Aging of the Human Vestibular System Balance Function and The Role of The Vestibular System Epidemiology of Dizziness.
- zu Eulenburg, P., Caspers, S., Roski, C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Meta-analytical definition and functional connectivity of the human vestibular cortex. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.032

Concluding Remarks

Big Picture Findings

In this dissertation I examined the neural mechanisms underlying vestibular processing, how those mechanisms are related to postural control, and how they change with age.

In the first chapter, I provided a general background on the role of the vestibular system, the alterations of vestibular function with healthy aging, and the significance of investigating the vestibular brain network and its correlation with behavioral indexes of vestibular processing (i.e. balance).

In the second chapter, I evaluated a novel method for stimulating the vestibular cortex inside the MRI scanner. I established the validity of my method by showing that it successfully activated the vestibular cortex in a fashion similar to more conventional approaches and that it resulted in vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. This is important because this method prevents aversive responses caused by subjects' discomfort (which is common in other stimulation methods), and the method is fast and easy to implement. I also showed that higher activation of the vestibular cortex and cerebellar lobule VI was correlated with better balance in a visually degraded balance task for young adults.

In the third chapter, I investigated age differences in the neural processing of vestibular inputs and how age differences in neural activity relate to age differences in balance. I found that young adults show higher sensitivity to vestibular stimulation, evidenced by greater responses in the canonical vestibular cortex. Also, I found that vestibular stimulation results in deactivation of other sensory cortices such as visual and somatosensory cortex. Deactivation of these other sensory regions was correlated with greater body sway (i.e. worse balance) in a normal stance task, perhaps due to the multisensory nature of this task. This correlation was stronger in older adults perhaps due to less efficient compensatory mechanisms. I also found that the more reliability of activation patterns in response to stimulation was correlated with better balance, regardless of age.

In the fourth chapter, I assessed age differences in connectivity of the vestibular cortex with other sensory regions, and its correlation with balance. I investigated this connectivity during rest, during vestibular stimulation, and also examined the change from resting state to stimulation. I found that there were no significant age differences in vestibular connectivity at rest. During vestibular stimulation, the connectivity between the vestibular cortex and other ROIs was significantly increased relative to the resting state. The overall connectivity of vestibular cortex was higher in young relative to older adults. Considering the higher magnitude of response in young compared to older adults, this finding could be related to more sensitivity of young adults to vestibular stimulation. Although resting state connectivity was generally not a predictor of balance, connectivity during vestibular stimulation often was. Young adults with higher connectivity exhibited more body sway in more challenging tasks, which suggested that less specificity of vestibular processing was associated with poorer balance. Such strong correlations were absent in older adults performing the difficult tasks, which could be interpreted based on the CRUNCH model of aging. That is, with increases in task difficulty, the available neural resources of older adults declines and the usual compensatory mechanisms used in performing easier tasks (e.g. engaging the brainstem to perform as well as young adults in the normal stance task) become ineffective. Taken together with the findings of chapter three, in performance of easy tasks such as normal stance, good balance in older adults was associated with the following neural patterns: 1) less deactivation of cross modal sensory regions, which indicates less need for neural allocation to vestibular cortex. This could potentially suggest that good performers are more young-like in that they are more sensitive to vestibular inputs, showing expected patterns of vestibular activation and visual-somatosensory deactivation (as opposed to excessive visual-somatosensory deactivation); 2) less connectivity of vestibular cortex with other regions, suggesting less synchronized patterns of neural response (i.e. vestibular activation and visual-somatosensory deactivation) and more specificity of response to

vestibular inputs. In performance of more challenging task such as Romberg on foam, there was no significant correlation between neural response and behavior, suggesting a deterioration of neural resources with increase in task demands (i.e. CRUNCH).

In sum, I have provided evidence for 1) the validity of a new vestibular stimulation method in the fMRI setting, 2) age differences in response to vestibular stimulation, and association of these vestibular neural responses with balance, and 3) age differences in connectivity of vestibular cortex with other sensory regions and its relation to balance. These findings suggest that older adults are overall less sensitive to vestibular stimulation. Also, better balance is associated with stronger activation of vestibular cortex in young adults (second chapter), less deactivation of visual and somatosensory regions in older adults (third chapter), and less connectivity of vestibular cortex with other sensory regions in young adults (fourth chapter).

Limitations

The main limitation of the experiments presented in this dissertation is the relatively small sample size. Caution should therefore be taken in generalizing the findings to a broader population. However, considering similar published work in this field with ≤ 15 subjects per group (S Bense et al., 2001; T Brandt et al., 1998; Cyran et al., 2016; Simon B. Eickhoff et al., 2006; Fasold et al., 2002; Frank & Greenlee, 2014; H. T. Karim et al., 2013; Elie Lobel et al., 1998; Ruffieux et al., 2018; Mikio Suzuki et al., 2001), it's not unreasonable to consider the current findings as a platform to form hypothesis for future research. Another potential limitation lies with the logistical constraints associated with neuroimaging. In particular, brain function was always measured in the supine position, but I then associated neural activity and connectivity with upright postural control. One may argue that more mobile neuroimaging techniques such as functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) could be a better fit for assessing the brain function in relation to balance. On the other hand, fNIRS does not have the spatial resolution of fMRI. Furthermore, fNIRS can only estimate activity in cortical regions. The current work and the literature suggest a strong role of subcortical structures in balance, which is not possible to examine using fNIRS. Lastly, like many neuroimaging studies, all of the findings reported in this dissertation are correlational and therefore cannot be interpreted as evidence for causal

relationships between age, brain function, and postural control.

Future directions

Additional research needs to be conducted to illuminate the role of cognitive status in the observed effects. In particular, additional cognitive assessments are needed to clarify the extent to which age differences are mediated by attention. Moreover, future research should evaluate the age differences in peripheral sensory processing and how it contributes to the age differences in performance and neural processing at CNS level. Including other measures of body sway such as mean velocity in addition to ellipse area can further illuminate age differences in response to postural perturbation. Further, using the brain regions identified in the present work, future studies could move beyond correlation to causation by modifying the function and connectivity of these regions. Using non-invasive brain stimulation methods such as GVS, TMS, and tDCS would further illuminate the role of these brain regions in balance control, and whether the effect would differ by age. Also, considering that many older adults are unable to meet the suggested exercise requirements for their age, future studies are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of brain stimulation methods to improve the postural stability in these older adults. In particular, instead of using the balance data of completed tasks, future research may focus on percentage of trials completed prior to step out (i.e. fall) and whether they can be modified by brain stimulation.

Bibliography

- Akin, F. W., Murnane, O. D., & Proffitt, T. M. (2003). The Effects of Click and Tone-Burst Stimulus Parameters on the Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potential (VEMP). *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 14(9), 500–509. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.14.9.5
- Allen, D., Ribeiro, L., Arshad, Q., & Seemungal, B. M. (2016). Age-Related Vestibular Loss: Current Understanding and Future Research Directions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00231
- Allison, L. K., Kiemel, T., & Jeka, J. J. (2006). Multisensory reweighting of vision and touch is intact in healthy and fall-prone older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 342– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0559-7
- Angelaki, D. E., & Perachio, A. A. (1993). Contribution of irregular semicircular canal afferents to the horizontal vestibuloocular response during constant velocity rotation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3).
- Anson, E., Bigelow, R. T., Swenor, B., Deshpande, N., Studenski, S., Jeka, J. J., & Agrawal, Y. (2017). Loss of Peripheral Sensory Function Explains Much of the Increase in Postural Sway in Healthy Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 202. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00202
- Arshad, Q., Nigmatullina, Y., Roberts, R. E., Bhrugubanda, V., Asavarut, P., & Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Left cathodal trans-cranial direct current stimulation of the parietal cortex leads to an asymmetrical modulation of the vestibular-ocular reflex. *Brain Stimulation*, 7(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.002
- Baloh, R. W., Enrietto, J., Jacobson, K. M., & Lin, A. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Vestibular Function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Bao, T., Carender, W. J., Kinnaird, C., Barone, V. J., Peethambaran, G., Whitney, S. L., ... Sienko, K. H. (2018). Effects of long-term balance training with vibrotactile sensory augmentation among community-dwelling healthy older adults: a randomized preliminary study. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 15(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-017-0339-6
- Barrett, M. M., Kenny, R. A., Maguinness, C., Setti, A., Doheny, E. P., Foran, T. G., & Newell, F. N. (2013). Reduced Vision Selectively Impairs Spatial Updating in Fall-prone Older Adults. *Multisensory Research*, 26(1–2), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1163/22134808-00002412
- Benjuya, N., Melzer, I., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Aging-induced shifts from a reliance on sensory input to muscle cocontraction during balanced standing. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 59(2), 166–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14999032
- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (n.d.). Multisensory Cortical Signal Increases and Decreases During Vestibular Galvanic Stimulation (fMRI). Retrieved from https://www.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.2001.85.2.886

- Bense, S., Stephan, T., Yousry, T. A., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2001). Multisensory cortical signal increases and decreases during vestibular galvanic stimulation (fMRI). J *Neurophysiol*, 85(2), 886–899. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160520
- Bent, L. R., McFadyen, B. J., & Inglis, J. T. (2002). Visual-vestibular interactions in postural control during the execution of a dynamic task. *Experimental Brain Research*, 146(4), 490– 500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-002-1204-8
- Bernard, J. A., Peltier, S. J., Wiggins, J. L., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Fling, B. W., ... Seidler, R. D. (2013). Disrupted cortico-cerebellar connectivity in older adults. *NeuroImage*, 83, 103–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.042

Bernard, J. a, & Seidler, R. D. (2012). Evidence for motor cortex dedifferentiation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(9), 1890–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.021

- Bigelow, R. T., & Agrawal, Y. (2015, June 2). Vestibular involvement in cognition: Visuospatial ability, attention, executive function, and memory. *Journal of Vestibular Research*. IOS Press. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150544
- Bird, M.-L., Pittaway, J. K., Cuisick, I., Rattray, M., & Ahuja, K. D. K. (2013). Age-related changes in physical fall risk factors: results from a 3 year follow-up of community dwelling older adults in Tasmania, Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5989–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115989
- Bloem, B. R., Grimbergen, Y. A. M., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2001). Prospective assessment of falls in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(11), 950– 958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170047
- Bolmont, B., Gangloff, P., Vouriot, A., & Perrin, P. P. (2002). Mood states and anxiety influence abilities to maintain balance control in healthy human subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 329(1), 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00578-5
- Bottini, G., Karnath, H. O., Vallar, G., Sterzi, R., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Paulesu, E. (2001). Cerebral representations for egocentric space: Functional-anatomical evidence from caloric vestibular stimulation and neck vibration. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, 124(Pt 6), 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.6.1182
- Brandt, T., Bartenstein, P., Janek, A., & Dieterich, M. (1998). Reciprocal inhibitory visualvestibular interaction. Visual motion stimulation deactivates the parieto-insular vestibular cortex. *Brain*, 121(9), 1749–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1749
- Brandt, T., Schautzer, F., Hamilton, D. A., Brüning, R., Markowitsch, H. J., Kalla, R., ... Strupp, M. (2005). Vestibular loss causes hippocampal atrophy and impaired spatial memory in humans. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, *128*(Pt 11), 2732–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh617
- Brantberg, K., & Fransson, P. a. (2001). Symmetry measures of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials using objective detection criteria. *Scandinavian Audiology*, *30*(3), 189–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/010503901316914566
- Brantberg, K., & Tribukait, A. (2002). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to laterally directed skull taps. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 12(1), 35–45. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12515890
- Brantberg, K., Westin, M., Löfqvist, L., Verrecchia, L., & Tribukait, A. (2009). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in response to lateral skull taps are dependent on two different mechanisms. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of*

Clinical Neurophysiology, *120*(5), 974–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.03.008

- Brocklehurst, J. C., Robertson, D., & James-Groom, P. (1982). Clinical correlates of sway in old age-sensory modalities. *Age and Ageing*, 1–10.
- Brooks, J. X., Carriot, J., & Cullen, K. E. (2015). Learning to expect the unexpected: rapid updating in primate cerebellum during voluntary self-motion. *Nat Neurosci*, *18*(9), 1310–1317. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.4077
- BSPMVIEW | bspmview. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://www.bobspunt.com/bspmview/
- Bürki, C. N., Bridenbaugh, S. A., Reinhardt, J., Stippich, C., Kressig, R. W., & Blatow, M. (2017). Imaging gait analysis: An fMRI dual task study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.724
- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1394–402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414279
- Cai, J., Lee, S., Ba, F., Garg, S., Kim, L. J., Liu, A., ... McKeown, M. J. (2018). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation (GVS) Augments Deficient Pedunculopontine Nucleus (PPN) Connectivity in Mild Parkinson's Disease: fMRI Effects of Different Stimuli. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 101. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00101
- Callan, D. E., Falcone, B., Wada, A., & Parasuraman, R. (2016). Simultaneous tDCS-fMRI Identifies Resting State Networks Correlated with Visual Search Enhancement. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00072
- Capps, M. J., Preciado, M. C., Paparella, M. M., & Hoppe, W. E. (1973). Capps_et_al-1973-The_Laryngoscope (1).pdf. *The Laryngoscope*.
- Carp, J., Gmeindl, L., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. A. (2010). Age differences in the neural representation of working memory revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(217), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00217
- Carp, J., Park, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2011). Age-related neural dedifferentiation in the motor system. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029411
- Carp, J., Park, J., Polk, T. A., & Park, D. C. (2011). Age differences in neural distinctiveness revealed by multi-voxel pattern analysis. *NeuroImage*, 56(2), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.267
- Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Passingham, R. E., Warner, T., Playford, E. D., Marsden, C. D., & Brooks, D. J. (1995). Overactive prefrontal and underactive motor cortical areas in idiopathic dystonia. *Annals of Neurology*, *37*(3), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410370313
- Center for Didease Control & Prevention. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html
- Chen, G., Taylor, P. A., & Cox, R. W. (2016). Is the Statistic Value All We Should Care about in Neuroimaging? *bioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/064212
- Chihara, Y., Iwasaki, S., Ushio, M., Fujimoto, C., Kashio, A., Kondo, K., ... Murofushi, T. (2009). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (oVEMPs) require extraocular muscles but not facial or cochlear nerve activity. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120(3), 581–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.12.030

Chun-Ju Chang, C.-J., Yu-Shin Chang, Y.-S., & Sai-Wei Yang, S.-W. (2013). Using single leg

standing time to predict the fall risk in elderly. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC) (Vol. 2013, pp. 7456–7458). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2013.6611282

- Colebatch, J. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Skuse, N. F. (1994). Myogenic potentials generated by a click-evoked vestibulocollic reflex. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 190–197.
- Cornell, E. D., Burgess, A. M., MacDougall, H. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2009). Vertical and horizontal eye movement responses to unilateral and bilateral bone conducted vibration to the mastoid. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, *19*(1,2), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-2009-0338
- Costello, M. C., & Bloesch, E. K. (2017). Are Older Adults Less Embodied? A Review of Age Effects through the Lens of Embodied Cognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 267. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00267
- Cousins, S., Cutfield, N. J., Kaski, D., Palla, A., Seemungal, B. M., Golding, J. F., ... Bronstein, A. M. (2014). Visual dependency and dizziness after vestibular neuritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(9), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105426
- Cullen, K. E. (2012). The vestibular system: Multimodal integration and encoding of self-motion for motor control. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *35*(3), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.12.001
- Cummiford, C. M., Nascimento, T. D., Foerster, B. R., Clauw, D. J., Zubieta, J.-K., Harris, R. E., & DaSilva, A. F. (2016). Changes in resting state functional connectivity after repetitive transcranial direct current stimulation applied to motor cortex in fibromyalgia patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, *18*(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-016-0934-0
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006a). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Kim, J., McPhedran, S. K., & Camp, A. J. (2006b). Bone conducted vibration selectively activates irregular primary otolithic vestibular neurons in the guinea pig. *Experimental Brain Research*, 175(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0544-1
- Curthoys, I. S., Manzari, L., Smulders, Y. E., & Burgess, A. M. (2009). A review of the scientific basis and practical application of a new test of utricular function--ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials to bone-conducted vibration. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 29(4), 179–86. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2816364&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., Burgess, A. M., Cornell, E. D., Mezey, L. E., Macdougall, H. G., ... Mcgarvie, L. A. (2011). The basis for using bone-conducted vibration or air-conducted sound to test otolithic function. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1233(1), 231– 241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06147.x
- Curthoys, I. S., Vulovic, V., & Manzari, L. (2012). Ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (oVEMP) to test utricular function: neural and oculomotor evidence. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica : Organo Ufficiale Della Società Italiana Di Otorinolaringologia E Chirurgia Cervico-Facciale*, 32(1), 41–5. Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC3324959/?report=abstract
- Cyran, C. A. M., Boegle, R., Stephan, T., Dieterich, M., & Glasauer, S. (2016). Age-related

decline in functional connectivity of the vestibular cortical network. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1443–1463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0983-6

- Day, B. L., Ramsay, E., Welgampola, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, R. C. (2011). The human semicircular canal model of galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3–4), 561–568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2565-7
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002a). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Deutschländer, A., Bense, S., Stephan, T., Schwaiger, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2002b). Sensory system interactions during simultaneous vestibular and visual stimulation in PET. *Human Brain Mapping*, 16(2), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10030
- Diedrichsen, J. (2006). A spatially unbiased atlas template of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, 33(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.056
- Diedrichsen, J., Balsters, J. H., Flavell, J., Cussans, E., & Ramnani, N. (2009). A probabilistic MR atlas of the human cerebellum. *NeuroImage*, *46*(1), 39–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.045
- Diedrichsen, J., Maderwald, S., Küper, M., Thürling, M., Rabe, K., Gizewski, E. R., ... Timmann, D. (2011). Imaging the deep cerebellar nuclei: a probabilistic atlas and normalization procedure. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1786–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.035
- Diedrichsen, J., & Zotow, E. (2015). Surface-Based Display of Volume-Averaged Cerebellar Imaging Data. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0133402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133402
- Diener, H.-C., & Dichgans, J. (1988). Vestibulospinal Control of Posture and Locomotion. Progress in Brain Research (Vol. 76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(08)64512-4
- Dieterich, M. (2003). Dominance for Vestibular Cortical Function in the Non-dominant Hemisphere. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.9.994
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. *Brain*, *131*(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Eickhoff, S. B., Jbabdi, S., Caspers, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., & Behrens, T. E. (2010). Anatomical and functional connectivity of cytoarchitectonic areas within the human parietal operculum. *J Neurosci*, 30(18), 6409–6421. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5664-09.2010
- Eickhoff, S. B., Weiss, P. H., Amunts, K., Fink, G. R., & Zilles, K. (2006). Identifying human parieto-insular vestibular cortex using fMRI and cytoarchitectonic mapping. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27(7), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20205
- Eldaief, M. C., Halko, M. A., Buckner, R. L., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2011). Transcranial magnetic stimulation modulates the brain's intrinsic activity in a frequency-dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(52), 21229–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113103109
- Emri, M., Kisely, M., Lengyel, Z., Balkay, L., Márián, T., Mikó, L., ... Tóth, A. (2003). Cortical projection of peripheral vestibular signaling. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(5), 2639– 2646. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00599.2002
- Enticott, J. C., Tari, S., Koh, S. M., Dowell, R. C., & Leary, S. J. O. (2006). Cochlear Implant and Vestibular Function, (3), 824–830.
- Ertl, M., Kirsch, V., Gerb, J., Boegle, R., Krafczyk, S., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Appraisal of the
signal-to-noise-ratio of uni- and bipolar recordings of ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *Journal of Vestibular Research : Equilibrium & Orientation*, 25(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-150545

- Eyler, L. T., Sherzai, A., Kaup, A. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2011). A review of functional brain imaging correlates of successful cognitive aging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.032
- Fasold, O., von Brevern, M., Kuhberg, M., Ploner, C. J., Villringer, A., Lempert, T., & Wenzel, R. (2002). Human Vestibular Cortex as Identified with Caloric Stimulation in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 17(3), 1384–1393. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1241
- Ferber-Viart, C., Dubreuil, C., & Duclaux, R. (1999). Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in humans: a review. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*.
- Ferrè, E. R., Day, B. L., Bottini, G., & Haggard, P. (2013). How the vestibular system interacts with somatosensory perception: A sham-controlled study with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 550, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2013.06.046
- Fife, T. D., Tusa, R. J., Furman, J. M., Zee, D. S., Frohman, E., Baloh, R. W., ... Eviatar, L. (2000). Assessment: Vestibular testing techniques in adults and children. *Neurology*, 55, 1431–1441.
- Franchignoni, F., Tesio, L., Martino, M. T., & Ricupero, C. (1998). Reliability of four simple, quantitative tests of balance and mobility in healthy elderly females. *Aging (Milan, Italy)*, 10(1), 26–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9589748
- Frank, S. M., & Greenlee, M. W. (2014). An MRI-compatible caloric stimulation device for the investigation of human vestibular cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 235, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2014.07.008
- FreeSurferMethodsCitation Free Surfer Wiki. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/fswiki/FreeSurferMethodsCitation
- Friston, K. J., Ashburner, J., Frith, C. D., Poline, J.-B., Heather, J. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. J. (1995). Spatial registration and normalization of images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 3(3), 165– 189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460030303
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Price, C. J., Büchel, C., & Worsley, K. J. (1999). Multisubject fMRI studies and conjunction analyses. *NeuroImage*, 10(4), 385–96. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1999.0484
- Furman, J. M., & Redfern, M. S. (2001). Effect of aging on the otolith-ocular reflex. *Journal of Vestibular Research*.
- Gentine, A., Eichhorn, J.-L., Kopp, C., & Conraux, C. (1990). Modelling the action of caloric stimulation of the vestibule: *I. The Hydrostatic Model. Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *110*(5–6), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489009107451
- Glover, G. H., Li, T. Q., & Ress, D. (2000). Image-based method for retrospective correction of physiological motion effects in fMRI: RETROICOR. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(1), 162–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10893535
- Goble, D. J., Coxon, J. P., Van Impe, a., Geurts, M., Doumas, M., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2011). Brain Activity during Ankle Proprioceptive Stimulation Predicts Balance Performance in Young and Older Adults. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(45), 16344–16352. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4159-11.2011
- Goldberg, J. M., Smith, C. E., & Fernandez, C. (1984). Relation between discharge regularity and responses to externally applied galvanic currents in vestibular nerve afferents of the

squirrel monkey. Journal of Neurophysiology, 51(6).

- Goldberg, J. M., Wilson, V. J., Cullen, K. E., Angelaki, D. E., Broussard, D. M., Buttner-Ennever, J., ... Minor, L. B. (2012). *The Vestibular System: A Sixth Sense*. Oxford University Press.
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Wang, L. E., Dafotakis, M., Eickhoff, S. B., & Fink, G. R. (2010). Modulating cortical connectivity in stroke patients by rTMS assessed with fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.029
- Guidetti, G. (2013). The role of cognitive processes in vestibular disorders. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, *11*(S1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.3109/21695717.2013.765085
- Guldin, W. O., & Grüsser, O. J. (1998). Is there a vestibular cortex? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 21(6), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01211-3
- Gurvich, C., Maller, J. J., Lithgow, B., Haghgooie, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2013). Vestibular insights into cognition and psychiatry. *Brain Research*, *1537*, 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.08.058
- Haxby, J. V, Gobbini, M. I., Furey, M. L., Ishai, A., Schouten, J. L., & Pietrini, P. (2001). Distributed and Overlapping Representations of Faces and Objects in Ventral Temporal Cortex. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7549/e383e527ebcebb131edd57fcb08874d5d77a.pdf

- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., & Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron*, 68(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Hesselmann, V., Zaro Weber, O., Wedekind, C., Krings, T., Schulte, O., Kugel, H., ... Lackner, K. J. (2001). Age related signal decrease in functional magnetic resonance imaging during motor stimulation in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 308(3), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01920-6
- Heuninckx, S., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2008). Systems Neuroplasticity in the Aging Brain: Recruiting Additional Neural Resources for Successful Motor Performance in Elderly Persons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3300-07.2008
- Hitier, M., Besnard, S., & Smith, P. F. (2014). Vestibular pathways involved in cognition. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, *8*, 59. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00059
- Holmeslet, B., Westin, M., & Brantberg, K. (2011). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: skull taps can cause a stimulus direction dependent double-peak. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(2), 391–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.06.020
- Horacek, J., Brunovsky, M., Novak, T., Skrdlantova, L., Klirova, M., Bubenikova-Valesova, V.,
 … Höschl, C. (2007). Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology*, 55(3–4), 132–42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000106055
- Huang, S.-L., Hsieh, C.-L., Wu, R.-M., Tai, C.-H., Lin, C.-H., & Lu, W.-S. (2011). Minimal Detectable Change of the Timed "Up & amp; Go" Test and the Dynamic Gait Index in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090126
- Huppert, T., Schmidt, B., Beluk, N., Furman, J., & Sparto, P. (2013). Measurement of brain activation during an upright stepping reaction task using functional near-infrared

spectroscopy. Human Brain Mapping, 34(11), 2817–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22106

- Impe, A. Van, Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Doumas, M., & Swinnen, S. P. (2012). White matter fractional anisotropy predicts balance performance in older adults. NBA, 33(9), 1900–1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.013
- Indovina, I. (2005). Representation of Visual Gravitational Motion in the Human Vestibular Cortex. *Science*, *308*(5720), 416–419. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107961
- Inukai, Y., Saito, K., Sasaki, R., Kotan, S., Nakagawa, M., & Onishi, H. (2016). Influence of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to the Cerebellum on Standing Posture Control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 325. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00325
- Israel, I., Bronstein, A. M., Kanayama, R., Faldon, M., & Gresty, M. A. (1996). Visual and vestibular factors influencing vestibular ?navigation? *Experimental Brain Research*, 112(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00227947
- Iwasaki, S., McGarvie, L. A., Halmagyi, G. M., Burgess, A. M., Kim, J., Colebatch, J. G., & Curthoys, I. S. (2007). Head taps evoke a crossed vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neurology*, 68(15), 1227–9. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000259064.80564.21
- Iwasaki, S., Smulders, Y. E., Burgess, A. M., McGarvie, L. A., Macdougall, H. G., Halmagyi, G. M., & Curthoys, I. S. (2008). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to bone conducted vibration of the midline forehead at Fz in healthy subjects. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 119(9), 2135–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.05.028
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008a). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Janzen, J., Schlindwein, P., Bense, S., Bauermann, T., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008b). Neural correlates of hemispheric dominance and ipsilaterality within the vestibular system. *NeuroImage*, 42(4), 1508–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.026
- Jayakaran, P., Johnson, G. M., & Sullivan, S. J. (2013). Concurrent validity of the Sensory Organization Test measures in unilateral transtibial amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 37(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309364612448391
- Jeka, J. J., Allison, L. K., & Kiemel, T. (2010). The Dynamics of Visual Reweighting in Healthy and Fall-Prone Older Adults. *Journal of Motor Behavior*.
- Jones, P. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. *Brain*.
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Motes, M. A., Rypma, B., & Biswal, B. B. (2010). Neural and vascular variability and the fMRI-BOLD response in normal aging. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 28(4), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2009.12.007
- Karim, H., Fuhrman, S. I., Sparto, P., Furman, J., & Huppert, T. (2013). Functional brain imaging of multi-sensory vestibular processing during computerized dynamic posturography using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 74, 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.010
- Karim, H., Schmidt, B., Dart, D., Beluk, N., & Huppert, T. (2012). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) of brain function during active balancing using a video game system. *Gait & Posture*, 35(3), 367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.10.007
- Karim, H. T., Fuhrman, S. I., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2013). Neuroimaging to detect

cortical projection of vestibular response to caloric stimulation in young and older adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). *NeuroImage*, *76*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.061

- Karim, H. T., Sparto, P. J., Aizenstein, H. J., Furman, J. M., Huppert, T. J., Erickson, K. I., & Loughlin, P. J. (2014). Functional MR imaging of a simulated balance task. *Brain Research*, 1555, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.033
- Keeser, D., Meindl, T., Bor, J., Palm, U., Pogarell, O., Mulert, C., ... Padberg, F. (2011). Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Changes Connectivity of Resting-State Networks during fMRI. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(43), 15284–15293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2015). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kirsch, V., Keeser, D., Hergenroeder, T., Erat, O., Ertl-Wagner, B., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2016). Structural and functional connectivity mapping of the vestibular circuitry from human brainstem to cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(3), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0971-x
- Kong, J., Gollub, R. L., Webb, J. M., Kong, J. T., Vangel, M. G., & Kwong, K. (2007). Testretest study of fMRI signal change evoked by electroacupuncture stimulation. *NeuroImage*, 34(3), 1171–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.019
- Kunze, T., Hunold, A., Haueisen, J., Jirsa, V., & Spiegler, A. (2016). Transcranial direct current stimulation changes resting state functional connectivity: A large-scale brain network modeling study. *NeuroImage*, 140, 174–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.015
- Kyriakareli, A., Cousins, S., Pettorossi, V. E., & Bronstein, A. M. (2013). Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on vestibular-ocular and vestibulo-perceptual thresholds. *Neuroreport*, 24(14), 808–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283646e65
- L. Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, 38(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001
- Langan, J., Peltier, S. J., Bo, J., Fling, B. W., Welsh, R. C., & Seidler, R. D. (2010). Functional implications of age differences in motor system connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00017
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002a). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Laurienti, P. J., Burdette, J. H., Wallace, M. T., Yen, Y.-F., Field, A. S., & Stein, B. E. (2002b). Deactivation of Sensory-Specific Cortex by Cross-Modal Stimuli. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 14(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902317361930
- Lee, B.-C., Kim, J., Chen, S., & Sienko, K. H. (2012). Cell phone based balance trainer. *Journal* of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 9, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-10
- Li, H. J., Hou, X. H., Liu, H. H., Yue, C. L., Lu, G. M., & Zuo, X. N. (2015). Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 57(16), 156–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013
- Lin, C.-C., Barker, J. W., Sparto, P. J., Furman, J. M., & Huppert, T. J. (2017). Functional near-

infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(4), 1247–1256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8

- Lobel, E., Bihan, D. Le, Berthoz, A., & Cnrs, C. D. F. (1996). Searching for the vestibular cortex with functional M R I, (2).
- Lobel, E., Kleine, J. F., Bihan, D. Le, Leroy-Willig, A., & Berthoz, A. (1998). Functional MRI of Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation. *J Neurophysiol*, 80(5), 2699–2709. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/80/5/2699.short
- Lopez, C., & Blanke, O. (2011). The thalamocortical vestibular system in animals and humans. Brain Research Reviews, 67(1–2), 119–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.12.002
- Lopez, C., Blanke, O., & Mast, F. W. (2012). The human vestibular cortex revealed by coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Neuroscience*, 212, 159– 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.028
- Lopez, C., Schreyer, H. M., Preuss, N., & Mast, F. W. (2012). Vestibular stimulation modifies the body schema. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1830–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.008
- Lopez, I., Honrubia, V., & Baloh, R. W. (1997). Aging and the Human Vestibular Nucleus. Journal of Vestibular Research.
- Lord, S. R., & Ward, J. a. (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing*, 23(6), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/23.6.452
- Macaluso, E. (2006). Multisensory processing in sensory-specific cortical areas. The Neuroscientist : A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 12(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406287908
- Maki, B. E., Holliday, P. J., & Topper, A. K. (1994). A prospective study of postural balance and risk of falling in an ambulatory and independent elderly population. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(2), M72-84. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126355
- Mancini, M., & Horak, F. B. (2010). The relevance of clinical balance assessment tools to differentiate balance deficits. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 46(2), 239–48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20485226
- Marcelli, V., Esposito, F., Aragri, A., Furia, T., Riccardi, P., Tosetti, M., ... Di Salle, F. (2009). Spatio-temporal pattern of vestibular information processing after brief caloric stimulation. *European Journal of Radiology*, 70(2), 312–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.01.042
- Mast, F. W., Preuss, N., Hartmann, M., & Grabherr, L. (2014). Spatial cognition, body representation and affective processes: the role of vestibular information beyond ocular reflexes and control of posture. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 8(July), 44. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00044
- Matheson, A. J., Darlington, C. L., & Smith, P. F. (1999). Dizziness in the Elderly and Agerelated Degeneration of the Vestibular System. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*.
- Matsuda, P. N., Taylor, C. S., & Shumway-Cook, A. (2014). Evidence for the Validity of the Modified Dynamic Gait Index Across Diagnostic Groups. *Physical Therapy*, 94(7), 996– 1004. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130294
- Melzer, I., Benjuya, N., & Kaplanski, J. (2004). Postural stability in the elderly: a comparison between fallers and non-fallers. *Age and Ageing*, *33*(6), 602–607.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afh218

- Miyamoto, T., Fukushima, K., Takada, T., de Waele, C., & Vidal, P.-P. (2007). Saccular stimulation of the human cortex: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, *423*(1), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.036
- Moreland, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Goldsmith, C. H., & Clase, C. M. (2004). Muscle Weakness and Falls in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52310.x
- Mowinckel, A. M., Espeseth, T., & Westlye, L. T. (2012). Network-specific effects of age and in-scanner subject motion: A resting-state fMRI study of 238 healthy adults. *NeuroImage*, 63(3), 1364–1373. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2012.08.004
- Mulavara, A. P., Kofman, I. S., De Dios, Y. E., Miller, C., Peters, B. T., Goel, R., ... Bloomberg, J. J. (2015). Using low levels of stochastic vestibular stimulation to improve locomotor stability. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2015.00117
- Murofushi, T., Ochiai, A., Ozeki, H., & Iwasaki, S. (2004). Laterality of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. *International Journal of Audiology*, *43*(2), 66–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15035558
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 695– 699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nelson-Wong, E., Appell, R., McKay, M., Nawaz, H., Roth, J., Sigler, R., ... Walker, M. (2012). Increased fall risk is associated with elevated co-contraction about the ankle during static balance challenges in older adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(4), 1379– 1389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2094-x
- Nguyen, K. D., Welgampola, M. S., & Carey, J. P. (2010). Test-retest reliability and age-related characteristics of the ocular and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential tests. *Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 31*(5), 793– 802. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e3181e3d60e
- Nichols, T. E., & Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Human Brain Mapping*, *15*(1), 1–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11747097
- NITRC: Artifact Detection Tools (ART): Tool/Resource Info. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2018, from https://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/
- Noohi, F., Kinnaird, C., DeDios, Y., Kofman, I. S., Wood, S., Bloomberg, J., ... Seidler, R. (2017). Functional brain activation in response to a clinical vestibular test correlates with balance. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00011
- Oechslin, M. S., Meyer, M., & Jäncke, L. (2010). Absolute pitch-functional evidence of speechrelevant auditory acuity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp113
- Pal, S., ... S. R.-J. of V., & 2009, undefined. (n.d.). Stochastic galvanic vestibular stimulation produces a small reduction in sway in Parkinson's disease. *Content.iospress.com*. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibular-research/ves00360
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces

neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 13091–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405148101

- Park, D. C., & Reuter-Lorenz, P. (2009). The adaptive brain: aging and neurocognitive scaffolding. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 173–96. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093656
- Park, J., Carp, J., Hebrank, A., Park, D. C., & Polk, T. A. (2010). Neural specificity predicts fluid processing ability in older adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(27), 9253–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0853-10.2010
- Pasma, J. H., Engelhart, D., Maier, A. B., Schouten, A. C., van der Kooij, H., & Meskers, C. G. M. (2015). Changes in sensory reweighting of proprioceptive information during standing balance with age and disease. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 3220–33. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00414.2015
- Paus, T., Castro-Alamancos, M. A., & Petrides, M. (2001). Cortico-cortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 1405–1411. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01757.x
- Peelle, J. E., Troiani, V., Wingfield, A., & Grossman, M. (2010). Neural processing during older adults' comprehension of spoken sentences: age differences in resource allocation and connectivity. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 20(4), 773–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp142
- Peterka, R. J. (2012). Use of galvanic vestibular feedback for a balance prosthesis. Conference Proceedings : ... Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual Conference, 2012, 6137–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2012.6347394
- Pleger, B., Blankenburg, F., Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Wiech, K., Stephan, K. E., ... Dolan, R. J. (2006). Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-induced changes in sensorimotor coupling parallel improvements of somatosensation in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 1945–52. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4097-05.2006
- Podsiadlo, D., & Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39(2), 142–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1991946
- Polanía, R., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2012). Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33(10), 2499–2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21380
- Proctor, L. R. (1988). Clinical experience with a short-acting, adjustable caloric stimulation. Vestibular Disorders Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago.
- Pujol, J., Roset-Llobet, J., Rosinés-Cubells, D., Deus, J., Narberhaus, B., Valls-Solé, J., ... Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Brain Cortical Activation during Guitar-Induced Hand Dystonia Studied by Functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 12(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1006/NIMG.2000.0615
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Cappell, K. A. (2008). Neurocognitive Aging and the Compensation Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(3), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00570.x

- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Park, D. C. (2010). Human Neuroscience and the Aging Mind: A New Look at Old Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq035
- Roberta Ronchi, Gilles Rode, Francois Cottond, Alessandro Farne, Y. R. and S. J.-C. (2012). Remission of anosognosia for right hemiplegia and neglect after caloric vestibular stimulation, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-120236
- Roski, C., Caspers, S., Langner, R., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Zilles, K., ... Eickhoff, S. B. (2013). Adult age-dependent differences in resting-state connectivity within and between visualattention and sensorimotor networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 5, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2013.00067
- Ruffieux, J., Mouthon, A., Keller, M., Mouthon, M., Annoni, J.-M., & Taube, W. (2018).
 Balance Training Reduces Brain Activity during Motor Simulation of a Challenging
 Balance Task in Older Adults: An fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00010
- Ruhe, A., Fejer, R., & Walker, B. (2010). The test-retest reliability of centre of pressure measures in bipedal static task conditions - A systematic review of the literature. *Gait and Posture*, 32(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.012
- Schlindwein, P., Mueller, M., Bauermann, T., Brandt, T., Stoeter, P., & Dieterich, M. (2008). Cortical representation of saccular vestibular stimulation: VEMPs in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 39(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.08.016
- Scinicariello, A. P., Eaton, K., Inglis, J. T., & Collins, J. J. (2001). Enhancing human balance control with galvanic vestibular stimulation. *Biological Cybernetics*, 84(6), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00007991
- Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schäfer, A., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2013). A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 183. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183
- Seidler-Dobrin, R. D., He, J., & Stelmach, G. E. (1998). Coactivation to reduce variability in the elderly. *Motor Control*, 2(4), 314–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9758884
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. a, Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., ... Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(5), 721–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.005
- Seidler, R., Erdeniz, B., Koppelmans, V., Hirsiger, S., Mérillat, S., & Jäncke, L. (2015). Associations between age, motor function, and resting state sensorimotor network connectivity in healthy older adults. *NeuroImage*, 108, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.12.023
- Shimazu, H., & Precht, W. (1966). Inhibition of central vestibular neurons from the contralateral labyrinth and its mediating pathway. *J Neurophysiol*, 29(3), 467–492. Retrieved from http://jn.physiology.org/content/29/3/467
- Shumway-Cook, A., Brauer, S., & Woollacott, M. (2000). Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & Comparison of Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80(9), 896–903. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10960937
- Shumway-Cook, A., Taylor, C. S., Matsuda, P. N., Studer, M. T., & Whetten, B. K. (2013). Expanding the Scoring System for the Dynamic Gait Index. *Physical Therapy*, 93(11), 1493–1506. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130035

- Sienko, K. H., Balkwill, M. D., Oddsson, L. I. E., & Wall, C. (2008). Journal of vestibular research: Equilibrium and orientation. Journal of Vestibular Research (Vol. 18). Elsevier Science. Retrieved from https://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-vestibularresearch/ves00335
- Smith, P. F., & Darlington, C. L. (2013). Personality changes in patients with vestibular dysfunction. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00678
- Smith, P. F., Darlington, C. L., & Zheng, Y. (2010). Move it or lose it--is stimulation of the vestibular system necessary for normal spatial memory? *Hippocampus*, 20(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20588
- Smith, P. F., & Zheng, Y. (2013). From ear to uncertainty: vestibular contributions to cognitive function. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7(November), 84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00084
- Stephan, T., Deutschländer, A., Nolte, A., Schneider, E., Wiesmann, M., Brandt, T., & Dieterich, M. (2005). Functional MRI of galvanic vestibular stimulation with alternating currents at different frequencies. *NeuroImage*, 26(3), 721–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.049
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1560–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Sullivan, E. V, Rose, J., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2009). Postural sway reduction in aging men and women: relation to brain structure, cognitive status, and stabilizing factors. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 30(5), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.021
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Suzuki, M., Kitano, H., Ito, R., Kitanishi, T., Yazawa, Y., Ogawa, T., ... Kitajima, K. (2001). Cortical and subcortical vestibular response to caloric stimulation detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 12(3), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00080-5
- Todd, N. P. M. (2010). The origin of the ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential (OVEMP). Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 121(6), 978–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2010.01.026
- Todd, N. P. M., Rosengren, S. M., Aw, S. T., & Colebatch, J. G. (2007). Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (OVEMPs) produced by air- and bone-conducted sound. *Clinical Neurophysiology : Official Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(2), 381–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.025
- Tsakiris, M., Costantini, M., & Haggard, P. (2008). The role of the right temporo-parietal junction in maintaining a coherent sense of one's body. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 3014–3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.06.004
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., ... Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–89. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0978

- Uludağ, K., Dubowitz, D. J., Yoder, E. J., Restom, K., Liu, T. T., & Buxton, R. B. (2004). Coupling of cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption during physiological activation and deactivation measured with fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 23(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2004.05.013
- Uludağ, K., Müller-Bierl, B., & Uğurbil, K. (2009). An integrative model for neuronal activityinduced signal changes for gradient and spin echo functional imaging. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.051
- Van Beers, R., J., A. C. S., & Gon., J. J. D. van der. (1999). Integration of Proprioceptive and Visual Position-Information: An Experimentally Supported Model, 1355–1364.
- Van Essen, D. C., Drury, H. A., Dickson, J., Harwell, J., Hanlon, D., & Anderson, C. H. (2001). An integrated software suite for surface-based analyses of cerebral cortex. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 8(5), 443–59. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=131042&tool=pmcentrez&rend ertype=abstract
- Vercammen, A., Knegtering, H., Bruggeman, R., Westenbroek, H. M., Jenner, J. A., Slooff, C. J., ... Aleman, A. (2009). Effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on treatment resistant auditory-verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Research*, 114(1–3), 172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.013
- Vidal PP, Berthoz A, M. M. (1982). Difference between eye closure and visual stabilization in the control of posture in man. *Aviat Space Environ Med*.
- Wackym, P. A., Ratigan, J. A., Birck, J. D., Johnson, S. H., Doornink, J., Bottlang, M., ... Black, F. O. (2012). Rapid cVEMP and oVEMP responses elicited by a novel head striker and recording device. Otology & Neurotology : Official Publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 33(8), 1392–400. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.0b013e318268d234
- Wang, Z., Chen, M., Gong, X., Huang, W., Xu, L., & Zhou, C. (2008). Why cold water delays the onset of vestibular vertigo-An functional MRI study. *European Journal of Radiology*, 67(3), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.08.021
- Welgampola, M. S., & Colebatch, J. G. (2005). Characteristics and clinical applications of vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials. *Neurology*, 64(10), 1682–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000161876.20552.AA
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., & Nieto-Castanon, A. (2014). CONN fMRI functional connectivity toolbox BATCH processing manual, 81. Retrieved from http://www.nitrc.org/projects/conn
- Whitney, S. L., Roche, J. L., Marchetti, G. F., Lin, C.-C., Steed, D. P., Furman, G. R., ... Redfern, M. S. (2011). A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: A measure of balance. *Gait & Posture*, 33(4), 594–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.01.015
- Wiesmeier, I. K., Dalin, D., Wehrle, A., Granacher, U., Muehlbauer, T., Dietterle, J., ... Maurer, C. (2017). Balance Training Enhances Vestibular Function and Reduces Overactive Proprioceptive Feedback in Elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9, 273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00273
- Wilke, M., & Lidzba, K. (2007). LI-tool: A new toolbox to assess lateralization in functional MR-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2007.01.026
- Wilke, M., & Schmithorst, V. J. (2006). A combined bootstrap/histogram analysis approach for

computing a lateralization index from neuroimaging data. *NeuroImage*, *33*(2), 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2006.07.010

- Wolfson, L., Judge, J., Whipple, R., & King, M. (1995). Strength is a major factor in balance, gait, and the occurrence of falls. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences, 50 Spec No, 64–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7493221
- Wuehr, M., Nusser, E., Krafczyk, S., Straube, A., Brandt, T., Jahn, K., & Schniepp, R. (2016).
 Noise-Enhanced Vestibular Input Improves Dynamic Walking Stability in Healthy Subjects.
 Brain Stimulation, 9(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.08.017
- Yamamoto, Y., Struzik, Z. R., Soma, R., Ohashi, K., & Kwak, S. (2005). Noisy vestibular stimulation improves autonomic and motor responsiveness in central neurodegenerative disorders. *Annals of Neurology*, 58(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20574
- Yang, Z., Chang, C., Xu, T., Jiang, L., Handwerker, D. A., Castellanos, F. X., ... Zuo, X.-N. (2014). Connectivity trajectory across lifespan differentiates the precuneus from the default network. *NeuroImage*, 89, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2013.10.039
- Yuan, J., Blumen, H. M., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). Functional connectivity associated with gait velocity during walking and walking-while-talking in aging: A resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(4), 1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22717
- Zalewski, C. K. (2015). Aging of the Human Vestibular System Balance Function and The Role of The Vestibular System Epidemiology of Dizziness.
- zu Eulenburg, P., Caspers, S., Roski, C., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2012). Meta-analytical definition and functional connectivity of the human vestibular cortex. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.032